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The following are some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from those
presented in our forward- looking statements. You should consider carefully the risks described below and the other information
in this Annual Report on Form 10- K, including our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face but do represent those risks and uncertainties that we believe are
material to us. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also harm
our business. Risks Related to Our Business and Properties Single- tenant leases involve significant risks of tenant default and
tenant vacancies, which could materially and adversely affect us. Our portfolio consists primarily of single- tenant net leased
properties and we are dependent on our tenants for substantially all of our revenue. As a result, our success depends on the
financial stability of our tenants. The ability of our tenants to meet their obligations to us, including their obligations to pay rent,
maintain certain insurance coverage, pay real estate taxes, and maintain the properties in a manner so as not to jeopardize their
operating licenses or regulatory status depends on the performance of their business and industry, as well as general market and
economic conditions, which are outside of our control. At any given time, any tenant may experience a downturn in its business
that may weaken its operating results or the overall financial condition of individual properties or its business as whole. As a
result, a tenant may fail to make rental payments when due, decline to extend a lease upon its expiration, become insolvent, or
declare bankruptcy. An actual or anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy, or speculation in the press or investment
community about an actual or anticipated tenant default, bankruptcy, or vacancy may also negatively affect our share price or
result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume of shares of our Cemmten-common Steek-stock . The financial
failure of, or default in payment by, a single tenant under its lease is likely to cause a significant or complete reduction in our
rental revenue from that property and a reduction in the value of the property. We may also experience difficulty or a significant
delay in re- leasing or selling such property. The occurrence of one or more tenant defaults could materially and adversely affect
us. This risk is magnified in situations where we lease multiple properties to a single tenant under a master lease. As of
December 31, 28222023 , master leases contributed to approximately 6769 . 70 % of our ABR associated with multi- site
tenants (448-406 of 675 eur489-multi- site tenant properties), and approximately 48-41 . 85 % of our overall ABR ( 489-406 of
our 884-796 properties). A tenant failure or default under a master lease could reduce or eliminate rental revenue from multiple
properties and reduce the value of such properties. Although the master lease structure may be beneficial to us because it
restricts the ability of tenants to remove individual underperforming assets, there is no guarantee that a tenant will not default in
its obligations to us or decline to renew its master lease upon expiration. The default of a tenant that leases multiple properties
from us or its decision not to renew its master lease upon expiration could materially and adversely affect us. We have limited
opportunities to increase rents under our long- term leases with tenants, which could impede our growth and materially and
adversely affect us. We typically lease our properties pursuant to long- term net leases with initial terms of 10 years or more that
often have renewal options. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , the ABR weighted average remaining term of our leases was
approximately 10. 9-5 years, excluding renewal options. Substantially all of our leases provide for periodic rent escalations, but
these built- in increases may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. Most of our leases contain rent
escalators that increase rent at a fixed amount on fixed dates, which may be less than prevailing market rates over the lease
duration. For those leases that contain rent escalators based on CPI changes, our rent increases during periods of low inflation or
deflation may be less than what we otherwise could achieve in the market. As a result, the long- term nature of our leases could
impede our growth and materially and adversely affect us. In addition, properties leased pursuant to long- term leases at below
market rental rates or with below market rent escalations may be less attractive to potential buyers, which could affect our ability
to sell such properties at an acceptable price or at all. We-Our growth depends upon future acquisitions of properties, and
we may be unable to 1dent1fy or complete suitable acqulsltlons of propertles, whlch may 1mpede our growth and our
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depends 51gn1ﬁcantly on acqulrlng new properties. From 2015 to %92—2—2023 we have-acquired an average of $ 506-580 . 0

million of new properties per year, with a low of $ 100. 0 million and a high of § 1. 0 billion. Our ability to continue to grow
requires us to identify and complete acquisitions that meet our investment criteria and depends on general market and economic
conditions. Changes in the volume of real estate transactions, the availability of acquisition ﬁnancing, capitalization rates,
interest rates, competition, or other factors may negatively impact our acquisition opportunities in 28623-2024 and beyond. If we
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property at the time we desire on favorable terms or at all, which could limit our ability to access capital through dispositions
and could adversely affect our cash flow, financial condition , and results of operations. Real estate investments generally cannot
be sold quickly. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on factors beyond our control, including
competition from other sellers, increases in market capitalization rates and the availability of attractive financing for potential
buyers of our properties, and we cannot predict the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist at
any particular time in the future. As a result of the uncertainty of market conditions, we cannot provide any assurance that we
will be able to sell properties at a profit, or at all. In addition, and subject to certain safe harbor provisions, the Code generally
imposes a 100 % tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the sale or disposition of property other than a foreclosure property, if
the property is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, rather than for investment, which may
cause us to forego or defer sales of properties that otherwise would be attractive from a pre- tax perspective or require us to
conduct such sales through our taxable REIT subsidiary (“ TRS ™), which would be subject to U. S. federal and state income
taxation. Accordingly, our ability to access capital through dispositions of properties may be limited, which could limit our
ability to fund future capital needs. We may not be able to obtain acquisition financing or obtain other capital from third- party
sources on favorable terms or at all, which could materially and adversely affect our growth prospects and our business. In order
to qualify as a REIT, we are required under the Code, among other things, to distribute annually at least 90 % of our REIT
taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. In addition, we
will be subject to income tax at the corporate rate to the extent that we distribute less than 100 % of our REIT taxable income,
determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gain. Because of these distribution
requirements, we may not be able to fund future capital needs, including any necessary acquisition financing, or repay debt
obligations from operating cash flow. Consequently, we expect to rely, in part, on third- party sources to fund our capital needs.
We may not be able to obtain the financing on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third- party sources of capital from the
equity and / or debt markets depends, in part, on: * general market conditions;  the market’ s perception of our growth potential;
« our current debt levels; ¢ our current and expected future earnings; * the performance of our portfolio; * our cash flow and cash
distributions; * external valuations by credit ratings agencies and analysts; and ¢ the market price per share of our Commen
common Steekstock . If we cannot obtain capital from third- party sources, we may not be able to acquire properties when
strategic opportunities exist, meet the capital and operating needs of our existing properties, or satisfy our debt service
obligations, which could materially and adversely affect us. An increase in market interest rates could increase our interest costs
on existing and future debt and could adversely affect our stock price, and a decrease in market interest rates could lead to
additional competition for the acquisition of real estate, which could adversely affect our results of operations. If interest rates
continue to increase, so could our interest costs for any new debt and our existing variable- rate debt obligations. Absent a
simultaneous increase in acquisition yields, this increased cost could make the financing of any acquisition more expensive and
lower our current and future period earnings. Rising interest rates could limit our ability to refinance existing debt when it
matures or cause us to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing. See “ Risks Related to Debt Financing ™ for additional
information. In addition, an increase in interest rates could decrease the access current and prospective tenants have to credit,
thereby decreasing the amount they are willing to pay to lease our assets and consequently limiting our ability, if necessary, to
reposition our portfolio promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions. Furthermore, the distribution yield on
our €emmenr-common Steelestock will influence the price of such Commen-common Steekstock . Thus, an increase in market
interest rates may lead prospective purchasers of our €emmen-common Steelestock to expect a higher distribution yield, which
could adversely affect the market price of our €Cemmen-common Steelestock . See “ Risks Related to Ownership of Our
Common Stock ” for more information. In addition, decreases in interest rates may lead to additional competition for the
acquisition of real estate due to a reduction in desirable alternative income- producing investments. Increased competition for the
acquisition of real estate may lead to a decrease in the yields on real estate we have targeted for acquisition. In such
circumstances, if we are not able to offset the decrease in yields by obtaining lower interest costs on our borrowings, our results
of operations will be adversely affected. Security breaches and other technology disruptions could compromise our information
systems and expose us to liability, which could materially and adversely affect us. Information security risks generally have
increased in recent years due to the increased technological sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyber- attacks. Our
business involves the storage and transmission of numerous classes of sensitive and confidential information and intellectual
property, including tenants’ information, private information about our stockholders and our employees, and financial and
strategic information about us. In addition to our internal information systems, we also rely on third- party service providers that
may have access to such information in connection with providing necessary information technology and security and other
business services to us. We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber- attacks or cyber- intrusions, malware,
computer viruses, attachments to e- mails, persons inside our organization or persons with access to systems inside our
organization, and other significant disruptions of our IT networks and related systems. The risk of a security breach or
disruption, particularly through cyber- attack or cyber- intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments, and
cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity, and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from
around the world have increased. If we fail to assess and identify cybersecurity risks associated with our operations, we may
become increasingly vulnerable to such risks. Additionally, the measures we have implemented to prevent security breaches and
cyber incidents may not be effective. The theft, destruction, loss, misappropriation, or release of sensitive or confidential
information or intellectual property, or interference with or disruptions of our IT networks and related systems or the technology
systems of third parties on which we rely, could result in business disruption, negative publicity, brand damage, violation of
privacy laws, loss of tenants, potential liability, and competitive disadvantage. The costs related to cyber- attacks or other
security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. Laws and regulations governing data
privacy are constantly evolving. Many of these laws and regulations, including the California Consumer Protection Act, contain



detailed requirements regarding collecting and processing personal information, restrict the use and storage of such information,
and govern the effectlveneqi of consumer consent. Any of the above risks could materially and adversely affect us. We—m-a—y—ﬂe’f

#s—As we continue to acquire properties pursuant to our growth qtrategy, our portfoho may become le@% dlverqlﬁed Wthh could
materially and adversely affect us. In pursuing our growth strategy, we may acquire properties that cause our portfolio to
become less diversified. If our portfolio becomes less diverse, our business may become subject to greater risk, including tenant
bankruptcies, adverse industry trends, and economic downturns in a particular geographic area. As a result, if any such risks of a
less diversified portfolio are realized, we could be materially and adversely affected. We face significant competition for
acquiring properties from both publicly traded REITs and private investors that have greater resources than we do, which could
materially and adversely affect us. We face significant competition from other entities engaged in real estate investment
activities, including publicly traded and privately held REITs, private and institutional real estate investors, sovereign wealth
funds, banks, insurance companies, investment banking firms, lenders, specialty finance companies, and other entities. Some of
our competitors are larger and may have considerably greater financial, technical, leasing, underwriting, marketing, and other
resources than we do. Some competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that may not be
available to us. In addition, other competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments and may not be
subject to the same operating constraints, including maintaining REIT status. This competition may result in fewer acquisitions,
higher prices, lower yields, less desirable property types, and acceptance of greater risk. As a result, we cannot provide any
assurance that we will be able to successfully execute our growth strategy. Any failure to grow through acquisitions as a result
of the significant competition we face could materially and adversely affect us. We face significant competition for tenants,
which could materially and adversely affect us, including our occupancy, rental rates, results of operations, and business. We
compete with numerous developers, owners, and operators of properties, many of which own properties similar to ours in the
same markets in which our properties are located. If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current market rates or
below the rental rates we currently charge our tenants, we may lose existing or potential tenants or we may be pressured to
reduce our rental rates or to offer more substantial rent abatements, tenant improvements, early termination rights, or below-
market renewal options to retain tenants when our leaqe% expire. Competluon for tenants could decrease or prevent increases ef
in the occupancy and rental rates of our propertle% ; ; ; ;

ndustrypersennel, which could matenally and adver%ely affect us. Our portfolio is concentlated in certain states, and any
adverse developments and economic downturns in these geographic markets could materially and adversely affect us. As of
December 31, 28222023 , approximately 34-35 . 6-2 % of our ABR came from properties in our top five states: Texas (9. 7 %),
Michigan (8. 4 %), Illinois (6. 2 %), Wisconsin (5. 49 %), and California (45 . 80 %). These geographic concentrations could
adversely affect our operating performance if conditions become less favorable in any of the states or markets within which we
have a concentration of properties. We can provide no assurance that any of our markets will grow, will not experience adverse
developments, or that underlying real estate fundamentals will be favorable to owners and operators of industrial, healthcare,
restaurant, retail, and office ;andretail-properties. A downturn in the economy in the states or regions in which we have a
concentration of properties, or markets within such states or regions, or a slowdown in the demand for our tenants’ businesses
caused by adverse economic, regulatory, or other conditions, could adversely affect our tenants operating businesses in those



states and impair their ability to pay rent to us, which, in turn could materially and adversely affect us. Our portfolio is also
concentrated in certain property types and any adverse developments relating to one or more of these property types could
materially and adversely affect us. As of December 31, 26222023 , approximately 51. 5 % of our ABR came from industrial
properties, 17. +6 % from healthcare properties, 13. 56 % from restaurant properties, 11. 5-4 % from retail properties, and =5 .
9 % from office properties. Any adverse developments in one or more of these property types could materially and adversely
affect us. For example, the market for restaurant, retail, and office properties has been, and could continue to be, adversely
affected by weakness in the national, regional, and local economies, the adverse financial condition of some large restaurant and
retail companies, the ongoing consolidation in the restaurant and retail industries, the widespread practice of telecommuting, the
adverse changes in consumer spending and consumer preferences for particular goods, services, or store- based retailing, and the
excess amount of restaurant, retail and office space in a number of markets. Accordingly, decreases in the demand for
restaurant, retail, and / or office properties may have a greater adverse effect on us than if we had fewer investments in these
industries. It also may be difficult and expensive to re- tenant a property designed for a particular property type with a new
tenant that operates in an industry requiring a different property type. As a result, any adverse developments in one or more of
our concentrated property types could materially and adversely affect us. If one or more of our top 10 tenants, which together
represented approximately 19.6-6 % of our ABR as of December 31, 2622-2023 , suffers a downturn in their business, it could
materially and adversely affect us. As of December 31, 2822-2023 , our top 10 tenants together represented 19. 8-6 % of our
ABR. Our largest tenant is Roskam Baking Company, which leases seven properties that in the aggregate represent
approximately 4. 6-1 % of our ABR. Our top 10 tenants may experience a material business downturn weakening their financial
position resulting in their failure to make timely rent payments and / or default under their leases. As a result, our revenue and
cash flow could be materially and adversely affected. We may be unable to renew leases, re- lease properties as leases expire, or
lease vacant spaces on favorable terms or at all, which, in each case, could materially and adversely affect us. Our results of
operations depend on our ability to continue to successfully lease our properties, including renewing expiring leases, re- leasing
properties as leases expire, leasing vacant space, optimizing our tenant mix, or leasing properties on more economically
favorable terms. As of December 31, 20222023 , sixfive leases representing approximately 1. 2 % of our ABR will expire
during 2623-2024 . Current tenants may decline, or may not have the financial resources available, to renew current leases and
we cannot assure you that leases that are renewed will have terms that are as economically favorable to us as the expiring lease
terms. If tenants do not renew the leases as they expire, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to find new
tenants or that our properties will be re- leased at rental rates equal to or above the current average rental rates or that substantial
rent abatements, leasing commissions, tenant improvement allowances, early termination rights, or below- market renewal
options will not be required to attract new tenants. We may experience significant costs in connection with re- leasing a
significant number of our properties, which could materially and adversely affect us. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , three-two
of our properties, representing approximately 0. 6 % of our portfolio, were unoccupied. We may experience difficulties in
leasing this vacant space on favorable terms or at all. Any failure to renew leases, re- lease properties as leases expire, or lease
vacant space could materially and adversely affect us. Property vacancies could result in significant capital expenditures and
illiquidity, particularly for specialty properties that are suitable for only one use. The loss of a tenant, either through lease
expiration or tenant bankruptcy or insolvency, may require us to spend significant amounts of capital to renovate the property
before it is suitable for a new tenant and cause us to incur significant costs. In particular, our specialty properties are designed
for a particular type of tenant or tenant use. If tenants of specialty properties do not renew or default on their leases, we may not
be able to re- lease properties without substantial capital improvements, which may require significant cost and time to
complete. Alternatively, we may not be able to re- lease or sell the property without such improvements or may be required to
reduce the rent or selling price significantly. Recently, supply chain disruptions in the construction and building industry have
resulted in increased costs and significant delays for building renovation and maintenance projects. This potential illiquidity may
limit our ability to modify quickly our portfolio in response to changes in economic or other conditions, including tenant
demand. Such occurrences could materially and adversely affect us. We may experience a higher number of tenant defaults
because we lease most of our properties to tenants who do not have an investment grade credit rating. We depend on the ability
of our tenants to meet their obligations to pay rent to us due under our lease for substantially all of our revenue. As of December
31,2022-2023 , only approximately 15. 4-3 % of our ABR came from tenants who had an investment grade credit rating. A
substantial majority of our properties are leased to unrated tenants. Our investments in properties leased to such tenants may
have a greater risk of default than investments in properties leased exclusively to investment grade tenants. The ability of an
unrated tenant to meet its rent and other obligations under its lease with us may be subject to greater risk than our tenants that
have an investment grade rating. When we invest in properties where the tenant does not have a publicly available credit rating,
we use certain credit- assessment tools as well as our own estimates of the tenant’ s credit rating which includes reviewing the
tenant’ s financial information (e. g., financial ratios, net worth, revenue, cash flows, leverage and liquidity, if applicable). Our
methods, however, may not adequately assess the risk of an investment and, if our assessment of credit quality proves to be
inaccurate, we may be subject to defaults and investors may view our cash flows as less stable. If one or more of our unrated
tenants defaults, it could have a material adverse effect on us. Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to
evaluate a tenant’ s credit risk may be faulty, deficient, or otherwise fail to accurately reflect the risk of our investment, which
could materially and adversely affect us. Our underwriting and risk management procedures that we use to evaluate a tenant’ s
credit risk may not be sufficient to identify tenant problems in a timely manner or at all. To evaluate tenant credit risk, we utilize
a third- party model, S & P Capital IQ, to help us determine a tenant’ s implied credit rating when a public rating is not
available. However, a rating from S & P Capital IQ is not the same as a published credit rating and lacks extensive company
participation that is typically involved when a rating agency publishes a rating. Therefore, such rating may not be as indicative
of creditworthiness as a rating published by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. Tenant credit ratings, public



or implied, however, are only one component of how we assess the risk of tenant insolvency. We also use our own internal
estimate of the likelihood of an insolvency or default, based on the regularly monitored performance of our properties, our
assessment of each tenant’ s financial health, including profitability, liquidity, indebtedness, and leverage profile, and our
assessment of the health and performance of the tenant” s particular industry. #Our methods, however, may not adequately
assess the risk of an investment and, if our assessment of credit quahty proves to be 1naccurate we may be subJect to

experienec-one-or-more-tenant-defaults and investors may view
ef—eﬁe-efour cash ﬂows as less stable mote v

y d-mate y S We also rely on 1nformatlon from our tenants to
determine a potentlal tenant’ s credlt risk as well as for on- going risk management. As of December 31, 2022-2023 ,
approximately $5-86 . 8-0 % of our ABR is received from tenants that are required to provide us with spe(:lﬁed ﬁnancral
information on a periodic basis. An additional 7. 8 =5-% of our ABR is received from tenants who are not required to provide us
with specified financial information under the terms of our lease but whose financial statements are avallable pubhcly, either
through SEC ﬁhngs or otherw1se atings-or-eonelustons m-both aptte an 5 y

tenant s farlure to provide appropriate 1nformat10n rnay 1nterfere Wrth our ablhty to accurately evaluate a potential tenant s
credit risk or determine an existing tenant’ s default risk, the occurrence of either could materially and adversely affect us. We
could face potential material adverse effects from the bankruptcies or insolvencies of our tenants. If a tenant, or the guarantor of
a lease of a tenant, commences, or has commenced against it, any legal or equitable proceeding under any bankruptcy,
insolvency, receivership, or other debtor’ s relief statute or law (collectively, a “ bankruptcy proceeding ’), we may be unable to
collect all sums due to us under that tenant’ s lease or be forced to *“ take back  a property as a result of a default or a rejection
of a lease by a tenant in a bankruptcy proceeding. In addition, an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy or speculation in the
press or investment community about an actual or anticipated tenant bankruptcy may also negatively affect our share price or
result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume of shares of our Cemmen-common Steek-stock . If a tenant becomes
bankrupt or insolvent, federal law may prohibit us from evicting such tenant based solely upon such bankruptcy or insolvency.
In addition, a bankrupt or insolvent tenant may be authorized to reject and terminate its lease or leases with us. Any claims
against such bankrupt tenant for unpaid future rent would be subject to statutory limitations that would likely result in our receipt
of rental revenues that are substantially less than the contractually specified rent we are owed under the lease or leases. Any or
all of the lease obligations of our tenants, or any guarantor of our tenants, could be subject to a bankruptcy proceeding which
may bar our efforts to collect pre- bankruptcy debts from these entities or their properties, unless we are able to obtain an
enabling order from the bankruptcy court. If our lease is rejected by a tenant in bankruptcy, we may only have a general
unsecured claim against the tenant and may not be entitled to any further payments under the lease. We may also be unable to
re- lease a terminated or rejected space or to re- lease it on comparable or more favorable terms. A bankruptcy proceeding could
hinder or delay our efforts to collect past due balances and ultimately preclude collection of these sums, resulting in a decrease
or cessation of rental payments, which could materially and adversely affect us. Our properties may be subject to impairment
charges. We routinely evaluate our real estate investments for impairment indicators. The judgment regarding the existence of
impairment indicators is based on factors such as market conditions and tenant performance. For example, the early termination
of, or default under, a lease by a tenant may lead to an impairment charge. Since our investment focus is on properties net leased
to a single tenant, the financial failure of, or other default by, a single tenant under its lease (s) may result in a significant
impairment loss. If we determine that an impairment has occurred, we would be required to make a downward adjustment to the
net carrying value of the property, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period in which
the impairment charge is recorded. Management has recorded impairment charges related to certain properties in each of the
years ended December 31, 2023 2022 and 2021 —a-nd—29%9— and rnay record future 1mpa1rments based on actual results and
changes in crrcumstances —Neg :

—havea-matertal-tmpac 3 al-staterents Crrtlcal Accountlng Polices — Long Lived
Asset Impairment ” in Item 7. ©“ Management’ s Dlscussron and Analysis of F 1nancral Condition and Results of Operations * for
a discussion of real estate impairment charges. Changes in accounting standards may materially and adversely affect us. From
time to time the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB ”), and the SEC, which create and interpret appropriate
accounting standards, may change the financial accounting and reporting standards or their interpretation and application of
these standards that will govern the preparation of our financial statements. These changes could materially and adversely affect
our reported financial condition and results of operations. In some cases, we could be required to apply a new or revised
standard retroactively, resulting in restating prior period financial statements. In addition, any changes may undermine our
ability to prepare timely and accurate financial statements, which could result in a lack of investor confidence and could
materially and adversely affect us. Similarly, these changes could materially and adversely affect our tenants’ reported financial
condition or results of operations and affect their preferences regarding leasing real estate as well as their ability to provide
accurate or complete financial information to us. We may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred
contribution transactions, which could result in stockholder dilution and limit our ability to sell such assets. In the future , we
may acquire properties or portfolios of properties through tax deferred contribution transactions in exchange for OP Units,
which may result in stockholder dilution. This acquisition structure may have the effect of, among other things, reducing the
amount of tax depreciation we could deduct over the tax life of the acquired properties, and may require that we agree to protect
the contributors’ ability to defer recognition of taxable gain through restrictions on our ability to dispose of the acquired
properties and / or the allocation of debt to the contributors to maintain their tax bases. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , we were



party to tax protection agreements covering three properties. Based on values as of December 31, 2622-2023 , taxable sales of
the applicable properties would trigger liability under the agreements of approximately $ 10. 4 million. In addltlon in
connection with the Company’ s Internatization-internalization , we entered into a tax protection agreement with Amy L. Tait,
the Company’ s founder, and certain members of her family {the“Founding-Owners™TFaxProteetionAgreement=)-, which has
a potential liability of up to $ 10 million based on values as of December 31, 2622-2023 . These restrictions could limit our
ability to sell certain assets or the OP (or our interest in the OP) at a time ;-or on terms ythat would be favorable absent such
restrictions. Certain provisions of our leases or loan agreements may be unenforceable, which could materially and adversely
affect us. Our rights and obligations with respect to the leases at our properties, mortgage loans, or other loans are governed by
written agreements. A court could determine that one or more provisions of such agreements are unenforceable, such as a
particular remedy, a master lease covenant, a loan prepayment provision, or a provision governing our security interest in the
underlying collateral of a borrower or lessee. We could be adversely impacted if this were to happen with respect to an asset or
group of assets. We may become subject to litigation, which could materially and adversely affect us. In the future we may
become subject to litigation, including, but not limited to, claims relating to our operations, past and future securities offerings,
corporate transactions, and otherwise in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims may result in significant defense
costs and potentially significant judgments against us, some of which are not, or cannot be, insured against. We generally intend
to vigorously defend ourselves. However, we cannot be certain of the ultimate euteomes— outcome of any claims that may arise
in the future. Resolution of these types of matters against us may result in our having to pay significant fines, judgments, or
settlements, which, if uninsured, or if the fines, judgments, and settlements exceed insured levels, could adversely impact our
earnings and cash flows, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. Certain litigation or the resolution of certain litigation
may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage, which could materially and adversely impact us, expose us
to increased risks that would be uninsured, and materially and adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers. A
failure to maintain effective internal controls could materially and adversely affect us. Effective internal controls over financial
reporting, disclosures, and operations are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and public disclosures, effectively
prevent fraud, and operate successfully. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports and public disclosures or prevent fraud,
our reputation and operating results would be harmed. Our internal controls over financial reporting and our operating internal
controls may not prevent or detect financial misstatements or loss of assets because of inherent limitations, including the
possibility of human error, management override of controls, or fraud. Effective internal controls can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement accuracy, public disclosures, and safeguarding of assets. Any failure of these
internal controls, including any failure to implement required new or improved controls as a result of changes to our business or
otherwise, or if we experience difficulties in their implementation, could result in decreased investor confidence in the accuracy
and completeness of our financial reports and public disclosures, civil litigation, or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory
authorities, and we could fail to meet our reporting obligations, which could materially and adversely affect us. A limited
number of our leases may require us to pay property- related expenses that are not the obligations of our tenants, which could
materially and adversely affect us. Under the terms of substantially all of our leases, our tenants are responsible for the payment
or reimbursement of property expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and capital costs in addition to
satisfying their rent obligations. Under the provisions of a limited number of our existing leases and leases that we may enter
into in the future, however, we may be required to pay some or all of the expenses of the property, such as the costs of
environmental liabilities, roof and structural repairs, real estate taxes, insurance, certain non- structural repairs, and maintenance.
If our properties incur significant expenses that must be paid by us under the terms of our leases, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected and the amount of cash available to meet expenses and to make
distributions to our stockholders and unitholders may be reduced. As a property owner, we may be subject to environmental
liabilities, which could be substantial. There may be known or unknown environmental liabilities associated with properties we
previously owned, currently own, or may acquire in the future. Under various federal, state, and local laws and regulations
relating to the environment, as a current or former owner or operator of real property, we may be liable for costs and damages
resulting from environmental matters, including the presence or discharge of hazardous or toxic substances, waste, asbestos-
containing building materials, or petroleum products at, on, in, under or migrating from such property, including costs to
investigate or clean up such contamination and liability for personal injury, property damage, or harm to natural resources. Such
laws often impose liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of
such contamination. These costs and damages could be substantial. Certain uses of some properties may have a heightened risk
of environmental liability because of the hazardous materials used in performing services on those properties, such as industrial
properties or auto-parts-and-aute-serviee-businesses using petroleum products, paint, machine solvents, and other hazardous
materials. We typically undertake customary environmental diligence prior to our acquisition of any property, including
obtaining Phase I environmental site assessments. The Phase I environmental site assessments are limited in scope and therefore
may not reveal all environmental conditions affecting a property. Therefore, there could be undiscovered environmental
liabilities on the properties we own. The known or potential presence of hazardous substances on a property may adversely
affect our ability to sell, lease, or improve the property, or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, environmental
laws may create liens on contaminated properties in favor of the government for damages and costs it incurs to address such
contamination. Moreover, if contamination is discovered on our properties, environmental laws may impose restrictions on the
manner in which they may be used or which businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require substantial
expenditures. Although we may obtain insurance for environmental liability for certain properties that are deemed to warrant
coverage, our insurance may be insufficient to address any particular environmental situation and we may be unable to continue
to obtain insurance for environmental matters, at a reasonable cost or at all, in the future. If our environmental liability insurance
is inadequate, we may become subject to material losses for environmental liabilities. Our ability to receive the benefits of any



environmental liability insurance policy will depend on the financial stability of our insurance company and the position it takes
with respect to our insurance policies. Although our leases generally require our tenants to operate in compliance with all
applicable federal, state, and local environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations, and to indemnify us against any
environmental liabilities arising from the tenants’ activities on the property, we could nevertheless be subject to liability, as a
current or previous owner of real estate, including strict liability, by virtue of our ownership interest and may be required to
remove or remediate hazardous or toxic substances on, under, or in a property. Further, there can be no assurance that our
tenants or the guarantor of a lease, could orw ould satisfy their mdemmheanon obllgdtlons under their leases -Sefﬁe—e-ﬁeﬂr

Our ability to effectively monitor and 1espond to the rapid and ongoing dev elopments and expectations regarding our corporate
responsibility environmentat;seetal,-and sustainability efforts governanee(“ESG)praetiees-, may impose unexpected costs
or result in reputational or other harm that could have a material adverse effect on our business. There are rapid and ongoing

developments and changing expectations relating to ESG-corporate responsibility and sustainability matters as governmental
entities, investors, emplovees and othe1 stakeholders hav e begun to focus increasingl y on -E—SG—such plaetlces —rnel-ttd-rng—t-hese

&efn&nd— publu 1ep01tmg 1egardmo E—SG—pfaeﬂees—corporate responsnblhty and sustalnablhty efforts 1S beeommg more
broadly expected. If we are unable to adequately recognize and effectively respond to such developments and governmental,
societal, investor, and consumer expectations relating to our ESG-praetiees-corporate responsibility and sustainability efforts
, We may miss corporate opportunities, become subject to additional scrutiny, incur unexpected and significant costs, or
experience damage to our reputation. If any of these events were to occur, there may be a material adverse effect on our business
. We may engage in development or expansion projects or enter into new transaction structures, including speculative
development projects and real estate lending opportunities, which would subject us to additional risks that could
negatively impact our operations. We may engage in development or expansion projects, which could require us, our
tenants, or any development partners to raise additional capital or obtain zoning, occupancy, or other required
governmental permits and authorizations. Development and expansion projects are subject to a number of risks,
including construction delays and cost overruns that may increase anticipated project costs. In addition, a decision by
any governmental agency not to issue a required permit or substantial delays in the permitting process could cause the
incurrence of penalties, delay us from receiving rental payments, result in us receiving reduced rental payments, or
prevent us from pursuing the development or expansion project altogether. The inability to successfully complete
development or expansion projects or to complete them on a timely basis could adversely affect our business and results
of operations. In addition, we may explore and enter into new transaction structures, including speculative development
projects and real estate lending opportunities, that may or may not be closely related to our current business. These new
transaction structures may have new, different, or increased risks than what we are currently exposed to in our business
and we may not be able to manage these risks successfully. Additionally, when investing in such new transaction
structures, we will be exposed to the risk that those structures, or the income generated thereby, will affect our ability to
meet the requirements to maintain our REIT status and to avoid entity- level taxes, or will subject us to additional
regulatory requirements or limitations. If we are not able to successfully manage the risks associated with such new
transaction structures, it could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The
departure of any of our key personnel with long- standing business relationships could materially and adversely affect
us. Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain key personnel including, but
not limited to, members of our executive management team. Many of our executive personnel, particularly our senior
management team, have extensive experience and strong reputations in the real estate industry and have been
instrumental in setting our strategic direction, operating our business, identifying, recruiting, and training key
personnel, and arranging necessary financing. The departure of any member of our executive management team, or our
inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business, diminish our investment
opportunities, and weaken our relationships with lenders, business partners, existing and prospective tenants, and
industry personnel, which could materially and adversely affect us . Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate Our
operating results are affected by economic and regulatory changes that impact the commercial real estate market in general. The
Company Our-eore-business-is the-ownership-ofeommeretalreal-estate-an industrial- focused, diversified net lease REIT
that 1s-focuses on investing in income- producing, single- tenant nct lcased emra-commercial properties, primarily in the
United States. The Company leases 1ndustr1al healthcare, restaurant retail, and ofﬁce commerclal properties under
long- term lease agreements ba : . Accordingly,
our performance is subject to risks generally attributable to the ow nelshlp of Lommelual real plopelty including: ¢ changes in
supply and demand for single- tenant space in the industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office sectors; * increased
competition for real property investments targeted by our investment strategy; ¢ changes in consumer trends and preferences that




affect the demand for products and services offered by our tenants; * inability to lease or sell properties upon expiration or
termination of existing leases and renewal of leases at lower rental rates; ¢ the subjectivity of real estate valuations and changes
in such valuations over time; * the potential risk of functional obsolescence of properties over time; and * competition from other
properties. The factors described above are out of our control, and we are unable to predict future changes in such factors. Any
negative changes in these factors may cause the value of our real estate to decline, which could materially and adversely affect
us. Global and U. S. financial markets and economic conditions , such as inflation, may materially and adversely affect us and
the ability of our tenants to make rental payments to us pursuant to our leases. A significant portion of our portfolio is leased to
tenants operating businesses that directly or indirectly rely on discretionary consumer spending. The success of most of these
businesses depends on the willingness of consumers to use discretionary income to purchase their products or services. Our
results of operations are sensitive to changes in the overall economic conditions that impact our tenants’ financial condition and
leasing practices and a downturn in the economy could cause consumers to reduce their discretionary spending, which could
result in tenant bankruptcies or otherwise have an adverse impact on our tenants’ ability to successfully manage their businesses
and pay us amounts due under our lease agreements, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. Accordingly, adverse
economic conditions such as high unemployment levels, an increase in interest rates, a decrease in available financing, high
inflation, labor and workforce shortages, supply chain issues, tax rates, and fuel and energy costs may have an impact on the
results of operations and financial conditions of our tenants. During periods of economic slowdown or recession, rising interest
rates and declining demand for real estate may result in a general decline in rents or an increased incidence of defaults under
existing leases. A lack of demand for rental space could adversely affect our ability to maintain our current tenants and gain new
tenants, which may affect our growth and results of operations. Accordingly, a decline in economic conditions could materially
and adversely affect us - &y atly v d-o . Increased inflation could lead to
interest rate increases that could have a negative impact on variable rate debt we currently have or that we may incur in the
future, including increases to interest rates on our borrowings set to reprice in the future. During times when inflation is greater
than the increases in rent provided by many of our leases, rent increases will not keep up with the rate of inflation. Increased
costs may have an adverse impact on our tenants if increases in their operating expenses exceed increases in revenue, which
may adversely affect the tenants’ ability to pay rent owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely affect us. Inflation
may also have an adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ revenues and their ability to pay rent
owed to us, which in turn could materially and adversely affect us. Our real estate investments are illiquid Because real estate
investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to adJust our portfolio promptly in response to economic, financial, investment or
other conditions may be limited. Res ;

: piIg y—We may be unable to realize our investment obJ ective by sale other
dispos1tion or refinancmg at attractive prices Within any given period of time, or we may otherWise be unable to complete any

certain Significant expenditures generally do not change in response to economic or other conditions, such as (1) debt service, (ii)
real estate taxes, and (iii) operating and maintenance costs. The inability to dispose of a property at an acceptable price or at all,
as well as the combination of variable revenue and relatively fixed expenditures may result, under certain market conditions, in
reduced earnings and could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. We face risks associated with climate change,
which could materially and adversely impact us. As a result of climate change, our properties in certain markets could
experience increases in storm intensity, flooding, drought, wildfires, rising sea levels, and extreme temperatures. The potential
physical impacts of climate change on our properties are uncertain and would be particular to the geographic circumstances in
areas in which we own property. Over time, these conditions could result in volatile or decreased demand for certain of our
properties or, in extreme cases, the inability of our tenants to operate the properties at all. Climate change may also have indirect
effects on our business by increasing the cost of insurance (or making insurance unavailable), increasing the cost of energy at
our properties or requiring us to spend funds to repair and protect our properties against such risks {-n—addi-t-ien—we—a-lse—faee

-Mereever—eeﬁapl-t&ﬂee—Compliance With new federal and state- level laws or regulations related to climate change including
climate change disclosures, compliance with *“ green ” building codes or other laws or regulations relating to reduction of carbon
footprints and / or greenhouse gas emissions, may require us to make significant cash expenditures both at the property and
corporate level. Furthermore, our tenants’ increased costs associated with compliance with such laws or regulations could
negatively impact our tenants’ operating results and ability to pay rent. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely
impact us. Natural disasters, pandemics or epidemics, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or war, or other catastrophic events
could materially and adversely impact us. Natural disasters, pandemics or epidemics, terrorist attacks, other acts of violence or
war, or other catastrophic events (e. g., hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, or other types of natural disasters or wars or other acts of
violence) could cause damage to our properties, materially interrupt our business operations (or those of our tenants), cause
consumer confidence and spending to decrease or result in increased volatility in the U. S and worldwide financial markets and
economy. e ; ates—We own properties in
regions that have historically been impacted by natural disasters and it is probable such regions will continue to be impacted by
such events. If a disaster occurs, we could suffer a complete loss of capital invested in, and any profits expected from, the
affected properties. Any of these occurrences could materially and adversely affect us. Insurance on our properties may not




adequately cover all losses and uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect us. Our tenants are generally required to
maintain comprehensive insurance coverage for the properties they lease from us pursuant to our net leases. Pursuant to such
leases, our tenants are required to name us (and any of our lenders that have a mortgage on the property leased by the tenant) as
additional insureds on their liability policies and loss payee (or mortgagee, in the case of our lenders) on their property policies.
Additionally, most tenants are required to maintain casualty coverage and most carry limits at 100 % of replacement cost.
Depending on the location of the property, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by earthquakes and floods, may
be covered by insurance policies that are held by our tenant with limitations such as large deductibles et-, co- payments , or sub-
limits that a tenant may not be able to meet. In addition, losses of a catastrophic nature, such as those caused by wind / hail,
hurricanes, terrorism, or acts of war, may be uninsurable or not economically insurable. In the event there is damage to our
properties that is not covered by insurance and such properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we will continue to be liable
for the indebtedness, even if these properties are irreparably damaged. In addition, if uninsured damages to a property occur or a
loss exceeds policy limits and we do not have adequate cash to fund repalrs we may be forced to sell the property ata loss or to
borrow capltal to fund the repairs —nflatien b g€ d s;-en he

comprehenswe loss of one of our properties, we may not be able to rebulld such property to its existing specifications without
51gn1f1cant capltal expendltures which may exceed any amounts received pursuant to 1nsurance pohcles —as—feeeﬁs&ueﬁeﬂ-ef

s~ The

1oss 0f our capital investment in or ant1c1pated future returns from our properties due to mater1a1 unlnsured losses could
materially and adversely affect us. Our costs of compliance with laws and regulations may require us or our tenants to make
unanticipated expenditures that could reduce the investment return of our stockholders. All real property and the operations
conducted on real property are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations. We cannot predict what laws or
regulations will be enacted in the future, how future laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted, or how future laws
or regulations will affect us or our properties. For example, we may be required to make substantial capital expenditures to
comply with applicable fire and safety regulations, building codes, environmental regulations, and other land use regulations,
and may be required to obtain approvals from various authorities with respect to our properties, including prior to acquiring a
property or when undertaking improvements of any of our existing properties. Additionally, pursuant to the Americans with
Disabilities Act (“ ADA ™), all public accommodations must meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled
persons. Compliance with ADA requirements could require property- level expenditures and non- compliance could result in
imposition of fines by the U. S. government or an award of damages to private litigants, or both. In most instances, our tenants
are obligated to comply with these types of laws and regulations pursuant to our leases and cover costs associated with
compliance. However, if required changes involve greater expenditures than anticipated or if the changes must be made on a
more accelerated basis than anticipated, the ablhty of our tenants to cover such costs could be adversely affected and we may be
requlredtoexpendourownfunds h an-be-no-assuranee-that-existingtaws-andregulation A selyaffee

mefease—sueh—delays—eﬁeﬁ&ﬁﬁraéd-r&eﬂal—eests—Accordlngly, compllance W1th new 1aws or regulatlons or strlcter 1nterpretat10n

of existing laws, may require us or our tenants to incur significant expenditures, impose significant liability, restrict or prohibit
business activities, and could cause a material adverse effect on us. Risks Related to Debt Financing As of December 31, 2022
2023 , we had approximately $ 2-1 . 89 billion principal balance of indebtedness outstanding, which may expose us to the risk
of default under our debt obligations. As of December 31, 20222023 , we had approximately $ 2-1 . -9 billion principal balance
of indebtedness outstanding. We have incurred, and plan to incur in the future, financing through borrowings under term loans,
senior notes, our Revolving Credit Facility, and mortgage loans secured by some or all of our properties. In some cases, the
mortgage loans we incur are guaranteed by us, the OP, or both. We may also borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the
requirement that we distribute to stockholders as dividends at least 90 % of our annual REIT taxable income (computed without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain), or otherwise as is necessary or advisable to assure that we
maintain our qualification as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax purposes. Payments of principal and interest on borrowings
may leave us with insufficient cash resources to meet our cash needs or make the distributions to our common stockholders
currently contemplated or necessary to qualify as a REIT. Our level of debt and the limitations imposed on us by our debt
agreements could have significant adverse consequences, including the following: ¢ our cash flow may be insufficient to meet
our required principal and interest payments; ® cash interest expense and financial covenants relating to our indebtedness,
including a covenant in our Revolving Credit Facility that restricts us from paying distributions if an event of default exists,
other than distributions required to maintain our REIT status, may limit or eliminate our ability to make distributions to our
common stockholders; * we may be forced to dispose of properties, possibly on unfavorable terms or in violation of certain
covenants to which we may be subject; * we may default on our obligations and the lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our
properties or our interests in the entities that own the properties that secure their loans and receive an assignment of rents and
leases; * we may be restricted from accessing some of our excess cash flow after debt service if certain of our tenants fail to meet
certain financial performance metric thresholds; and ¢ our default under any loan with cross default provisions could result in a
default on other indebtedness. The occurrence of any of these events could materially and adversely affect us. Furthermore,
foreclosures could create taxable income without accompanying cash proceeds, which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT
distribution requirements imposed by the Code. Disruptions in the financial markets and deteriorating economic conditions
could adversely affect our ability to obtain debt financing on commercially reasonable terms , refinance existing indebtedness
on acceptable terms or at all, and adversely impact our ability to implement our investment strategy and achieve our




investment objectives . We use external financing to refinance indebtedness as it matures and to partially fund our
acquisitions. Credit markets may experience significant price volatility, displacement, and liquidity disruptions,
including the bankruptcy, insolvency, or restructuring of certain financial institutions. Our access to financing depends
on, among other things, conditions in the financial markets . The United States and global financial markets have
experienced periods of significant volatility and disruption in the past, and are expected to continue to do so in the future. Recent
disruptions in the capital markets have resulted in constrained equity and debt capital available for investment in the real estate
market and increases in capitalization rates. Future events or sustained negative conditions may also reduce the availability of
financing, make financing terms less attractive, as well as negatively impact the value of our investments in properties. If
sufficient sources of external financing are not available to us on cost effective terms, we could be forced to limit our planned
business activities or take other actions to fund our business activities and repayment of debt such as selling assets or reducing
our cash distributions . As a result, we may be unable to fully refinance maturing indebtedness with new indebtedness,
which could materially and adversely affect us . Uncertainty in the credit markets could also negatively impact our ability to
make acquisitions, make it more difficult or impossible for us to sell properties, or adversely affect the price we receive for
properties that we do iell as progpectlve buyem may experlence 1n016a§ed costs of debt hnancmg or difficulties in obtaining
debt hnancmg —Ma onditio otte-ady y : :

interest rate changes may matenally and adver%ely affect us. To reduce our exposure to Varlable rate debt, we enter into 1ntere§t
rate swap agreements to fix the rate of interest as a hedge against interest rate fluctuations on floating- rate debt. These
arrangements involve risks and may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes. In addition, the
counterparties to any hedging arrangements we enter into may not honor their obligations. Failure to hedge effectively against
changes in interest rates relating to the interest expense of our future floating- rate borrowings may materially and adversely
affect us. Our Revolving Credit Facility and term loan agreements contain various covenants which, if not complied with, could
accelerate our repayment obligations, thereby materially and adversely affecting us. We are subject to various financial and
operational covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to the agreements we have entered into governing our
Revolving Credit Facility, term loans, and senior notes. These covenants require us to, among other things, maintain certain
financial ratios, including leverage, fixed charge coverage, and debt service coverage, among others. As of December 31, 2822
2023 . we believe we were in eempthrhanee—-- compliance with all of our loan covenants. Our continued compliance Wlth these
covenants depends on many factors and could be impacted by current or future economic conditions, and thus there are no
assurances that we will continue to comply with these covenants. Failure to comply with these covenants would result in a
default which, if we were unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could accelerate our repayment obligations and
thereby have a material and adverse impact on us. Further, these covenants, as well as any additional covenants to which we
may be subject in the future because of additional borrowings, could cause us to forego investment opportunities, reduce or
eliminate distributions to our common stockholders, or obtain financing that is more expensive than financing we could obtain if
we were not subject to the covenants. Additionally, these restrictions may adversely affect our operating and financial flexibility
and may limit our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive environment, all of which may materially and
adversely affect us. Failure to maintain our current credit ratings could materially and adversely affect our cost of capital,
liquidity, and access to capital markets. The spread we pay over applicable reference rates for our unsecured credit facilities is
determined based on our current credit ratings of © Baa2’ and * BBB’ from Moody’ s and S & P, respectively. The ratings are
based on a number of factors, including an assessment of our financial strength, portfolio size and diversification, credit and
operating metrics, and sustainability of cash flow and earnings. If we are unable to maintain our current credit ratings it could
adversely affect our cost of capital, liquidity, and access to capital markets. Factors that could negatively impact our credit
ratings include, but are not limited to: a significant increase in our leverage on a sustained basis, a significant increase in the
proportion of secured debt levels, a significant decline in our unencumbered asset base, and a significant decline in our portfolio
diversification. SOFR has a limited history, is different than LIBOR, and rates derived from SOFR may perform
differently than LIBOR would have performed, which could create increased volatility in our cost of borrowing or
increase our interest expense. On June 22, 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ ARRC ) convened by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York identified SOFR as the
rate that, in the consensus view of the ARRC, represented best practice for use in certain new U. S. dollar derivatives
and other financial contracts. SOFR is a broad measure of the cost of cash overnight collateralized by U. S. Treasury
securities, and has been published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York since April 2018. The Federal Reserve
Bank of New York has also begun publishing historical indicative Secured Overnight Financing Rates from 2014. With
the discontinuation of LIBOR as a floating rate benchmark, we transitioned the reference interest rate used in
connection with our floating rate debt obligations to ones based on SOFR. The composition and characteristics of SOFR
are not the same as those of LIBOR, and SOFR is fundamentally different from LIBOR for two key reasons. First,
SOFR is a secured rate, while LIBOR is an unsecured rate. Second, SOFR is an overnight rate, while LIBOR is a
forward- looking rate that represents interbank funding over different maturities (e. g., three months) and SOFR and



SOFR- based rates have a limited history. As a result, it remains uncertain whether SOFR will perform in the same way
as LIBOR would have at any time, including, without limitation, as a result of changes in interest and yield rates in the
market, market volatility or global or regional economic, financial, political, regulatory, judicial, or other events.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our transition to term SOFR in connection with our floating rate
borrowings will not result in increased volatility in our cost of borrowing or increased interest expense. Additionally, the
inability or any inefficiency in market participants ability to hedge SOFR- based transactions or the illiquidity or
relative illiquidity in the market for SOFR- based instruments may increase the costs associated with SOFR- based debt
instruments or our ability to hedge our exposure to floating interest rates. \We may be adversely affected by changes in
HBOR-e+CDOR reporting practices, the methods by Wthh J:I-B-GR—O%CDOR a-re—ls determrned or the use of alternatrve

feveh"rﬂg—efedﬂ'rt—agfeement— we had approxrmately C $ 100 mrlhon of debt outstanding for Wthh the interest rate was tied to
the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“ CDOR 7). Additionally, as of December 31, 2622-2023 —Additionalty-as-of Deecember3+;
2022 we had entered into interest rate swaps totaling $-640-miltenand-C $ 69—100 million that fix the EHBOR-and-CDOR

eem-peneﬁfs» component of our debt —fespeefwel-y—through various tenors —9ﬂ4u+y—2—7,—29{—7,—ehe—Frﬂ&netal-€eﬂéuet—Aﬁt-heﬁw

ﬁt—vefab-}e— In December 2021 the Canadran Alternatrve Reference Rate Workrng Group (“ CARR ”) which was e%tabhshed by
the Bank of Canada’ s Canadran Fixed- Income Forum to coordinate Canadian interest rate reform, recommended that Refinitiv
Benchmark Services (UK) Limited (“ Refinitiv ”’) cease its calculation and publication of CDOR after June 30, 2024. CARR
also recommended that by June 30, 2023, all new securities use the Canadian Overnight Repo Rate Average (“ CORRA ),
subject to certain limited exceptions. On May 16, 2022, Refinitiv announced the cessation of the calculation and publication of
CDOR after June 28 2024. On January 1 1 2023, CARR announced development of a new Term CORRA benchmark thatis

6 y . We are monitoring and evaluating the related risks which arise in
connection with tranqltronrng our Canadian dollar- denominated debt to a new alternative rate, including any resulting value
transfer that may occur. There can be no assurances as to what alternative interest rates may be and whether such interest rates
will be more or less favorable than EFFBOR-e+CDOR and any other unforeseen impacts of the potential discontinuation of
HBOR-er-CDOR. Any changes in HEBOR-er-CDOR reporting practices, the methods by which HH BOR-er+-CDOR are-is
determined, or the use of alternative reference rates may adversely affect us. We may incur mortgage debt on a particular
property, which may subject us to certain risks, and the occurrence of any such risk could materially and adversely affect us. We
may incur mortgage debt on a particular property, especially if we believe the property’ s projected cash flow is sufficient to
service the mortgage debt. In addition, incurring mortgage debt may increase the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness
secured by a property may result in foreclosure actions initiated by lenders and our loss of the property securing the loan that is
in default. For U. S. federal income tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property
for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt
secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure but would not
receive any of the proceeds. We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders to the OP or its affiliates. If we give a guaranty on
behalf of the OP, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by the OP. If any mortgages
contain cross- collateralization or cross- default provisions, there is a risk that more than one of our real properties may be
affected by a default. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon due to a default, we could be materially and adversely
affected. Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure Our Charter contains provisions, including ownership and transfer
restrictions, that may delay, discourage, or prevent a takeover or change of control transaction that could otherwise result in a
premium price to our stockholders. Our Charter contains various provisions that are intended to facilitate our qualification as a
REIT. For example, our Charter restricts the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9. 8 % of the
value of our then outstanding shares of capital stock and no more than 9. 8 % of the value or number of shares, whichever is
more restrictive, of our then outstanding €emmen-common Steelestock unless exempted by our beard-Board of direetors
Directors . This restriction may discourage a change of control of us and may deter individuals or entities from making tender
offers for shares of our Cemmen-common Steelestock on terms that might be financially attractive to stockholders or which
may cause a change in our management. In addition to deterring potential change of control transactions that may be favorable to
our stockholders, these provisions may also decrease our stockholders’ ability to sell their shares of our €emmenr-common
Steekestock . As a result, these charter provisions may negatively impact the market price of our Commen-common Steek
stock . We may issue preferred stock or separate classes or series of €Coemmen-common Steelestock , which could adversely
affect the holders of our €emmen-common Steekstock . Our Charter authorizes us to issue up to 520, 000, 000 shares of stock,
and our beard-Board of direeters-Directors , without any action by our stockholders, may amend our Charter from time to time
to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares or the number of shares of any class or series of stock that we have
authority to issue. Holders of shares of our Gemmenr-common Steelestock do not have preemptive rights to acquire any shares
issued by us in the future. In addition, our beard-Board of direetors-Directors may classify or reclassify any unissued shares of
our €emmen-common Steekstock or preferred stock and establish the preferences, rights, and powers of any such stock. As a
result, our beard-Board of direetors-Directors could authorize the issuance of preferred stock or separate classes or series of
Cemmen-common Steelestock with terms and conditions that could have priority, with respect to distributions and amounts




payable upon our liquidation, over the rights of our €emmen-common Steelestock . The issuance of shares of such preferred or
separate classes or series of €Commen-common Steekstock could dilute the value of an investment in shares of our Cemmen
common Steekstock . The issuance of shares of preferred stock or a separate class or series of Commen-common Steelstock
could provide the holders thereof with specified dividend payments and payments upon liquidation prior or senior to those of the
€Commeon-common Stoek-stock , and could also have the effect of delaying, discouraging, or preventing a change in control of
us, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets) that
might provide a premium price for holders of our Cemmen-common Steek-stock . Termination of the Employment
employment Agreements-agreements with certain members of our sentor-executive management team could be costly. The
Employment-employment Agreements-agreements with certain members of our seﬁteieexecutlve management team prov1de
that if their employment with us terminates under certain circumstances e 6 g 0
Company)-, we may be required to pay them significant amounts of severance compensatlon thereby makmg it costly to
terminate their employment. Our beard-Board of direeters-Directors may change our investment and financing policies without
stockholder approval, which could materially and adversely alter the nature of an investment in us. The methods of
implementing our investment policies and strategy may vary as new real estate development trends emerge, new investment
techniques are developed, and market conditions evolve. Our investment and financing policies are exclusively determined by
our beard-Board of direetors-Directors and senior management team. Accordingly, our stockholders do not control these
policies. Further, our organizational documents do not limit the amount or percentage of indebtedness, funded or otherwise, that
we may incur. Although we are not required to maintain a particular leverage ratio, we generally intend to maintain on a
sustained basis a level of Net Debt that is generally less than 6. 0x our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre. However, from time to
time, our ratio of Net Debt to our Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may exceed 6. 0x. Our beard-Board of direetors-Directors
may alter or eliminate our current policy on borrowing at any time without stockholder approval. If this policy changed, we
could become more highly leveraged, which could result in an increase in our debt service costs and obligations. Higher
leverage also increases the risk of default on our obligations. In addition, a change in our investment policies, including the
manner in which we allocate our resources across our portfolio or the types of assets in which we seek to invest, may increase
our exposure to interest rate risk, real estate market fluctuations, and liquidity risk. Changes to our policies with regard to the
foregoing could materially and adversely affect us. Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our
directors and officers are limited. Maryland law provides that a director of a Maryland corporation will not have any liability in
that capacity if he or she performs his or her duties in accordance with the applicable standard of conduct. Our Charter limits the
liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law. Therefore, our directors and officers are subject to monetary liability resulting only from: ¢ actual receipt of an
improper benefit or profit in money, property, or services; or ¢ active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that
was established by a final judgment as being material to the cause of action adjudicated. As a result, we and our stockholders
have rights against our directors and officers that are more limited than might otherwise exist. Accordingly, in the event that
actions taken by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our Company, your and our ability to recover
damages from such director or officer will be limited. Our Charter and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws also require us to
indemnify and advance expenses to our directors and our officers for losses they may incur by reason of their service in those
capacities subject to any limitations under Maryland law or in our Charter. Moreover, we have entered into separate
indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers. As a result, we and our stockholders may have
more limited rights against these persons than might otherwise exist under common law, which could reduce our stockholders’
and our recovery against such persons. In addition, we may be obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by these persons in
some cases, which would reduce the cash available for distributions. We are a holding company with no direct operations and
rely on funds received from the OP to pay liabilities. We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations
through the OP. We do not have, apart from an interest in the OP, any independent operations. As a result, we rely on
distributions from the OP to pay any distributions we might declare on shares of our €emmen-common Steek-stock . We will
also rely on distributions from the OP to meet any of our obligations, including any tax liability on taxable income allocated to
us from the OP. In addition, because we are a holding company, your claims as stockholders are structurally subordinated to all
existing and future liabilities and obligations (whether or not for borrowed money) of the OP and its subsidiaries. Therefore, in
the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, or reorganization, our assets and those of the OP and its subsidiaries will be able to
satisfy the claims of our stockholders only after all of our and the OP and its subsidiaries’ liabilities and obligations have been
paid in full. Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest between the interests of our stockholders and
members in the OP, which may materially and adversely impede business decisions that could benefit our stockholders.
Conlflicts of interest could arise in the future as a result of the relationships between us and our affiliates, on the one hand, and
the OP or any future member thereof, on the other. Our directors and officers have duties to our Company under applicable
Maryland law in connection with the management of our Company. At the same time, we, as the managing member of the OP,
will have fiduciary duties and obligations to the OP and its members under New York law and the OP Agreement in connection
with the management of the OP. Our fiduciary duties and obligations, as the managing member of the OP, and its members may
come into conflict with the duties of our directors and officers to our Company. While we intend to avoid situations involving
conflicts of interest, there may be situations in which the interests of the OP may conflict with our interests. Our activities
specifically authorized by or described in the OP Agreement may be performed by us and will not, in any case or in the
aggregate, be deemed a breach of the OP Agreement or any duty owed by us to the OP or any member. In exercising our
authority under the OP Agreement, we may, but are under no obligation to, take into account the tax consequences of any action
we take. Other than liabilities associated with tax protection agreements that we have entered into, we and the OP have no
liability to a non- managing member under any circumstances as a result of an income tax liability incurred by such non-




managing member as a result of an action (or inaction) by us pursuant to our authority under the OP Agreement. The OP
Agreement provides that the managing member will not be liable to the OP, its members, or any other person bound by the OP
Agreement for monetary damages for losses sustained, liabilities incurred, or benefits not derived by the OP or any member,
except for liability for the member’ s gross negligence or willful misconduct. Moreover, the OP Agreement provides that the OP
is required to indemnify the managing member, its affiliates, and certain related persons, and any manager, officer, stockholder,
director, member, employee, representative, or agent of the managing member or its affiliates from and against any and all
claims that relate to the operations of the OP, except if (i) the act was committed in bad faith, (ii) the act was the result of active
and dehbeldte dlshonesty and was materlal to the cause of action 1nv01ved or (iii) it personally 5&1116(1 in fact a financial i income

-l-lquidafe—rts—bﬂs-mess—U S Fedelal Income Tax Rlsks Fallme to quahfy asa REIT Would materlally dnd adv ersely dﬂect us and
the value of our Cemmen-common Steelestock . We elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code
and the applicable U. S. Treasury regulations, which contain the requirements for qualifying as a REIT, which we refer to in this
Form 10- K as the “ REIT Requirements, ”” beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2008. We believe that we have
been organized and operated in a manner to qualify for taxation as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax purposes commencing
with such year, and we intend to continue operating in such a manner. However, we cannot assure you that we have qualified as
a REIT, or that we will remain qualified as such in the future. If we lose our REIT status, we will face significant tax
consequences that would substantially reduce our cash available for distribution to our stockholders for each of the years
involved because: « we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income ane
,» we would be subject to U. S. federal income tax at the corporate rate +=-, and we could be subject to increased state and local
income taxes; * unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions of the Code, we (and our successor) could
not elect to be taxed as a REIT for four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost; and ¢ for the five
years following re- election of REIT status, upon a taxable disposition of an asset owned as of such re- election, we would be
subject to corporate level tax with respect to any built- in gain inherent in such asset at the time of re- election. Any such
corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce our cash available for, among other things, our operations and
distributions to stockholders. In addition, if we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will not be required to make distributions to our
stockholders. If this occurs, we may need to borrow funds or liquidate some of our properties in order to pay any applicable
taxes. As a result of all these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT also could impair our ability to execute our growth strategy
and r"u%e Capltal and Could matenally and ddversely affect the tladmg prlce of our Geﬂ‘rfﬁeﬂ—common -Steei&Qtta-h—ﬂe&t—teﬂ—&s—a

quahhed asa REIT for U. S federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax 11ab111tle§ that reduce our cash flow

and our ability to make dlstrlbunons to our stockholders. Even if we fem&m—qua-h—ﬁed-&s—a—RE{%feﬁU—S—feéefal—meeﬁ&e—ta*

pfepeﬁy—Fefe*&mp-}e—‘—Iﬂ—efdeihte-quahfy asa REIT we mﬁst—d-tsfﬂbﬂfe—&ﬁﬂuaﬂy—&t—lewe%{ref—may be subject to certaln
U. S. federal, state and local taxes on our REFtaxable-income e




paid-deduetion-and assets etrneteapital-gain)-, including taxes on any and-to-the-extent-that-we-satisfy-the-distribution
requirement but-distribute-undistributed tess-than106-%efeur REHtaxable-income {eomputed-withoutregard-to-the
dividends-patd-deduetion, tax on income from some activities conducted as a result of a foreclosure, and ineluding-state eur

-or ﬂet—e&pi-ta-l—g&rﬂa—local transfer taxes. In addltlon we will beﬂﬂbjm

be subjeet toa4 % nondeductlble excise tax omrif the exeess—e-tlstleh—actual amount that we distribute to our stockholders in
a calendar year is less than a minimum amount specified under the Code. Finally, we could, in certain circumstances, be
required to pay an excise or penalty tax or interest charge (which could be significant in amount) in order to utilize one or
more relief provisions under the Code to maintain our qualification as a REIT and to avoid the imposition of an entity-
level tax. Any of these taxes or interest charges would decrease cash avallable for distribution to ever—t-he—sam—e-ﬁ(a)—t-he

%evel—%*e—h&ve—éﬁﬂet—rﬂeefne—freﬂa—&re—s&}e—e%our stockholders. In addltlon, m order to meet eﬂ&eﬁ the REIT
Requlrements, or to avert the d-rspesﬁ-teﬂ» 1mp051t10n ot =

h a TRS that 1s —rnel-udmg—re&l—estate—er—neﬂ-—rea}
:ub]ect to U. S tedeml&ﬁd— state -rneeﬁ&e-and local

-fer—dlsmbutlon to our stockholders-rts—partners—mel-ud-rﬁg—us— To satlsfy the REIT distribution quunements we may be forced
to take certain actions to raise funds if we have insufficient cash flow which could materially and adversely affect us and the
trading price of our €Commen-common Steekstock . To qualify as a REIT, we generally must distribute to our stockholders at
least 90 % of our REIT taxable income each year, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital
gain, and we will be subject to corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income to the extent that we distribute less
than 100 % of our REIT taxable income each year, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including our
net capital gain. In addition, we will be subject to a 4 % nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions
paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum of 85 % of our ordinary income, 95 % of our capital gain net income and
100 % of our undistributed income from prior years. In order to satisfy these distribution requirements to maintain our REIT
status and avoid the payment of income and excise taxes, we may need to take certain actions to raise funds if we have
insufficient cash flow, such as borrowing funds, raising additional equity capital, selling a portion of our assets or finding
another alternative to make distributions to our stockholders. We may be forced to take those actions even if the then- prevailing
market conditions are not favorable for those actions. This situation could arise from, among other things, differences in timing



between the actual receipt of cash and recognition of income for U. S. federal income tax purposes, or the effect of non-
deductible capital expenditures or other non- deductible expenses, the creation of reserves, or required debt or amortization
payments. Such actions could increase our costs and reduce the value of our Cemmen-common Steelestock . These sources,
however, may not be available on favorable terms or at all. Our access to third- party sources of capital depends on a number of
factors, including the market’ s perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, the market price of our Commen
common Steelestock , and our current and potential future earnings. We cannot assure you that we will have access to such
capital on favorable terms at the desired times, or at all, which may cause us to curtail our investment activities and / or to
dispose of assets at inopportune times, and could materially and adversely affect us and the tradlng prlce of oureeﬁﬁﬁen

make dl§tl’lbut101’lS to %tockholderq at times When it Would be more advantageous to reinvest Cash in our buqlness or-when-we-do
nothave-fundsreadiy-avatablefor-distribation-. Compliance with the REIT distribution Reguirements-requirements may
hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits. The IRS may treat sale- leaseback transactions as loans,
which could jeopardize our REIT status or require us to make an unexpected distribution. We may purchase properties and lease
them back to the sellers of such properties. The IRS may take the position that certain of these sale- leaseback transactions that
we treat as leases are not ““ true leases ” but are, instead, financing arrangements or loans for U. S. federal income tax purposes.
If a sale- leaseback transaction were so re- characterized, we might fail to satisfy the REIT asset tests, the income tests, or
distribution requirements and consequently lose our REIT status effective with the year of re- characterization unless we elect to
make an additional distribution to maintain our REIT status. The primary risk relates to the disallowance of deductions for
depreciation and cost recovery relating to such property, which could affect the calculation of our REIT taxable income and
could cause us to fail the REIT distribution requirement that requires a REIT to distribute at least 90 % of its REIT taxable
income, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and any net capital gain. In this circumstance, we may elect to
distribute an additional dividend of the increased taxable income so as not to fail the REIT distribution test. This distribution
would be paid to all stockholders at the tlme of declaration rather than the %tockholderq that held our shares i in the taxable year
affected by the re- Characterlzatlon Div ab ; xrates-availa

transactions —tax may limit our ablhty to engage in sale transactlons Wh-teh—weu-}eHae-ffeated-as-sa-}es—fer—U—S—fedeﬁrl—rﬂeeme
tax—parpeses-. A REIT’ s net income from prohibited transactions is subject to a 100 % penalty tax. In general, prohibited
transactions are sales or other dispositions of property, other than foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in
the ordinary course of business. Although we do not intend to hold any properties that would be characterized as held for sale to
customers in the ordinary course of our business, unless a sale or disposition qualifies under certain statutory safe harbors, such
characterization is a factual determination and no guarantee can be given that the IRS would agree with our characterization of
our properties or that we will always be able to make use of the available safe harbors. Complying with the REIT Requirements
may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities. The REIT provisions of the Code
substantially limit our ability to hedge our assets and liabilities. Any income from a hedging transaction that we enter into to
manage the risk of interest rate changes with respect to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets, or
from certain terminations of such hedging positions, does not constitute “ gross income ” for purposes of the 75 % or 95 % gross
income tests that apply to REITs, provided that certain identification requirements are met. To the extent that we enter into other
types of hedging transactions or fail to properly identify such transaction as a hedge, the income is likely to be treated as non-
qualifying income for purposes of the 75 % and 95 % gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may be required to limit
our use of advantageous hedging techniques or implement those hedges through a TRS. This could increase the cost of our
hedging activities because any TRS in which we own an interest may be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks
associated with changes in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear. In addition, losses in any TRS in Wthh we own
an interest will generally not provide any tax benefit, except that such losses -8
taxable-ineome-inrthe-TRS-and-may be carried forward and may be deducted against 80 % of future taxable income in the TRS
{subjeet-to-eertathimitations)- Complying with the REIT Requirements may force us to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive
investments. To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, the nature and
diversification of our assets, the sources of our income, and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. In connection with
the Company’ s Internalizatterrinternalization , we were treated as having acquired substantial amounts of goodwill that may
not qualify for the 75 % asset test. Compliance with these limitations, particularly given the goodwill that we acquired in the
Company’ s Internalizatterrinternalization . may hinder our ability to make, and, in certain cases, maintain ownership of
certain attractive investments that might not qualify for the 75 % asset test. If we fail to comply with the REIT asset test
requirements at the end of any calendar quarter, we must correct the failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter




or qualify for certain statutory relief provisions to avoid losing our REIT qualification and suffering adverse tax consequences.
As aresult, we may be required to liquidate or forgo otherwise attractive investments in order to satisfy the asset and income
tests or to qualify under certain statutory relief provisions. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income,
increasing our income tax liability, and reducing amounts available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, we may be
required to make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for
distribution, and may be unable to pursue investments (or, in some cases, forego the sale of such investments) that would be
otherwise advantageous to us in order to satisfy the REIT Requirements. Accordingly, satisfying the REIT Requirements could
materially and adversely affect us. Moreover, if we are compelled to liquidate our investments to meet any of these asset,
income, or distribution tests, or to repay obligations to our lenders, we may be unable to comply with one or more of the REIT
requirements-Requirements appheableto-REHFs-or may be subject to a 100 % tax on any resulting gain if such sales constitute
prohibited transactions. In certain circumstances, we may be liable for certain tax obligations of certain of the members of the
OP. In certain circumstances, we may be liable for tax obligations of certain of the members of the OP. In connection with
certain UPREIT transactions and the Company’ s internalization , we have entered or will enter into tax protection
agreements under which we have agreed to indemnify members of the OP against adverse tax consequences if we were to sell,
convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of our assets in taxable transactions, with specific exceptions and limitations. Pursuant to
the tax protection agreements, we have also agreed to ensure that such members of the OP are allocated minimum amounts of
the OP’ s indebtedness. If we fail to meet our obligations under the tax protection agreements, we may be required to reimburse
those members of the OP for the amount of the tax liabilities they incur, subject to certain limitations. We may enter into
additional tax protection agreements in the future in connection with other UPREIT transactions. Although it may be in our
stockholders’ best interest that we sell a property, it may be economically disadvantageous for us to do so because of these
obligations. In order to limit our exposure to a tax obhgatlon our use of proceeds from any %ales or dl§p0§1t10n§ of certaln
propertle% W111 be hmlted ; ; v y ;

tax hablhtles and attrlbutes of fes-tﬂ-t—lﬁg—ffem—(—l—}
t-he—sa%e—e*eh&ﬂge—tfaﬂsfeﬁeenvey&ﬂee—eﬁnher dtspesmeﬁ—ef—t-he—assets—ef—BRE—t-h&t—entmes. From time to tlme, we or the
OP may aeguired— acquire i-the-other corporations alizatio

pﬂeﬁtﬁ-Febfua-l‘yH@%—&ﬂd—@%—etﬁh or entltles and, in connectlon

hets with respeet-such acquisitions, we may succeed to speeifte-types-ofthe
GP—s—mdebfedﬂess%refdeHe-enab}e—t-he& the historical te-eontinue-to-defer-the-applieableineome-tax attributes and
llablhtle§ asseeiafed—wrt-h—t-he—a-l-}eeaﬁeﬁ—of t-hat—rndebfedﬁess—such entltles For example etana*ﬂﬁum—habﬂ-rﬁy—&ndeﬁ-he

,if we acqulre apprecmted assets from anon- REIT C corporation in a transaction in Wthh the adju%ted tax basl% of the assets in
1ts hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the C corporation, we will be subject to
entity- level tax on any gain recognized in connection with a disposition (such as a taxable sale) of any such assets during the 5-
year period following such acquisition. In addition, in order to qualify as a REIT, we must not have, at the end of any taxable
year, any earnings and profits accumulated in a non- REIT year. As a result, if we acquire a C corporation (including upon a
liquidation of a TRS), we must distribute the corporation’ s earnings and profits accumulated prior to the acquisition
before the end of the taxable year in which we acquire the corporation. We also could be required to pay the acquired
entity’ s unpaid taxes even though such liabilities arose prior to the time we acquired the entity. Because each of Trident
BRE Holdings I, Inc. and Trident BRE Holdings II, Inc. (the “ Blocker Corps ) were taxable as a non- REIT C corporation and
we acquired their appreciated assets in connection with the Company” s fnternalizatien-internalization in transactions (the
Blocker Corp Mergers ) in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands was determined by reference to the adjusted
tax basis of the assets in the hands of each of the Blocker Corps prior to the Blocker Corp Mergers, we will be subject to
corporate income tax on the “ built- in gain ” with respect to the Blocker Corps’ assets at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers
if we dispose of those assets in a taxable transaction within five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers. This built- in gain is
measured by the difference between the value of the Blocker Corps’ assets at the time of the Blocker Corp Mergers and the
adjusted basis in those assets. We estimate this built- in gain to be approximately $ 56. 4 million. The assets of the Blocker
Corps we acquired in the Blocker Corp Mergers are the Blocker Corps’ interests in BRE. When BRE merged into the OP in a
tax- deferred transaction and the Blocker Corps received OP Units, the built- in gain associated with the Blocker Corps’ assets
became represented as part of an intangible asset on our balance sheet. The disposition of that intangible asset in a taxable
transaction within five years following the Blocker Corp Mergers could trigger a corporate income tax on that built- in gain.
The most likely transaction in which that intangible asset is disposed of would be a sale of the OP (or our interest in the OP) in a
taxable transaction. Thus, if the OP (or our interest in the OP) is sold in a taxable transaction within five years following the
Blockel Corp Mergerq we Could incur a corporate 1ncome tax on approxunately $ 56. 4 million of built- in gain. -Beeattse—t-he




sﬂeh—deﬁewﬂey—dﬁﬂdeﬂds—ln addmon to the foregomg, as a reqult of the Blocker Corp Mel gers, we 1nher1ted any hablhty Wlth
respect to unpaid taxes of each of the Blocker Corps for any periods prior to the Blocker Corp Mergers. Changes to the U. S.
federal income tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on us. The rules-deating-with-IRS, the United States Treasury

Department and Congress frequently review U. S. federal income tax %axafmﬂ—&fe—eeﬂsf&ﬁ&yhuﬁdeﬁeiwwhby—pefseﬁs
invelvednthetegistative-legislation , whieh-may-resultin
fewstens—te-regulatlonq and -mtefpfetﬁﬁeﬁs—aﬁd-eh&nges—te—ﬂae—other guldance apphe&&eﬁ—e-ﬁe*ts&ﬁg—taﬁt}es—by—U— We

cannot predict S-
to-whether, when or tn—to What extent new Ry ; g i o :
may-also-be-futare-ehangesinU. S. federal tax laws Iegulanon% m%es—&ﬂd—jﬂdieia-l-aﬁd-adfﬁiﬂisfmﬁve—lnterpletanon% applieable
to-us-and-our— or rulings will business;-the-effeetof which-eannot-be predieted-adopted . Our-Any legislative action may
prospectively or retroactively modify our tax treatment and, therefore, may adversely affect our taxation or our
stockholders . We and-prospeetive-investors-are-urged— urge you to consult with your their-ewn-tax advisers— advisor with
respect to the status of legislative, regulatory ;-or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an
investment in shares-ef-our Commen-Stoekstock . Although REITs generally receive certain tax advantages compared to
entities taxed as “ C ” corporations, it is possible that future legislation would result in a REIT having fewer tax
advantages, and it could become more advantageous for a company that invests in real estate to elect to be treated for U.
S. federal income tax purposes as a “ C ” corporation . Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock The market price
and trading volume of shares of our Cemmenr-common Steelestock may be volatile. The market price of shares of our Commen
common Steekstock may fluctuate. In addition, the trading volume in shares of our Cemmen-common Steelstock , may
fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. Historically, these changes frequently appear to occur without regard to
the operating performance of the affected companies. Hence, the price of our €emmen-common Steekstock could fluctuate
based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with us in particular. If the market price of shares of our Cemmenr-common
Steekestock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares of our Cemmen-common Steekstock at or above
the public offering price. We cannot assure you that the market price of shares of our Commen-common Steelstock will not
fluctuate or decline significantly, including a decline below the public offering price, in the future. Some of the factors that
could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the market price or trading volume of shares of our Cemmenr
common Steelestock include: « actual or anticipated declines in our quarterly operating results or distributions; * actual or
anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies, or speculation in the press or investment community about actual or
anticipated tenant defaults, bankruptcies, or vacancies; * changes in government regulations; ¢ changes in laws affecting REITSs
and related tax matters; ¢ the announcement of new contracts by us or our competitors; ¢ reductions in our FFQ, Core FFO,
AFFO, or earnings estimates; * publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry; ¢ increases in market interest
rates that lead purchasers of shares of our €Cemmen-common Steelestock to demand a higher yield; < future equity issuances, or
the perception that they may occur, including issuances of Commer-common Steelestock upon exercise or vesting of equity
awards or redemption of OP Units; * changes in market valuations of similar companies; * adverse market reaction to any
increased indebtedness we incur in the future; ¢ additions or departures of key management personnel; ¢ actions by institutional
stockholders; ¢ differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts; ¢
changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections; * speculation in the press or investment community; and ¢ the realization
of any of the other risk factors presented herein. In the past, securities class action litigation has eftes-been instituted against
companies following periods of volatility in the price of their common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial
costs and divert our management’ s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our cash flows, our
ability to execute our business strategy, and our ability to make distributions to our steelhetder-stockholders . We may not be
able to make distributions to our stockholders at the times or in the amounts we expect, or at all. We intend to make cash
distributions to our stockholders in amounts such that all or substantially all of our taxable income in each year, subject to
adjustments, is distributed. However, we may not be able to continue to generate sufficient cash flow from our properties to
permit us to make the distributions we expect. Our ability to continue to make distributions in the future may be adversely
affected by the risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to
make or maintain distributions and certain agreements relating to our indebtedness may, under certain circumstances, limit or
eliminate our ability to make distributions to our common stockholders. For instance, our Revolving Credit Facility contains
provisions that restrict us from paying distributions if an event of default exists, other than distributions required to maintain our
REIT status. We can give no assurance that rents from our properties will increase, or that future acquisitions of real properties
or other investments will increase our cash available for distributions to stockholders. In addition, any distributions will be
authorized at the sole discretion of our beard-Board of direeters-Directors , and the form, timing, and amount, if any, will




depend upon a number of factors, including our actual and projected results of operations, FFO, AFFO, liquidity, cash flows and
financial condition, the revenue we actually receive from our properties, our operating expenses, our debt service requirements,
our capital expenditures, prohibitions and other limitations under our financing arrangements, our REIT taxable income, the
annual REIT d1st1 1but10n requlrements appllc"lble law, and such other factors asour beafd—Board of dtfeefefs—Dlrectors deems

dlStl‘lbuthI‘lS we may need to fund the shortage out of working capltdl or borrow to prov 1de funds for such distributions, which
would reduce the amount of proceeds available for real estate investments and increase our future interest costs. Our inability to
make distributions, or to make distributions at expected levels could result in a decredse n tmdlng prlce of our€eﬁﬂeﬂ
common -Sfeelestock. We-tna d ; :

Qem&eﬂ—SGeele Futule oﬁenngs of debt Wthh Would be senior to shcues of our €eﬁmﬁeﬂ—comm0n -S’feekstock upon
liquidation, and / or preferred equity securities that may be senior to shares of our Cemmen-common Steekstock for purposes
of distributions or upon liquidation, may materially and adversely affect the market price of shares of our Commen-common
Steelestock . In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making additional offerings of debt or preferred
equity securities (or causing the OP to issue debt securities). Upon liquidation, holders of our debt securities and preferred stock
and lenders with respect to other borrowings will receive distributions of our available assets prior to our stockholders.
Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences, and privileges
more favorable than those of our commeon stock and may result in dilution to owners of our common stock. Additionally,
future issuances or sales of substantial amounts of shares of our common stock may be at prices below the initial public
offering price of the shares of our Class A Common Stock and may result in further dilution te-ewsers-efin our earnings
and FFO per share and / ot or materially and adversely impact the per share trading price of our Common-common
Steelestock . Our stockholders are not entitled to preemptive rights or other protections against dilution. Our preferred stock, if
issued, could have a preference on liquidating distributions or a preference on distribution payments that could limit our right to
make distributions to our stockholders. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will depend on market
conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, or nature of our future
offerings. Our stockholders bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the per share trading price of our Commen-common
Steelestock . Sales of substantial amounts of our capital stock in the public markets may dilute your voting power and your
ownership interest in us. Our Charter provides that we may issue up to 500, 000, 000 shares of €Cemmen-common Steelestock ,
$ 0. 00025 par value, and 20, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value per share. Moreover, under Maryland law
and as provided in our Charter, a majority of our entire beard-Board of direetors-Directors has the power to amend our Charter
to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of stock or the number of shares of stock of any class or series that we are
authorized to issue without stockholder approval. Future issuances of shares of our €ommen-common Steekstock . securities
convertible or exchangeable into €emmen-common Steelestock , or shares of our preferred stock may dilute the ownership
interest of our common stockholders. Because our decision to issue additional equity or convertible or exchangeable securities in
any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of our future issuances. In addition, we are not required to offer any such securities to existing
stockholders on a preemptive basis. Therefore, it may not be possible for existing stockholders to participate in such future
issuances, which may dilute the existing stockholders’ interests in us. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. There are no
unresolved staff comments . Item 1C. Cybersecurity Our EVP and Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the oversight
of the Company’ s information technology and cybersecurity function, which consists of five employees and is led by our
VP, Information Systems & Solutions. Our VP, Information Systems & Solutions has over 25 years of experience in
information technology leadership, including oversight of information technology general controls and management of
information technology security and cybersecurity programs. The information technology and cybersecurity team also
includes our Director, Information Technology, who has held information technology leadership roles for over 15 years,
including in management of infrastructure, applications, information technology security, and cybersecurity prevention
and education programs. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the evaluation of the policies and
practices developed and implemented by the Company with respect to the risk assessment and risk mitigation of



information technology and cybersecurity matters. The Company has implemented a Computer Security Incident
Response Plan (the “ Incident Response Plan ”) that sets forth the process for identifying, responding to, and recovering
from cybersecurity incidents. We have a dedicated cross- functional Incident Response Team (the “ IRT ) that
participates in annual tabletop exercises and simulations with our external cybersecurity legal counsel to test the
Incident Response Plan as part of our business continuity, incident response, risk assessment, and disaster recovery
planning. The IRT is also responsible for evaluating the level of materiality of any cybersecurity incident in accordance
with the Incident Response Plan and may engage the services of third- party experts to assist in the event of a
cybersecurity incident. To our knowledge, in the last three years we have not experienced a cybersecurity incident that
has had, and we are not aware of any cybersecurity incident that is reasonably likely to have, a material impact on us,
our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. However, as (i) our business involves the storage and
transmission of numerous classes of sensitive and confidential information and proprietary information, including
tenants’ information, private information about our investors and our employees, and financial and strategic
information about us and (ii) we also rely on third- party service providers that have access to such information in
connection with providing necessary information technology and security and other business services to us, we face risks
associated with security breaches through cyber- attacks or cyber- intrusions, malware, computer viruses, attachments
to e- mails, persons inside our organization or persons with access to systems inside our organization, and other
significant disruptions of our IT networks and related systems that could have a material impact on us, our business
strategy, results of operations or financial condition. See “ Risks Related to Our Business and Properties — Security
breaches and other technology disruptions could compromise our information systems and expose us to liability, which
could materially and adversely affect us ” for additional information. In an effort to mitigate the impact of cybersecurity
events, we conduct mandatory information technology and cybersecurity training for all employees upon hire and at
least annually thereafter, and regularly test our employees for information security awareness and adherence to our
information technology and cybersecurity policies, which are reviewed at least annually. We also provide our employees
with access to educational newsletters and articles regarding relevant information technology and cybersecurity matters
on a regular basis. Additionally, we utilize third- party experts to review and test our information technology
infrastructure, including constant monitoring for suspicious activity, routine penetration testing of our networks, and an
annual security assessment of the effectiveness of our informational technology environment to identify potential
vulnerabilities. For example, our VP, Information Systems & Solutions and Director, Information Technology receive
periodic reporting from our managed security service provider and meet regularly to discuss reported activity and
assess any recommendations. The Company also receives a quarterly cyber risk rating from an external enterprise risk
management service provider and our VP, Information Systems & Solutions and Director, Information Technology
meet to discuss the rating and potential enhancements to our cybersecurity program. The cyber risk rating reports are
also shared with the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Our third- party service providers of technology services are
generally required to provide us with system and organization controls (SOC) reports prior to formal engagement and
annually thereafter. The reports are reviewed by our VP, Internal Audit and our VP, Information Systems & Solutions,
or their designee (s), to assess and monitor compliance with cybersecurity best practices. In conjunction with the
operational day- to- day processes discussed above, material risks from cybersecurity threats are identified and assessed
in connection with the Company’ s enterprise risk management process. Our Enterprise Risk Management Committee
(“ ERMC ”), which is overseen by our SVP and General Counsel and is comprised of our senior leadership team and key
functional personnel, meets quarterly to discuss the Company’ s enterprise risks, including cybersecurity risks.
Cybersecurity risks are reviewed in detail and assigned risk ratings on an annual basis. The ERMC also discusses
mitigation efforts, potential enhancements to processes and policies, and key risk indicators for the Company’ s risks,
including cybersecurity risks. The ERMC’ s annual risk assessment is presented to the Board of Directors and the Audit
Committee on an annual basis. In addition to the Company’ s annual ERMC risk assessment, our VP, Information
Systems & Solutions and Director, Information Technology brief the Audit Committee on information technology and
cybersecurity matters at least annually and provide interim updates to the Audit Committee on such matters on a
quarterly basis . [tem 2. Properties. Please refer to Item 1. “ Business ™ of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for information
concerning our properties. [tem 3. Legal Proceedings. From time to time, we are subject to various lawsuits, claims and other
legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently a party to legal proceedings that we
believe would reasonably be expected to have material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of
operations. We are not aware of any material legal proceedings to which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or to which
any of our property is subject, nor are we aware of any such legal proceedings contemplated by government agencies. Item 4.
Mine Safety Disclosures. Not applicable. Part II. Item 5. Market for Registrant’ s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information Our €emmen-common Steekstock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “ BNL. ” Stockholders As of February 4720 , 2623-2024 , there were approximately
527502 holders of record of our €emmen-common Steelestock . However, because many of our shares of common stock are
held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we believe there are considerably more beneficial holders of
our €emmen-common Steekstock than record holders. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds from
Registered Securities Equity Compensation Plan Information The information concerning our Equity Compensation Plan will be
included in the Proxy Statement to be filed relating to our 2623-2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein
by reference. Performance Graph The following graph is a comparison of the cumulative total return of shares of our common
stock, the Russel2666-S & P 500, and the MCSI US REIT Index. The graph assumes that $ 100 was invested on December
31,2646-2018 , in each of shares of our common stock, the Russel2006-S & P 500 and the MCSI US REIT Index, and that all



dividends were reinvested. There can be no assurance that the performance of our shares will continue in line with the same or
similar trends depicted in the graph below. The MCSI US REIT Index is a free float- adjusted market capitalization index that is
comprised of equity REITs. The index is based on MSCI USA Investable Market Index (IMI), its parent index, which captures
large, mid, and small capitalization securities. While funds used in this benchmark typically target institutional investors and
have characteristics that differ from us (including differing fees), we feel that the MCSI US REIT Index is an appropriate and
accepted index for the purpose of evaluating returns on investments in direct real estate funds. December 31, Broadstone Net
Lease 100. 00 H3—36-105 H5-. 25 101. 16 134. 21 92. 93 105. 94 S & P 500 100 . 00 H4-131 . 4615149 155 . 68 7616516
RusseH2600-- 200 +66-. 66-89-37 164 . 66-H1-08 207 . 21 76134-061+53-961422-406-MSCI US REIT Index 100. 00 95-125 .
46-1+26-84 116 . +6-+H1-31 166 . 66-+58-39 125 . 86-+H9-61 142 . 96-87 Prior to our [PO in September 2020 and the listing of our
common stock on the NYSE, we sold shares of common stock in a private offering at a share price established by the committee
of our beard-Board of direetors-Directors comprised of our independent directors (* Independent Directors Committee ™) based
on the net asset value of our portfolio, input from management and third- party consultants, and such other factors the
Independent Directors Committee deemed necessary. Subsequent to our IPO and listing of our common stock on the NYSE, our
share price is determined by market participants. The information in this “ Performance Graph ” section is not “ soliciting
material, ” is not deemed “ filed ” with the SEC, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing. Item 6. [ Reserved ]
Item 7. Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations The following Management’ s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“ MD & A ) is intended to help the reader
understand our results of operations and financial condition. This MD & A is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in
conjunction with, our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
appearing in Item 8. “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data > in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Overview We ew#
are and-- an manage-industrial- focused, diversified net lease real estate investment trust (“ REIT ”) that invests in
primarily srngle tenant comrner01al real estate propertles that are net leased ona long term basrs toa dlver51ﬁed group of
tenants. St e-haveselee H 3 S A
fet&ﬂ—a-nd-efﬁee—pfepef?y—fypes—As of December 31, -292—2—2023 our portfoho 1ncludes 796 h-as—g-rewn—te—&@4—propert1es w1th
797789 properties located in 44 U. S. states and seven propertres located in four Canadian provinces. We focus on investing in
real estate that is operated by creditworthy single tenants in industries characterized by positive business drivers and trends. We
target properties that are an integral part of the tenants’ businesses and are therefore opportunities to secure long- term net
leases. Through long- term net leases, our tenants are able to retain operational control of their strategically important locations,
while allocating their debt and equity capital to fund core business operations rather than real estate ownership. ¢ Diversified
Portfolio. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , our portfolio comprised approximately 39-38 . +-3 million rentable square feet of
operational space, and-was highly diversified based on property type, geography, tenant, and industry, and is-was cross-
diversified within each (e. g., property- type diversification within a geographic concentration): ¢ Property Type: We are
dlversﬁ'ied across -feeused—pﬂmaﬂ-ly—eﬁ—mdustrral healthcare restaurant, and retail -endeffiee-property types based-on-our

3 ors-. Within these sectors, we have meanrngful concentrations in
manufacturrng, drstrlbutron and Warehouse food processing, casual dining, clinical, quick service restaurants, and general
merchandise ;and-flex+researehand-development-. « Geographic Diversification: Our properties are located in 44 U. S. states
and four Canadian provinces, with no single geographic concentration exceeding 9. 7 % of our ABR. » Tenant and Industry
Diversification: Our properties are occupied by 22+-approximately 220 different commercial tenants who operate 2++-208
different brands that are diversified across $5-53 different-differing industries, with no single tenant accounting for more than 4.
8-1 % of our ABR. ¢ Strong In- Place Leases with Significant Remaining Lease Term. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , our
portfolio was approximately 99. 4 % leased with an ABR weighted average remaining lease term of approximately 10. 9-5 years,
excluding renewal options. * Standard Contractual Base Rent Escalation. Approximately 97. 3 % of our leases have contractual
rent escalations, with an ABR weighted average minimum increase of 2. 0 %. * Extensive Tenant Financial Reporting.
Approximately 94-93 . 3-8 % of our tenants, based on ABR, provide financial reporting, of which 85-86 . 8-0 % are required to
provide us with specified financial information on a periodic basis and an additional 7. 8 =5-% of our tenants report financial
statements publicly, either through SEC filings or otherwise. Factors That Impact Our Result of Operations Our results of
operations and financial condition are affected by numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control. Key factors that
typically impact our results of operations and financial condition, include rental rates, property dispositions, lease renewals and
occupancy, investment activity, net lease terms, interest expense, general and administrative expenses, tenant bankruptcies, and
impairments. Rental Rates Our ability to grow rental revenue from our existing portfolio will depend on our ability to realize the
rental escalations built into our leases. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , leases contributing approximately 97. 3 % of our ABR
provided for increases in future ABR annual-baserent, generally ranging from 1. 5 % to 2-3 . 5-0 % annually, with an ABR
weighted average minimum increase of 2. 0 %. Generally, our rent escalators increase rent on specified dates by a fixed
percentage. Approximately 11.6-8 % of our rent escalators are based on an increase in the CPI over a specified period and 2. 7
% of our leases are flat leases, meaning they do not provide for rent increases during their terms. Property Dispositions From
time to time, we strategically dispose of properties, primarily when we believe the risk profile has changed and become
misaligned with our then current risk- adjusted return objectives. The resulting gains or losses on dispositions may materially
impact our operating results, and the recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction
based on fluctuations in asset prices and demand in the real estate market at the time a property is listed for sale. Lease Renewals
and Occupancy As of December 31, 2622-2023 , the ABR weighted average remaining term of our portfolio was approximately
10. 9-5 years, excluding tenant renewal options, and leases for stxfive properties , or 1. 2 % of ABR, will expire during 2623




2024 . Approximately 3 Eess-than4- of the properties in our portfolio are subject to tenant leases without at least one
renewal option. Approximately 56-60 . 4-6 % of our ABR was derived from leases that will expire after 2030, and no more than
13. 6 —2-% of our ABR was derived from leases that expire in any single year prior-up to 2030. The stability of the rental
revenue generated by our properties depends principally on our tenants’ ability to pay rent and our ability to collect rents, renew
expiring leases or re- lease space upon the expiration or other termination of leases, lease currently vacant properties, and
maintain or increase rental rates at our leased properties. To the extent our properties become vacant and are not subject to a
lease, we would forego rental income while remaining responsible for the payment of property taxes and maintaining the
property until it is re- leased, which could negatively impact our operating results. Our portfolio was 99. 4 % occupied as of
December 31, 2622-2023 . Investment Activity Our historical growth in revenues and earnings has been achieved through rent
escalations associated with existing in- place leases, coupled with rental income generated from accretive property investments.
Our ability to grow revenue will depend, to a significant degree, on our ability to identify and complete acquisitions that meet
our investment criteria. Changes in capitalization rates, interest rates, or other factors may impact our acquisition opportunities
in the future. Market conditions may also impact the total returns we can achieve on our investments. Our investment volume
also depends on our ability to access third- party debt and equity financing. Net Lease Terms Substantially all of our leases are
net, pursuant to which our tenant generally is obligated to pay most recurring expenses associated with the leased property
including real estate taxes, insurance, maintenance, and repairs. The remaining leases generally require that we pay some
property expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance, or certain repairs and maintenance. Additionally, we seek to use master
lease structures when possible, pursuant to which we lease multiple properties to a single tenant on an all or none basis. Master
leases strengthen our ability to preserve rental revenue and prevent costs associated with vacancies for underperforming
properties. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , master leases contributed 6769 . 70 % of the ABR associated with multi- site
tenants (448-406 of 675 eur489-properties), and 46-41 . 85 % of our overall ABR ( 489-406 of our 894-796 properties). Interest
Expense We anticipate that we will continue to incur debt to fund future investment activity, which will increase the amount of
interest expense we incur. In addition, although we attempt to limit our total floating- rate debt exposure, changes in the interest
rate environment could either increase or decrease our weighted average interest rate in the future . As of December 31, 2023,
99. 2 % of our debt was fixed, with $ 30 million of interest rate swap notional maturing in the fourth quarter of 2024 .
Any changes to our debt structure or debt financing associated with property investments, could materially influence our
operating results depending on the terms of any such debt. Our current investment grade credit ratings are * BBB’ from S & P
Global Ratings (“ S & P ) and ‘ Baa2’ from Moody’ s Investors Service (“ Moody’ s ”), which allow us to take advantage of
the lower cost of debt. However, a downgrade in our credit rating, or interest rate change due to governmental monetary and tax
policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions, or other factors beyond our control, could also increase
the amount of interest we pay under our debt agreements. General and Administrative Expenses Our general and administrative
expenses primarily consist of employee compensation and related costs, third party legal, accounting, and consulting expenses,
travel and entertainment, and general office expenses. Impact of Inflation Our leases with tenants of our properties are long-
term in nature, with a current weighted average remaining lease term of 10. 9-5 years as of December 31, 2622-2023 . To
mitigate the impact of inflation on our fixed revenue streams, we have implemented limited escalation clauses in our leases. As
of December 31, 2022-2023 , substantially all of our leases had contractual fease-rent escalations, with an anmaal-ABR weighted
average minimum increase of 2. 0 %. A majority of our leases have fixed annual rent increases or periodic escalations over the
term of the lease (e. g., a 10 % increase every five years), and the remaining portion has annual fease-rent escalations based on
increases in the CPI. These lease escalations mitigate the risk of fixed revenue streams in the case of an inflationary economic
environment, and provide increased return in otherwise stable market conditions. As a majority of our portfolio has fixed lease
escalations, we are limited in our same store rental revenue inflation protection. Our focus on single- tenant, net leases also
shelters-usfronrmitigates the potential impact of fluctuations in the cost of services and maintenance as a result of inflation.
For a portion of our portfolio, we have leases that are not fully #rpte—net, and, therefore, we bear certain responsibilities for the
maintenance and structural component replacements (e. g., roof, structure, or parking lot) that may be required in the future,
although the tenants are still required to pay all operating expenses associated with the property (e. g., real estate taxes,
insurance, and maintenance). Inflation and increased costs may have an adverse impact to our tenants and their creditworthiness
if the increase in costs are greater than their increase in revenue. Where we cannot implement a tripte—net lease, we attempt to
limit our exposure to inflation through the use of warranties and other remedies that reduce the likelihood of a significant capital
outlay. Tenant Bankruptcies Adverse economic conditions, particularly those that affect the markets in which our properties are
located, or downturns in our tenants’ industries could impair our tenants’ ability to meet their lease obligations to us and our
ability to renew expiring leases or re- lease space. In particular, the bankruptcy of one or more of our tenants could adversely
affect our ab111ty to collect rents from such tenants and maintain our portfollo s occupancy—We-have-his-teﬂea-l-}y-e*peﬂeneeé

y D &Y s- Impairments We review
10ng lived assets to be held and used for poss1b1e impairment when events or changes in c1rcumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment
exists to the extent the carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use of the long- lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include
expected future operating income, as adjusted for trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other
factors. Significant judgment is made as to if and when impairment should be taken. If our strategy, or one or more of the
assumptions described above, changes in the future, we may have to recognize an impairment. Indications of a tenant’ s inability
to continue as a going concern, changes in our view or strategy relative to a tenant’ s business or industry, or changes in our
long- term hold strategies, could each be indicative of an impairment triggering event. For the year ended December 31, 2622
2023, we recognized $ 5-31 . 5-3 million of impairment due to a change in our long- term hold strategy for three-four properties.




Discussion of our Results of Operations for the year ended December 31, 20242022 compared to the year ended December 31,
2020-2021 was previously filed in our Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 262+-2022 . See Item 7.
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ” under the heading * Results of
Opemtlons — Year Ended December 31, %92—1—2022 Compared to Year Ended year ended December 31, %9%9—2021 As-ef

Yedr Ended December 31, %92—1—2022 Ledse revenues, net Year Ended December 31, Increase / (Decredse) (in thousands) $%
Revenues: Contractual rentdl amounts billed for operating leases $ 388, 073 $ 359, 3 17 $ 308-28 , 756 8 624-$-56-69316- 4-0
% Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease billings on a straight- line basis 27, 154 22, 353 +9-4 , 801 21 8472566
+2- 65 % Write- off of accrued rental income (4, 266) (1, 326) 2, 940 (442884 100. 0 % Variable rental amount earned 2,
277 1,507 96-51 . 2-1 % Earned income from direct financing leases 2, 752 2, 856 25-969-( 53-104 ) (+3 . 8-6 ) % Interest

income from sales- type leases — % Operating expenses billed to tenants 20, 363 19, 779 +%462253+713-3 . 0 % Other
income from real estate transactions 7, 414 3, 069 33-4 | 345 > 100 549-30;-486)-90-. 0 8)-% Adjustment to revenue recognized
for uncollectible rental amounts billed, net ( 937) ( 100) (264837 ) < (100. 0) % Total Lease revenues, net $ 442, 888 $ 407,

513 $382-35 | 375 8 8765246376~ 47 % The increase in Lease revenues, net was primarily due to grewthtrour
recognizing a full year of real-rental revenue for all estate-portfolio-through-aeeretive-property acquisitions made during 262+
and-2022 partially offset by the reductions of revenues associated with property dispositions. During the year ended December
31,2022, we invested $ 907. 2 million, in 87 properties at a weighted average initial cash capitalization rate of 6. 4 %. During
the year ended December 31, 2023, we invested $ 68. 4 million in new property acquisitions and revenue generating
capital expenditures at a weighted average initial cash capitalization rate of 7. 2 %, and we disposed of 14 properties for
net proceeds of $ 195. 0 million at a weighted average cash capitalization rate of 6. 0 %. The increase in lease revenues was
partiatly-offsetby-a-additionally due to an deerease-increase in lease termination fee income, which we classified as other
income from real estate transactions in the table above —During-the-yearended-December3+-, 2022,we-recognized-associated
with the early lease termination and sale of an office property for total proceeds of $ 2-39 . 5 million . The timing and

amount of lease termination income —eempafed-varles from perlod to perlod -$—3§—9—m-rlheﬁ—rrr}ease—tefm-ma&eﬁ—fee—meeme

(Decredse) (in thousands) 3> % Operdtmo expenses: Deprecrdnon and dnlOItlZdthH $ 158, 626 $ 154, 807 $ -1-32—3 819996—$—2—2—
FHH72 .5 % Property and operating expense 22,576 21, 773 § +8;459-3 -3H448-. 6-7 % General and administrative 39, 425
37,375 $ 363666692, 050 5 . 85 % Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 31,274 5, 535 28§ 25,

739 > 100 %98_92_6%9_68-9_ 0 4)_/0 nDD\.«l 1uuua CITTOITU f\;UD Pluy\um TITarTa Ulll\.«llt f\yUD Tot(ll
operating expenses $ 251,901 $ 219, 490 § 2—15—32 , 411 14 129-$4;361-2- 9-8 % The increase in depreciation and amortization

was—due—te—grewﬁh—rn—etﬁeal—esfate—peﬁfehe—durmo the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 was primarily due to properties
acquired in the previous year having a full year’ s worth of depreciation in the current year , offset by net dispositions for
the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase in general and administrative expense for the year ended December 31,
2023 was primarily due to increases of stock- based compensation expense associated with an additional annual grant
during the first quarter of 2023, payroll expense related to general annual merit adjustments, and transaction- related
expenses for investments that did not close during the year. This was partially offset by a decrease in eertairraceelerated
amorttization-directors and officers insurance expense, associated with eertatirtease-terminations-the length of time that has
elapsed since our initial publlc offerlng in 2020 duﬂng—Durlng the year ended December 3 1, %92—1—2023 —as—d-tseussed—rn

-Bufiﬁg—ﬂ%e—ye&r—eﬂded—Beeefﬂ-beH—lﬁ@Q% we recogmzed $ 5—31 5-3 million of impairment on our investments in rental
properties, primarily due to a change in our long- term hold strategy for-three-properties-on Green Valley Medical Center ,
compared to § 28-5 . 2-5 million of impairment during the year ended December 31, 26242022 . The following table presents
the impairment charges for their respective periods: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except number of properties)
Number of properties Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 62, 720 $ 12, 721 $-48;-6684-Fair value 31,446 7, 186 26,396
Impairment charge $ 31,274 $ 5, 535 $28;208-The timing and amount of impairment fluctuates from period to period
depending on the specific facts and circumstances. Other income (expenses) Year Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) (in
thousands) $ % Other income (expenses) Interest income $ $ $ > 100. 0 % Interest expense ( 80, 053) (78, 652) 1 £64-, 401 1
H6)14;-50622-. 78 6-%-Costof-debt-extingtishment308-368)(66)-(16-—3>-"0 Gain on sale of real estate 54, 310 15, 953 43
38,357 > 100 5232436148~ 0 % Income taxes ( 763) (1, 275) ( 512 +5-644-) ( 40 36922~ 16 4}%—@ha—nge—rn—fa—rwa-}ue—ef
ea-meut—l-tabﬂ-tt—y—(é%%%éé%‘)—ﬂ-@@—@-) % Other income (expenses) (1, 681) 5, 696-382 ( 7 625, #52-063 ) >< (100. 0) %

[nterest expense The increase in interest expense reflects an increase in our weighted average cost of our United States Dollar



(“ USD ”) Revolving Credit Facility borrowings eembined-, our only variable rate debt. At December 31, 2023, the one-
month SOFR rate was S. 35 %, compared w1th 4. 36 % at December 31, 2022. This tnereased» increase was offset by
decreased average outstanding borrowings duringth e

%—1—292—1— Since December 31, %92—1—2022 we -mefeased—decreased total outqtandmg borrowmgq by $ 3—34—116 9—0 mllhon to

. excluding approximately-93—5-%isfixed-orhedged-via
ﬁefest—r&tes—sw&ps—aﬁd—therefere-net—subjeet—te-the tmpaet—lmpacts of forelgn exchange remeasurement fluetaations-in

terestrates-. Our recognition of a gain or loss on the sale of real estate varies from transaction to transaction based on
fluctuations in asset prices and demand in the real estate market. During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , we
recogmzed gams of § 54. 3 mllhon on the sale of 14 propertles, compared to galns of $ 16. 0 million on the sale of e1ght

in—etheﬁneeme—dt&mg—ﬂ&e—ye&eeﬁdeﬂaeeembeﬁlﬁeﬁ—was prlmarlly $1. 7 mllhon of unrealized forelgn exchange loss

recognlzed on the remeasurement of our $100 mllhon CAD Revolvmg Credlt Faclhty borrowmgs, compared toa $ 5.6

Income and Net earnmgi per dlluted share Year Ended December 31, Increase / (Decrease) (in thousands, except per qhale data)
$ % Net income $ 163,312 $ 129, 475 § +09-33 , 837 26 528-$49;-947148-. 2-1 % Net earnings per diluted share 0. 83 0. 72 0.
676-11 15 . 3 657+5-% The increase in net income is primarily due to a $ 38. 4 million increase in the gain on sale of real

estate, together with revenue growth of $ 24-35 . 6-4 million -tegether-with-a-$-22—7-million-deerease-in-the-provistonfor
tmpairment-. These factors were partially offset by a § 22-25 . 7 million increase in depreetation-and-amertization-the provision

for impairment of investment in rental properties and a $ +4-7 . 5-1 million inerease-decrease in interest-other income (
expense-expenses ) . GAAP net income includes items such as gain or loss on sale of real estate and provisions for impairment,
among others, which can vary from quarter to quarter and impact period- over- period comparisons. Liquidity and Capital
Resources We acquire vestirreal estate using a combination of debt and equity capital and with cash from operations that is
not otherwise distributed to our stockholders , and proceeds from dispositions of real estate properties . Our focus is on
maximizing the risk- adjusted return to our stockholders through an appropriate balance of debt and equity in our capital
structure. We are committed to maintaining an investment grade balance sheet through active management of our leverage
profile and overall liquidity position. We believe our leverage strategy has allowed us to take advantage of the lower cost of debt
while simultaneously strengthening our balance sheet, as evidenced by our current mve%tment grade c1ed1t ratmgs of BBB’
from S &P and * BaaZ’ from Moody s. We age{ rEe-a-Fa Ne b Ad

mamtam ona iuqtamed bagls a Leverage Net—Bebt—teAﬂnuahzedﬁdjﬁsted—EB{:PBﬁfe—raﬁe-Ratm that is generally les@ than 6.
0x. As of December 31, 2622-2023 , we had total debt outstanding and Net Debt of § 2-1 . 8-9 billion each, and a Leverage Net

-Bebt—te%ﬂﬂua-l-rzed—Adjusted—EB{%BAfe—ratm-Ratm of 5. 2%0x . Net Debt and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre are non-
GAAP financial measures, and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre is calculated based upon EBITDA, EBITDAre, and Adjusted
EBITDAre, each of which is also a non- GAAP financial measure. Refer to Non- GAAP Measures below for further details
concerning our calculation of non- GAAP measures and reconciliations to the comparable GAAP measure. Liquidity / REIT
Requirements Liquidity is a measure of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including our ongoing commitments to
repay debt, fund our operations, acquire properties, make distributions to our stockholders, and other general business needs. As
a REIT, we are required to distribute to our stockholders at least 90 % of our REIT taxable income determined without regard to
the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital ga#rgains , on an annual basis. As a result, it is unlikely that we will be
able to retain substantial cash balances to meet our long- term liquidity needs, including repayment of debt and the acquisition of
additional properties, from our annual taxable income. Instead, we expect to meet our long- term liquidity needs primarily by
relying upon external sources of capital and proceeds from selective property dispositions . Short- term Liquidity
Requirements Our short- term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for our operating expenses,
including our general and administrative expenses as well as interest payments on our outstanding debt, to pay distributions, ané
to fund our acquisitions that are under control or expected to close within a short time period , and to pay for commitments to
fund development opportunities, tenant improvements, and revenue generating capital expenditures . We-Under leases
where we are required to bear the cost of structural repairs and replacements, we do not currently anticipate making
significant capital expenditures or incurring other significant property costs, including as a result of inflationary pressures in the
current economic environment, because of the strong occupancy levels across our portfolio and the net lease nature of our
leases. We expect to meet our short- term liquidity requirements primarily from cash and cash equivalents balances ;and net
cash provided by operating activities, supplemented by borrowmgq under our Revolvmg Credit F ac111ty and capltal recycled
through selective property dispositions. We inten ofd 7
eapital—We-use cash on hand and borrowings under our Revolvmg Credit F ac1hty to 1mt1a11y fund acqumtloni which are
subsequently repaid or replaced with proceeds from our equity and debt capital markets activities as well as proceeds from
dispositions and-eash-flows-irexeess-ofdistributions-. As detailed in the contractual obligations table below, we have
approximately $ 87214 . 5-1 million of expected obligations due throughout 2623-2024 , primarily consisting of $ 118. 7 -6
million of mertgage-maturities-commitments to fund investments . and-5 79-55. 9 million of dividends declared, $ 37 . 2




million of interest expense due, ineludingthetmpaet-and $ 2. 3 million of mortgage amortization etr-interestrate-swaps- We

expect our cash provided by operating activities, as discussed below, will be sufficient to pay for our current obligations
including interest and mortgage amortization e*peﬁse—en—etuebeﬁewmgs— We expect to eithertepay—- pay for commitments
to fund investments h-avatlable-eash-on-han generated-from-ourresults-ef operations-or-our
borrowings-under-dividends declared usmg our Revolvmg Credlt Facility . As of December 31 , 2023, we have $ 909. 6
million of available capacity under er-our refinanee-Revolving Credit Facility with pfepeﬁy-—}evel-befrewmgs—sufﬁclent
leverage capacity to remain within our targeted leverage profile . Long- term Liquidity Requirements Our long- term
liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to repay debt and invest in additional revenue generating properties.
We expect to source debt capital from unsecured term loans from commercial banks, revolving credit facilities, private
placement senior unsecured notes, and public bond offerings. The source and mix of our debt capital in the future will be
impacted by market conditions as well as our continued focus on lengthening our debt maturity profile to better align with our
portfolio’ s long- term leases, staggering debt maturities to reduce the risk that a significant amount of debt will mature in any
qlngle year in the future and managmg our expoeure to 1ntere§t rate risk. We As-efDeeember 31,2022, we-have $8627
v ; volving aetlity-no material debt maturities until 2026, as detailed in the

table below . We expect to meet our long term hquldlty requirements primarily from borrowings under our Revolving Credit
Facility, future debt and equity financings, and proceeds from seleettve-limited sales of our properties. Our ability to access
these capital sources may be impacted by unfavorable market conditions, particularly in the debt and equity capital markets, that
are outside of our control. In addition, our success will depend on our operating performance, our borrowing restrictions, our
degree of leverage, and other factors. Our acquisition growth strategy significantly depends on our ability to obtain acquisition
financing on favorable terms. We seek to reduce the risk that long- term debt capital may be unavailable to us by strengthening
our balance sheet by investing in real estate with creditworthy tenants and lease guarantors, and by maintaining an appropriate
mix of debt and equity capitalization. We also, from time to time, obtain or assume non- recourse mortgage financing from
banks and insurance compamei secured by mortgageq on the correspondmg specific property subject to limitations imposed

Mortgages;howevera g : our eapitat-straetare-Revolving Credit
Faclllty covenants and our 1nvestment grade credlt ratlng Equlty C apltal Reqource% Our equity capital is primarily
provided through our at- the- market common equity offering program (“ ATM Program ), as well as follow- on equity
offerings. Under the terms of our ATM Program we may, from time to time, publicly offer and sell shares of our common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $ 400 million. The ATM Program provides for forward sale agreements, enabling
us to set the price of shares upon pricing the offering while delaying the issuance of shares and the receipt of the net proceeds.
As-of We did not raise any equity on our ATM Program during the twelve months ended December 31, 2022-2023 |, we
and have approximately $ 145. 4 million of available capacity under-etrremaining on the ATM Program as of December 31,
2023 . The following table presents information about our ATM Program activity: For the Year Ended December 31, (in
thousands, except per share amounts) Number of common shares issued — 10, 471 1, 072 Weighted average sale price per share
$ — $ 21. 66 $ 26. 26 Net proceed% $ — $ 222,895 $ 27, 300 Gross proceed% $—3$ 22( 483 $ 28, 100 -I-ﬂ—A:ugtlSt%@Q%—we

mitionand $-0—6-mitltemrinetherexpenses—Our public offermge have been u%ed to repay debt, fund acquisitions, and f01 other
general corporate purposes. As we continue to invest in accretive real estate properties, we expect to balance our debt and equity
capitalization, while malntalnlng a Leverage Net—BebHe%nﬂtt&h*zed%dwsfed—E—BFPBAre—r&ﬁe—Ratlo below 6. 0x on a
sustained basis yh § e he N grarm-. Unsecured Indebtedness and
Capital Markets ACthltleS as of and for the Year Ended December 31, %92—2—2023 The followmg table sets forth our outstanding
Revolving Credit Facility, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes at December 31, 2622-2023 . (in thousands, except
interest rates) Outstanding Balance InterestRate MaturityDateRevolving M&Fﬂﬂ?y‘B&teHnseeﬁfed-reve-}ﬂﬁg-eredﬁ—Credlt
faetlity-Facility S $97-90 , 322-434 Applicable reference rate 0. 85 % (a) Mar. 2026 (d) 2626Unseenred—--- Unsecured term
loans: 2026 Unsecured Term Loan 400, 000 one- month HH BOR-adjusted SOFR 1. 00 % (b) (¢) Feb. 20262027 Unsecured
Term Loan 200, 000 one- month adjusted SOFR 0. 95 % (¢) Aug. 20272029 Unsecured Term Loan 300, 000 one- month
adjusted SOFR 1. 25 % (€) Aug. 2029Total unsecured term loans 900, 000 Unamortized debt issuance costs, net (4, 053)
Total unsecured term loans, net 895, 947 Senior unsecured notes: 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A 150, 000 4. 84 %
Apr. 20272028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B 225, 000 5. 09 % Jul. 20282030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C 100, 000
5. 19 % Jul. 20302031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes 375, 000 2. 60 % Sep. 2031Total senior unsecured notes 850, 000
Unamortized debt issuance costs and original issuance discount, net (4, 691) Total senior unsecured notes, net 845, 309
Total unsecured debt $ 1, 947831 , 322-OnJanuary28-690 (a) At December 31 , 2022-2023 | sve-amended-and-restated-the
balance includes $ 100 million CAD borrowings remeasured to $ 75. 4 million USD, and was subject to the one- month
Canadian Dollar Offered Rate of 5. 46 %. (b) Effective July 1, 2023, the loan converted into a one- month SOFR
borrowing concurrent with LIBOR' s cessation. (c) At December 31, 2023, one- month SOFR was 5. 35 %. (d) Our
Revolving Credit Facility contains s-upsizing-the-eapaeity-to-two six- month extension options subject to certain conditions,
including the payment of an extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. Our Revolving Credit
Facility has a $ | . 0 billion and-extendingits-capacity with a maturity date te-of March 2026 and contains two six- month
extension options, subject to certain conditions, including an extension fee equal to 0. 0625 % . [n addition to United States
Dollars (“ USD ”), borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility can be made in Pound Sterling, Euros or Canadian Dollars (*
CAD ”) up to an aggregate amount of $ 500. 0 million. Borrowings under the amended credit facility are subject to interest only
payments at variable rates equal to the applicable reference rate plus a margin of 0. 85 % based on our current credit ratings of




BBB’ and * Baa2’ from S & P and Moody’ s, respectively. In addition, the amended-Revolving eredit-Credit faetity-Facility is
subject to a facility fee on the amount of the revolving commitments, based on our credit rating. The applicable facility fee is 0.
20 % per annum. 2026 Unsecured Term Loan Borrowings under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan are iubject to interest at
variable rates based on EHBOR-one- month adjusted SOFR plus a margm based on our credit rating ranglng between 0. 85 %
and 1 65 % based on our Cledlt ratlng A SHT-W - o

G v he— 2029 Un%ecured Term Loan i)—Beﬂﬁewrngs—eﬂ
t-he—ﬂew—teﬂﬁ—}eaﬂs—bear 1ntere§t at Vanable rates based on one- month ad}u%ted SOFR plus a margin based on our credit rating

ranging between 0. 80 % and 1. 60 % per annum for the 2027 Un@eeured Telm Loan, and 1. 15 % and 2 20 % per annum for
the 2029 Un@eeured Term Loan A eab 5 .

Rsee ermoan y 2027 Semor Un@eeured Notes Serle% A The 2027 Senior
Un@eeured Notes- Serle% A are payable interest only iemlannually during their term, bear interest at a fixed rate of 4. 84 % per
annum, and mature in April 2027. 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C The
2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C are payable interest only semiannually
during their term, and bear interest at fixed rates of 5. 09 % per annum and 5. 19 % per annum, respectively. Series B Notes
mature in July 2028, and the Series C Notes mature in July 2030. 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes Borrowings under the
2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes are subject to interest only, semi- annual payments at a fixed rate of 2. 60 % per annum
and mature in September 203 1. Debt Covenants We are subject to various covenants and financial reporting requirements
pursuant to our debt facilities, which are summarized below. As of December 31, 28222023 , we believe we were in
compliance with all of our covenants on all outstanding borrowings. In the event of default, either through default on payments
or breach of covenants, we may be restricted from paying dividends to our stockholders in excess of dividends required to
maintain our REIT qualification. For each of the previous three years, we paid dividends out of our cash flows from operations

in excess of the distribution amount@ requlred to mamtaln our REIT quahﬁcatlon Geveﬂ&nfs—Req&rfefﬁeﬂt—]:evemge—R&&e—ée—

fe—l—GGSeeufed—Bebt—R&ﬁe—éG—‘l-G—te—l—%Geﬂtfaeﬁt&l* Contractual Obhgatlom The followmg table pr0V1de§ 1nformat10n
with respect to our contractual commitments and obligations as of December 31, 26222023 (in thousands). Refer to the
discussion in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section above for further discussion over our short and long- term obligations.
Year ofMaturity Fermteans-Revolving Credit Facility (4-a ) SenterNetes-Mortgages Term Loans Senior Notes
IntelegtExpenqe ( b) D1v1dends (c) Commltments to Fund Investments (d) Total $ —$ 2 , 260

v W g at-b — & — $ 37,241 $ 55, 906$118 728 $ 214,135 — 20,195 —
— 93 301 —2,000 115 496 90, 434 16 843 400 000 — 96, 933 — — 604, 210 — 1, 596 200, 000 150, 000 51, 009 — —
402, 605 — 38, 278 — 225, 000 71 620 — — 334, 898 Thereafter — —300, 000 475 000 46, 712 — — 821, 712 Total $ -7’-
90, 582—434 $ 79, 172

64—255—3—462—1—1—(—)5—995—'13&&% 900, 000 $ -1-9—7—32—2—$—850 000 $ 396, 86—816 —754—$ 492—55 599—906 $ 120-$é— 42—2—728
$ 2, 442—493 -154—056 (-l—a ) Our eﬂ—}&ﬂuaw—zs—ze%z—we—&meﬁded—&ﬂd-res{ﬂted—ﬂ&e—Revolvmg Credit Facility yextending-its

y ontains two six- month extension options subject to certain conditions,
1nclud1ng the payment of an extenqlon fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. ( 2-b ) Interest expense is projected
based on the outstanding borrowings and interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2622-2023 . This amount includes the
impact of interest rate swap agreements. ( 3-¢ ) Amounts include dividends declared as We-expeetto-pay-tenantimprovement
allowanees-outof eash-flowsfromoperations-December 31, 2023 of $ 0. 285 per common share and OP Unit. Future
undeclared dividends have been excluded. (d) Amounts include acquisitions under control, defined as under contract or
fromradditional-borrowings-executed letter of intent, and commitments to fund revenue generating capital expenditures
and development opportunities . At December 31, 2622-2023 and-202+4-, investment in rental property of § +43-120 . 3-5
million and-$1+6+-—-6-million;respeetively, was pledged as collateral against our mortgages. Additionally, we are a party to two
separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of two distinct UPREIT transactions and a third tax
protection agreement entered into in connection with the nternalizatior-internalization of our management in February
2020 . The tax protection agreements require us to indemnify the beneficiaries in the event of a sale, exchange, transfer, or other
disposal of the contributed property, and in the case of the tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the
Company’ s Internalization-internalization , the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would cause such beneficiaries to
recognize a gain that is protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. Based on values as of December 31, 2622
2023 , taxable sales of the applicable properties would trigger liability under the three agreements of approximately $ 20. 4
million. Based on information available, we do not believe that the events resulting in damages-liability as detailed above have
occurred or are likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordmgly, we have excluded the%e commitments from the
contractual Commltmenti table above H $8;W . A s-types-ot-eommittiten

Hedglng Aemvme% We are exposed to interest rate risk arising ﬁom changes in interest rates on the ﬂoatmg rate borrowmgq



under our unsecured credit facilities and-a-eertairmertgage-. Borrowings pursuant to our unsecured credit facilities bear interest
at floating rates based on SOFR or CDOR the-applieablerefereneerate-plus an applicable margin. Accordingly, fluctuations in
market interest rates may increase or decrease our interest expense, which will in turn, increase or decrease our net income and
cash flow. We attempt to manage eut-the interest rate risk on variable rate borrowings by entering into interest rate swaps. As
of December 31, 26222023 , we had 32 interest rate swaps outstanding #a-with an aggregate notional amount of $ 973-975 . 84
million. Under these agreements, we receive monthly payments from the counterparties equal to the related variable interest
rates multiplied by the outstanding notional amounts. In turn, we pay the counterparties each month an amount equal to a fixed
interest rate multiplied by the related outstanding notional amounts. The intended net impact of these transactions is that we pay
a fixed interest rate on our variable- rate borrowings. The interest rate swaps have been designated by us as cash flow hedges for
accounting purposes and are reported at fair value. We assess, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness of our
qualifying cash flow hedges. We have not entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for
speculative purposes. In addition, we own investments in Canada, and as a result are subject to risk from the effects of exchange
rate movements in the Canadian dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows. We funded a significant portion of our
Canadian investments through Canadian dollar borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, which is intended to act as a
natural hedge against our Canadian dollar investments. The Canadian dollar revetving-Revolving Credit Facility borrowings
are remeasured each reporting period, with the unrealized foreign currency gains and losses flowing through earnings. These
unrealized foreign currency gains and losses do not impact our cash flows from operations until settled, and are expected to
directly offset the changes in the value of our net investments as a result of changes in the Canadian dollar. Our Canadian
investments are recorded at their historical exchange rates, and therefore are not impacted by changes in the value of the
Canadian dollar. Cash Flows Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash totaled $ 20. 6 million, $ 60. 0 million, and $ 27. 8
mihen-and-$HO0-—Fmillion at December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;and2626-, respectively. The table below shows
information concerning cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;-and-2626-: For the Year Ended
December 31, (in thousands) Net cash provided by operating activities $ 271, 074 $ 255, 914 § 244, 937 $379,-028 Neteash
used—m—mesﬁng—aeﬁ%ﬁes—f-%—%)—é%@%—(é@—}}@%et cash provided by (used in) investing activities 24, 338 (859, 643)
(582, 304) Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (334, 820) 636, 000 254, 408 ( 28;3F5) Inerease(deerease
Decrease ) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (39, 408) $ 32, 271 $ (82, 959) $96;44FThe increase in
net cash provided by operating activities during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-262+-was mainly due to
growth in our real estate portfolio and associated incremental net lease revenues . The increase in net cash used-n-provided
by investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624+-was mainly due to increased aequisition
disposition volume. The increase in net cash used in investing activities in 26242022 as compared to 2626-2021 was alse
driven by an increase in investing activities. The decrease in net cash (used in) provided by financing activities during the
year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022, malnly reflects a decrease in eash-paid
our total outstanding borrowings in 2023 eenneetion-with-the-Internalization-. The increase in net cash provided by €used-ny
financing activities durlng the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, mainly
reflects an 1ncrease in net proceeds from equrty and debt offerings in 2022 to fund growth n our real estate portfoho Fhe-change

peft-fehe—F F 0, Core F FO, and AFFO We compute Funds From Operatlons (“ FF O ”) in accordance Wrth the standards
established by the Board of Governors of Nareit, the worldwide representative voice for REITs and publicly traded real estate
companies with an interest in the U. S. real estate and capital markets. Nareit defines FFO as GAAP net income or loss adjusted
to exclude net gains (losses) from sales of certain depreciated real estate assets, depreciation and amortization expense from real
estate assets, gains-andHosses-fromehange-tneentroh-and impairment charges related to certain prevrously depreciated real
estate assets. FFO is used by management, investors, and analysts to facilitate meaningful comparisons of operating
performance between periods and among our peers, primarily because it excludes the effect of real estate depreciation and
amortization and net gains (losses) on sales, which are based on historical costs and implicitly assume that the value of real
estate diminishes predictably over time, rather than fluctuating based on existing market conditions. We compute Core Funds
From Operations (“ Core FFO ) by adjusting FFO, as defined by Nareit, to exclude certain GAAP income and expense
amounts that we believe are infrequently recurring, unusual in nature, or not related to its core real estate operations, including
write- offs or recoveries of accrued rental income, lease termination fees, ron—eash-gains— gain on insurance recoveries, the
change in fair value of our earnout liability, cost of debt extinguishments, unrealized and realized gains or losses on foreign
currency transactions, severance and executive transition costs , and other extraordinary items. Exclusion of these items from
similar FFO- type metrics is common within the equity REIT industry, and management believes that presentation of Core FFO
provides investors with a metric to assist in their evaluation of our operating performance across multiple periods and in
comparison to the operating performance of our peers, because it removes the effect of unusual items that are not expected to
impact our operating performance on an ongoing basis. We compute Adjusted Funds From Operations (“ AFFO ”) , by
adjusting Core FFO for certain non- cash revenues and expenses, including straight- line rents, amortization of lease intangibles,
adjustment to provision for credit losses, amortization of debt issuance costs, amortization of net mortgage premiums, (gain)

loss fgatm-on interest rate swaps and other non- cash interest expense, deferred taxes realized-gains-orlosses-onforeign
enrreney-transaetions-, stock- based compensation —sever&nee—extr&erdtnary—l-tems— and other specified non- cash items. We

believe that excluding such items assists management and investors in distinguishing whether changes in our operations are due
to growth or decline of operations at our properties or from other factors. We use AFFO as a measure of our performance when
we formulate corporate goals, and is a factor in determining management compensation. We believe that AFFO is a useful
supplemental measure for investors to consider because it will help them to better assess our operating performance without the



distortions created by non- cash revenues or expenses. Specific to our adjustment for straight- line rents, our leases include cash
rents that increase over the term of the lease to compensate us for anticipated increases in market rental rates over time. Our
leases do not include significant front- loading or back- loading of payments, or significant rent- free periods. Therefore, we find
1t useful to evaluate rent on a contractual basis as it allows for comparison of ex1st1ng rental rates to market rental rates.

payﬁeﬁs—é&neftmpaeﬁﬂFFG—F FO, Core F F O, and AF FO may not be comparable to sunllarly tltled measures employed
by other REITSs, and comparisons of our FFO, Core FFO, and AFFO with the same or similar measures disclosed by other

REITs may not be meaningful. Neither the SEC nor any other regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the
adjustments to FFO that we use to calculate Core FFO and AFFO. In the future, the SEC, Nareit or another regulatory body may
decide to standardize the allowable adjustments across the REIT industry and in response to such standardization we may have
to adjust our calculation and characterization of Core FFO and AFFO accordingly. The following table reconciles net income
(which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to FFO, Core FFO and AFFO: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands,
except per share data) Net income $ 163,312 $ 129, 475 $ 109, 528 $-56;276-Real property depreciation and amortization 158,
346 154, 673 131, 999 432:-643-Gain on sale of real estate ( 54, 310) ( 15, 953) (13, 523 334;985-) Provision for impairment on
investment in rental properties 31, 274 5, 535 28, 208 $49:-077-FFO $ 298, 622 $ 273, 730 $ 256, 212 Net $192-98 - Weite-write
- off-offs of accrued rental income 4, 458 1, 326 1, 938 472351 ease termination fee-fees (7, 500) (2, 469) (35, 000) —Gain on
insurance recoveries — (341) Cost of debt extlngulshment Severance and executive transition costs 1, 622 1, 304
Change in fair value of earnout liability — — 5, 539 Other expenses ( income) (a) 1, 678 SGG}O&WGmeeﬁte)-e*penses—(S
690 Ha-) Core FFO $ 298, 883 $ 267, 265 $ 230, 423 $495:-934-Straight- line rent adJustment (26,736) (21,900) (20, 304y
24-066-) Adjustment to provision for credit losses ( 10) (5) (38 3+448-) Amortization of debt issuance costs 3 938 3, 692 3,
854 3;445-Amortization of net mortgage premiums ( 78) ( 104) (132) (42)-Loss fgair)-on interest rate swaps and other non-
cash interest expense 1, 884 2, 514 (466)-Amortization of lease intangibles ( 5, 846) (4, 809) (3, 208 HH+H8-) Stock- based
compensatlon 5,972 5,316 4, 669 5989-Deferred taxes (282) — —Internalization-expenses——3,705-Capital

AFFO $277,725 $ 252, 173 § 215, 962 $3484-695+(a) Amount includes $ 1. 7 million, ($
5. 6 ) million, and ($ 0. 1) milhon of unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively . primarily associated with our €AB-Canadian dollar denominated revelving-Revolver Credit
Facility borrowings. EBITDA, EBITDAre, Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre We compute EBITDA as
earnings before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure commonly used in our industry.
We believe that this ratio provides investors and analysts with a measure of our performance that includes our operating results
unaffected by the differences in capital structures, capital investment cycles and useful life of related assets compared to other
companies in our industry. We compute EBITDAre in accordance with the definition adopted by Nareit, as EBITDA excluding
gains (losses) from the sales of depreciable property and provisions for impairment on investment in real estate. We believe
EBITDA and EBITDAre are useful to investors and analysts because they provide important supplemental information about
our operating performance exclusive of certain non- cash and other costs. EBITDA and EBITDAre are not measures of financial
performance under GAAP, and our EBITDA and EBITDAre may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies. You should not consider our EBITDA and EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating
activities determined in accordance with GAAP. We are focused on a disciplined and targeted aeguisitiorrinvestment strategy,
together with active asset management that includes selective sales of properties. We manage our leverage profile using a ratio
of Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, each discussed further below, which we believe is a useful measure of our
ability to repay debt and a relative measure of leverage, and is used in communications with our lenders and rating agencies
regarding our credit rating. As we fund new aequisttions-investments using our unsecured Revolving Credit Facility, our
leverage profile and Net Debt will be immediately impacted by current quarter aequisttions-investments . However, the full
benefit of EBITDAre from newly—-- new investments aeguired-properties-will not be received in the same quarter in which the
properties are acquired. Additionally, EBITDAre for the quarter includes amounts generated by properties that have been sold
during the quarter. Accordingly, the variability in EBITDAre caused by the timing of our aeguisittons-investments and
dispositions can temporarily distort our leverage ratios. We adjust EBITDAre (“ Adjusted EBITDAre ) for the most recently
completed quarter (i) to recalculate as if all aequisttions-investments and dispositions had occurred at the beginning of the
quarter, (ii) to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that are either non- cash, such as cost of debt
extinguishments, realized or unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions, or gains on insurance recoveries the
ehange-in-fair-vatue-of ourearnouttability-, or that we believe are one time, or unusual in nature because they relate to unique
circumstances or transactions that had not previously occurred and which we do not anticipate occurring in the future, and (iii) to
eliminate the impact of lease termination fees and other items that are not a result of normal operations . While investments in
property developments have an immediate impact to Net Debt, we do not make an adjustment to EBITDAre until the
quarter in which the lease commences . We then annualize quarterly Adjusted EBITDAre by multiplying it by four (**
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre ). You should not unduly rely on this measure as it is based on assumptions and estimates that
may prove to be inaccurate. Our actual reported EBITDAre for future periods may be significantly different from our
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre. Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre are not measurements of
performance under GAAP, and our Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures of other companies. You should not consider our Adjusted EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted
EBITDAre as alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP. The
following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to EBITDA, EBITDAre, and Adjusted




EBITDAre. Information is also presented with respect to Annualized EBITDAre and Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre: For the
Three Months Ended December 31, (in thousands) Net income $ 6, 797 $ 36, 773 $ 32, 226 $37-619-Depreciation and
amortization 39, 278 45, 606 33, 476 38;482-Interest expense 18,972 23, 773 16, 997 +H423-Income taxes (444268 )
EBITDA $ 64,779 $ 106, 257 $ 83, 156 $-64:783-Provision for impairment of investment in rental properties 29, 801 — +-678
Gain on sale of real estate ( 6,270) (10, 625) (3, 732) 5;260>-EBITDArc $ 88,310 $ 95, 632 $ 79, 631 $-6526+-Adjustment
for current quarter acquisition activity (+a) 1, 283 2, 002 +;-93-Adjustment for current quarter disposition activity ( 2-b) (156 )
(440) (180 -)-63—1—8—) Adjustment to exclude non- recurrlng expenses (income) (3-¢ ) — — Adjustment to exclude net ehange-in

; e-write- off-offs of accrued rental income 4, 161 — —
Adjustment to exclude gain on insurance recoveries — (341) Adjustment to exclude realized / unrealized foreign
exchange loss —1, 453 — Adjustment to exclude cost of debt extinguishments — — Adjustment to exclude lease termination
fees — (1, 678) —— Adjusted EBITDAre § 94, 049 $ 95, 329 $ 81, 453 $-69;76-Annualized EBITDAre $ 353, 240 $ 382,
528 § 318, 526 $244;-865-Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre $ 376,196 $ 381, 316 § 325, 812 $278;-867( +-a ) Reflects an
adjustment to give effect to all aequisttions-investments during the quarter as if they had been aegquired-made as of the
beginning of the quarter. ( 2-b ) Reflects an adjustment to give effect to all dispositions during the quarter as if they had been
sold as of the beginning of the quarter. ( 3-¢ ) Amounts representexpense-direetly-assoetated-withrinclude $ 0. 2 million of
employee severance and ($ 0. 1) million of forfeited stock- based compensation for the the-three Internalizattonrmonths
ended December 31, 2023 . Net Debt, Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre
We define Net Debt as gross debt (total reported debt plus debt issuance costs) less cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash. We believe that the presentation of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre
is useful to investors and analysts because these ratios provide information about gross debt less cash and cash equivalents,
which could be used to repay debt, compared to our performance as measured using EBITDAre, and is used in communications
with lenders and rating agencies regarding our credit rating. The following table reconciles total debt (which is the most
comparable GAAP measure) to Net Debt, and presents the ratio of Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre and Net Debt to
Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre, respectively: As of December 31, (in thousands) Debt Unseenredrevolving-Revolving eredit
Credit faetlity-Facility $ 90, 434 $ 197, 322 $402,-8000-Unsccured term loans, net 895, 947 894, 692 646;-67+Senior unsecured
notes, net 845, 309 844, 555 843:-864+-Mortgages, net 79, 068 86, 602 96:-846-Debt issuance costs 8, 848 10, 905 9;-842-Gross
Debt 1,919, 606 2, 034, 076 ,699;360-Cash and cash equivalents ( 19, 494) (21, 789 H24-669-) Restricted cash (1, 138) (
38,251 H6;34066-) Net Debt § 1, 898, 974 -036-5 1, 674974 , 394036 Net Debt to Annualized EBITDAre 5. 4x 5. 2x 5-3%Net
Debt to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre 5. 0x 5. 2x S—xCritical Accounting Policies and Estimates The preparation of our
consolidated financial statements in conformance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses as well as other disclosures in the financial statements.
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. These judgments affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods.
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates its estimates and assumptions; however, actual results may differ from these
estimates and assumptions, which in turn could have a material impact on our financial statements. A summary of our significant
accounting policies and procedures are included in Note 2, “ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ”, contained in Item 8.
“ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Management believes the
following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more significant estimates and assumptions used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Investment in Rental Property Rental property accounted for under
operating leases is recorded at cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases and sales- type are recorded at
its net investment, which generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease. We account for acquisitions
of real estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ ASC ) 805, Business
Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group
of similar identifiable assets. We allocate the purchase price of investments in rental property accounted for as asset acquisitions
based on the relative fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. These generally include tangible assets, consisting
of land and land improvements, buildings and other improvements, and equipment, and identifiable intangible assets and
liabilities, including the value of in- place leases and acquired above- market and below- market leases. We use multiple sources
to estimate fair value, including information obtained about each property as a result of our pre- acquisition due diligence and
our marketing and leasing activities. Factors that impact our fair value determination include real estate market conditions,
industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and / or real estate appraisals. Changes in any
of these factors could impact the future purchase prices of our investments and the corresponding capitalization rates
recognized. The estimated fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it
were vacant. The as- if- vacant value is then allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on
comparable sales and other relevant information with respect to the property, as estimated by management. Specifically, the « if
vacant ” value of buildings and equipment is calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to
value the buildings include: capitalization and discount rates, lease- up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and
land improvement value. The estimated fair value of acquired in- place leases are the costs we would have had to incur to lease
the properties to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value of leasing
commissions and other operating costs that would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to their
acquired occupancy level. Acquired in- place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non-
cancellable lease terms of the respective leases to amortization expense. Acquired above- market and below- market lease
values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of




the differences between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in- place leases and management’ s estimate of fair
market value lease rates at the time of acquisition for the corresponding in- place leases. The capitalized above- market and
below- market lease values are amortized as adjustments to rental income over the remaining term of the respective leases.
Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgages based upon indications of then- current market pricing for similar
types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption
date, and the difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding principal balance is amortized to interest
expense over the remaining term of the debt. Long- lived Asset Impairment We review long- lived assets to be held and used for
possible impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If,
and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the
long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the long-
lived asset or asset group and its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating income, as adjusted for
trends and prospects, as well as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the fair value. Significant judgment is
made to determine if and when impairment should be taken. Management’ s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2622
2023 was based on the most current information available to management. Certain of our properties may have fair values less
than their carrying amounts. However, based on management’ s plans with respect to each of those properties, we believe that
their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no impairment charges were recognized other than those described below.
If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if our expected holding period for assets changes, subsequent tests
for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future. Inputs used in establishing fair value for real estate
assets generally fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are characterized as requiring significant judgment as little
or no current market activity may be available for validation. The main indicator used to establish the classification of the inputs
is current market conditions, as derived through the use of published commercial real estate market information. We determine
the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis, income
capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales transactions, actual sales negotiations, and bona fide purchase offers received
from third parties. We may consider a single valuation technique or multiple valuation techniques, as appropriate, when
estimating the fair value of our real estate. The following table summarizes our impairment charges resulting primarily from
changes in our long- term hold strategy with respect to the individual properties: Year Ended December 31, (in thousands,
except number of properties) Number of properties Carrying value prior to impairment charge $ 62, 720 $ 12, 721 $ 48, 604 $
55;674-Fair value 31, 446 7, 186 20, 396 36;-59FImpairment charge $ 31,274 $ 5, 535 $ 28, 208 During the year ended
December 31, 2023, we recognized an impairment charge of $ 19-26. 4 million on a healthcare property due to changes in
our tenant’ s ability to perform under the lease agreement , 677leading to a change in management’ s long- term hold
strategy and desire to sell in the near term. We determined the fair value measurement using a range of significant
unobservable inputs, including a third- party appraisal, broker market information, and recent comparable vacant sales
transactions. Decreases in the sale price assumptions based on continued marketing of the property could result in
additional impairment in the future. Based on the range of fair value estimates, which was the best available
information, an additional $ 9 million of impairment would be recorded if we sold the property at the low end of the
range. The remaining impairments recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023 were immaterial. Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the amount paid over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in a business combination and it assigned to one or more reporting units. We evaluate goodwill for
impairment when an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least
annually. Our annual testing date is November 30. The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative
or quantitative approach. Under a qualitative approach, the impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of
whether it is more- likely- than- not that the reporting unit’ s fair value is less than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a
qualitative approach indicates it is more likely- than- not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit (including
goodwill) exceeds its fair value, or if we choose to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the quantitative approach
described below. When we perform a quantitative test of goodwill for impairment, we compare the carrying value of a reporting
unit with its fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, we do not consider goodwill to be
impaired and no further analysis would be required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount
of goodwill impairment equals the amount by which the reporting unit’ s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the
carrying amount of goodwill. Management determined that we have one reporting unit, consistent with our segment reporting
analysis, which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i. e., the consolidated entity). When
necessary to perform the quantitative test for goodwill impairment, our estimate of fair value is determined using a market
approach, leveraging assumptions such as the fair value of our equity, and consideration of a control premium, if necessary,
which includes an analysis of similar market transactions. While we believe the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of
our reporting unit are reasonable, changes in these assumptions may have a material impact on our financial results. Based on
the results of our annual goodwill impairment test on November 30, 2822-2023 , our annual goodwill impairment test date, we
concluded that goodwill was not impaired. Revenue Recognition We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases.
We commence revenue recognition on our leases based on a number of factors, including the initial determination that the
contract is or contains a lease. Generally, all of our property related contracts are or contain leases, and therefore revenue is
recognized when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on
the lease commencement date. At the time of lease assumption or at the inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise
from amendments, we assess the terms and conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i) ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the



lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part
of the economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed
by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased
property, and (v) the leased property is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the
Company at the end of the lease term. If one or more of these criteria are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales-
type lease, unless the lease contains a residual value guarantee from a third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be
classified as a direct financing lease under certain circumstances. We account for the right to use land as a separate lease
component, unless the accounting effect of doing so would be insignificant. Determination of significance requires management
judgment. In determining whether the accounting effect of separately reporting the land component from other components for
its real estate leases is significant, we assess: (i) whether separating the land component impacts the classification of any lease
component, (i1) the value of the land component in the context of the overall contract, and (iii) whether the right to use the land
is Cotermlnous with the rights to use the other asscts. fea ; y : ; patien

ét&tﬂg—fhe—peﬂed—e—ﬂﬁme—pﬂer—te%eﬁ}emeﬂt—Management uses interest rate swap agreement% to manage rlik% related o interest

rate movements. Management documents its risk management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during
the term of, each hedge. Our interest rate risk management strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by
maintaining interest rate swap agreements to convert certain variable- rate debt to a fixed rate. The interest rate swap
agreements, designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, are reported at fair value. Interest rate swaps are measured at fair
value using inputs that are directly observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy,
using an income approach. Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow
analysis on the expected future cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield
curves and implied volatilities to determine the market’ s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The
fixed and variable components of the interest rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based
on the overnight indexed swap (“ OIS ”) curve and are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company
also incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective
counterparty’ s nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of
the inputs used to value its interest rate swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments
associated with its interest rate swaps utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood
of default by itself and its counterparties. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2624-, the Company has assessed the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has
determined that the credit valuation adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company has
determined that its interest rate swap valuations in their entirety are appropriately classified within Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. When an existing cash flow hedge is terminated, we determine the accounting treatment for the accumulated gain or
loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), based on the probability of the hedged forecasted
transaction occurring within the period the cash flow hedge was anticipated to affect earnings. If management determines that
the hedged forecasted transaction is probable of occurring during the original period, the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified
into earnings over the remaining life of the cash flow hedge using a straight- line method. If management determines that the
hedged forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring during the original period, the entire amount of accumulated gain or
loss is reclassified into earnings at such time. Impact of Recent Accounting Pronouncements For information on the impact of
recent accounting pronouncements on our business, see the captions Recently Adopted Accounting Standards and Other
Recently Issued Accounting Standards in Note 2, “ Summary of Significant Accounting Policies ” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8. *“ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” of this Annual Report
on Form 10- K. Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk Interest Rate Risk We are exposed to
certain market risks, one of the most predominant of which is a change in interest rates. Increases in interest rates can result in
increased interest expense under our Revolving Credit Facility and other variable- rate debt. Increases in interest rates can also
result in increased interest expense when our fixed rate debt and interest rate swaps matires— mature and-needsto-be



refinaneed-. We attempt to manage interest rate risk by entering into long- term fixed rate debt , erby-entering into interest rate
swaps to convert certain variable- rate debt to a fixed rate , and staggering our debt maturities . The-We have designated the
interest rate swaps have-been-designated-byus-as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes and they are reported at fair value.
We have not entered, and do not intend to enter, into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. Further
information concerning our interest rate swaps can be found in Note 11 in our Consolidated Financial Statements contained
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Our fixed- rate debt includes our senior unsecured notes, mortgages, and
variable- rate debt converted to a fixed rate with the use of interest rate swaps. Our fixed- rate debt and-outstanding-interestrate
swaps-had a carrying valaes— value and fair yalaes— value of approximately $ 1. 9 billion and $ 1. 7 billion, respectively, as of
December 31, 28222023 . Changes in market interest rates impact the fair value of our fixed- rate debt and interest rate swaps,
but they have no impact on interest incurred or on cash flows. For instance, if interest rates were to increase +%;-and the fixed-
rate debt balance were to remain constant, we would expect the fair value of our debt to decrease, similar to how the price of a
bond decreases as interest rates rise. A 1 % increase in market interest rates would have resulted in a decrease in the fair value of
our fixed- rate debt as and-interestrate-swaps-of approximately $ #5-65 . 8-9 million as of December 31, 2622-2023 .
Borrowings pursuant to our Revolving Credit Facility and other variable- rate debt bear interest at rates based on the applicable
reference rate plus an applicable margin, and totaled $ 1. 40 billion as of December 31, 2622-2023 , of which $ 573-975 . §-4
million was swapped to a fixed rate by our use of interest rate swaps. Taking into account the effect of our interest rate swaps, a
1 % increase or decrease in interest rates would have a corresponding $ 40 . 2 million increase or decrease in interest expense
annually . With the exception of our interest rate swap transactions , while-we have not engaged in transactions in
derivative financial instruments or derivative commodity instruments. Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk We own
investments in Canada, and as a +-result are subject to risk from the effects of exchange rate movements in the Canadian
dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows. We funded a significant portion of our Canadian investments
through Canadian dollar borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, which is intended to act as a natural hedge
against our Canadian dollar investments. The Canadian dollar Revolving Credit Facility borrowings are remeasured
each reporting period, with the unrealized foreign currency gains and losses flowing through earnings. A 10 % increase
or decrease in nterest-the exchange rates— rate between the Canadlan dollar and USD would have a correqpondmg $4+7.2
5 m11110n increase or decrease in unreallzed tite y—V eeptio

alHnstraments-weren POS stgnifteantmarket+is e forelgncu1rencyga1norloss
These unreallzed foreign currency galns and losses do not 1mpact our cash ﬂows from operations until settled, and are
expected to directly offset the changes in the value of our net investments as a result of changes in the Canadian dollar.
Our Canadian investments are recorded at their historical exchange riskerates, and therefore are not impacted by
changes in the value of the Canadian dollar . Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data Contents Report of
Independent Registered Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) Consolidated Balance Sheets Consolidated Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Steekhotders™Equity-and-Mezzanine-Equity Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements Schedule I1I — Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the stockholders and the Board of Directors
of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Substdiartes-subsidiaries (the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 and
20624, the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, stoekhotders™-equity-and-mezzantne-cquity,
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022-2023 , and the related notes and the schedule
listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the “ financial statements ). In our opinion, the financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-2624, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2622-2023 , in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have also audited, in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’ s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022-2023 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 23-22 , 2623-2024 , expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’ s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits
in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits
included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. Critical Audit Matters— Matter The critical audit matters—
matter communicated below are-is a matters— matter arising from the current- period audit of the financial statements that
syere-was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters— matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a



whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit fﬁattefs—~ matter below, prov iding sepalate ep-rmeﬁs— 0p1n10n on the

soeurees-which it relates . Emluatlon of long 11\ ed asset impairment — Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description The Company’ s evaluation of long- lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment
involves an initial assessment to determine whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may
not be recoverable. If, and when, such events or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the
carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the
use of the long- lived asset and its eventual disposition. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds its estimated fair value. Significant judgment is made to determine if
and when impairment should be taken. Certain of the Company’ s properties may have fair values less than their
carrying amounts. However, based on the Company’ s plans with respect to each of those properties, the Company
believes that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no impairment charges were recognized other than
those reflected in the financial statements. If the operating conditions deteriorate or if the Company’ s expected holding
period for assets changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future.
We identified the evatuation-estimated holding period used in determining the recoverability of long- lived asset-assets

Hmpatrment-as a critical audit matter because of the stgnifteant-estimates-and-assumptions-subjective judgments made by
management wtihizes-to tdentify-whether-events-determine the holding period er-for ehanges-in-eireumstanees-have-oeetrred

indieating-thatthe-earrying valae-of the-long- lived asset-assets maynotbereeoverable-as part of their impairment analysis.
This required a higher degree of auditor judgment and and- an ;-increased extent of effort when applieabte;-performing

audit procedures to evaluate the stgnifteantestimates-and-reasonableness of management’ s assumptions , given uttlized-to
eva-l-uate—the 1nherent unpredlctablhty 1nvolved in the t1m1ng of sales of long- lived assetassets feihfeeevefabﬂ-rt-y—me}udmg

others: « We obtdmed an undeutdndum and tested the design and opemtmu effectiveness of the Company’ s connols to momtor
long- lived assets for events or changes in circumstances that indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable sand;
When—&ppheab-}e—due toa change in the expected holdmg perlod . We held dlscusswns with the C ompany ] management

rates; and esﬁma-ted—dfspesttteﬁ-pfeeeeds—‘—“le—e a udted the eeﬂ&p-}eteﬁess—&nd-leasombleness of management -t-he—Gemp&ny—
s eriteria-to-identify-assertions regarding the expected holding period of its long- lived assets , more specifically by

performing the following: * Engaged in discussions with senior management mdiea-tefs-e-ﬁmp&mﬁeﬁt— including legal

assessing-the-methodologtes-apphed-and testing-the-eompleteness-asset management, and aeetraey-inspected Board of
Director meetmg minutes regardlng the assumptlons ﬁn&eﬂylﬂg—data—utl ized in determmmg the expected holdmg perlods

eva-l-uate—Evaluated t-he—feaseﬂab}eﬁess—audlt ev1dence (e g. h1nds1ght analys1s) -I-n—ad&rﬁeﬂ—we—peffefmed—pfeeeét&es—to
evaluaate-determine whether it supported or contradicted the conclusions reached by eompleteness-and-acctracy-of the-data
utthizedrmanagement ~s-reeoverability-estimates-. / s / Deloitte & Touche LLP Rochester, New York We have served as the
Company’ s auditor since 2016. Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands,
except per share amounts) December 31, Assets Accounted for using the operating method: Land $ 748, 529 $ 768, 667 $-655;



374-1.and improvements 328, 746 340, 385 295:329-Buildings and improvements 3, 803, 156 3, 888, 756 3,242,618
Equipment 8, 265 10, 422 H5-876-Total accounted for using the operating method 4, 888, 696 5, 008, 230 4;205:3+9H-ess
accumulated depreciation ( 626, 597) (533, 965 3H430;+4+) Accounted for using the operating method, net 4, 262, 099 4, 474,
265 37F95;-850-Accounted for using the direct financing method 26, 643 27, 045 28;-#82-Accounted for using the sales- type
method Property under development 94, 964 — Investment in rental property, net 4, 384,278 4, 501, 881 3;:-864;463-Cash
and cash equivalents 19, 494 21, 789 245-669-Accrued rental income 152, 724 135, 666 ++6;-874-Tenant and other receivables,
net 1, 487 1, 349 +5-3+0-Prepaid expenses and other assets 49-36 , 661 +7-64 , 275-180 Interest rate swap, assets 46, 096 63, 390
—Goodw1ll 339 769 339, 769 Intanglble leaqe assets, net 288 226 329, 585 363;-642-Debtissuanee-costs—unseetred

; e 64+-Total assets $ 5,268, 735 $ 5, 457, 609 $4-618;648
Llablhtl€§ and equity Unsecured revolving Cledlt f"lClhty $ 90 434 $ 197, 322 -$—1-92—999—M0rtgage@ net 79, 068 86, 602 965
846-Unsecured term loans, net 895, 947 894, 692 646;-67-Senior unsecured notes, net 845, 309 844, 555 84380 Interestrate
swap;habthttes—27F+H-Accounts payable and other liabilities 47, 534 47, 547 38;-638-Dividends payable 56, 869 54, 460
45;-944-Accrued interest payable 5,702 7, 071 6;473-Intangible lease liabilities, net §3, 531 62, 855 #0;-596-Total liabilities 2,
074,394 2, 195, 104 +-87+5+6-Commitments and contingencies ( See-Note 19) Equity Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.
steekholders>~equity: Preferred stock, $ 0. 001 par value; 20, 000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding — —
Common stock, $ 0. 00025 par value; 500, 000 shares authorized, 187, 614 and 186, 114 and462,383-shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, respectively Additional paid- in capital 3, 440, 639 3, 419, 395 25924
+68-Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings ( 440, 731) ( 386, 049 H3+8;476-) Accumulated other
comprehensive income Jdoss)-49, 286 59, 525 28;444H-Total Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. steelchelders™equity 3, 049, 241 3,
092, 918 2,-579,292-Non- controlling interests 145, 100 169, 587 +63;:-846-Total equity 3, 194, 341 3, 262, 505 274438
Total liabilities and equity $ 5, 268, 735 $ 5, 457, 609 $4,618,648-The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements. Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income For the Year Ended
December 31, Revenues Lease revenues, net $ 442, 888 $ 407, 513 $ 382, 876 $324-637Operating expenses Depreciation and
amortization 158, 626 154, 807 132, 096 +32-685-Property and operating expense 22,576 21, 773 18, 459 ++478CGeneral and
admlnlqtratlve 39 425 37,375 36, 366 2—7—98-8—Pr0v1§10n for 1mpa1rment of investment in rental properties 31,274 5, 535 28,

e 6 Total operating expenses 251, 901

219, 490 215,129 %99—964—Other mcome (expenqei) lnterest mcome Interest expenie (80, 053) (78, 652) (64, 146 HF6;438y

Costof-debt-extingtishment(308-368)(47) Gain on sale of real estate 54, 310 15, 953 13, 523 +4;985-Income taxes ( 763) (
1, 275) (1, 644 93 Internatizationexpenses——3;705-) Change in fair value of earnout liability — — (5, 539) Other

(expenses) income ( |, 681 8§06-Other-ineome{expenses-) 5, 696-382 ( 430 62+F) Net income 163, 312 129, 475 109, 528 56;
276-Net income attributable to non- controlling interests (7, 834) (7, 360) (7, 102 35;-695-) Net income attributable to

Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 155,478 $ 122, 115 $ 102, 426 $5+H348+Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding Basic 186, 617 169, 840 153, 057 H#4506-Diluted 196, 315 180, 201 163, 970 428F99-Net carnings per share
attributable to common stockholders Basic and ditated-Diluted $ 0. 83 § 0. 72 $ 0. 67 $644-Comprehensive income Net
income $ 163,312 $ 129, 475 $ 109, 528 $-56;,276-Other comprehensive income fess}-Change in fair value of interest rate
swaps (17, 293) 90, 560 39, 353 £56;:544)-Realized loss fgatmy-on interest rate swaps 1, 883 2, 514 466)-Comprehensive income
147,902 222, 549 149, 579 5:-566-Comprehensive income attributable to non- controlling interests ( 7, 070) ( 12, 700) (9, 8313
554-) Comprehensive income attributable to Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. $ 140, 832 $ 209, 849 $ 139, 748 $-5;-0642-Consolidated
Statements of Steekhotders>Equity CommonStock Class A Common Stock AdditionalPaid- in Capital
CumulativeDistributionsin Excessof RetainedEarnings AccumulatedOtherComprehensivelncome (Loss) Non-
controllinglnterests TotalEquity FotatSharehotders™Equity-Balance, January 1, 2622-2021 8 $ $ 2, 624, 997 $ (259, 673) $ (66,
255)$ 179,976 $ 2,479, 081 Net income — — — 102, 426 — 7, 102 109, 528 Issuance of 13, 910 shares of common stock
— 293,728 — — — 293, 732 Issuance of 1, 859 OP Units —— — — — — — Offering costs, discounts, and commissions
——(12,290) — — — (12, 290) Stock- based compensation, net of seven shares of restricted stock forfeited — — 4, 668
— ——4, 668 Retirement of 64 shares of common stock under equity incentive plan — — (1, 215) — — — (1, 215)
Conversion of 37, 000 Class A common stock to 37, 000 shares of common stock (9) ——— —— Conversion of 886 OP
Units to 886 shares of common stock — — 14, 206 — — (14, 206) — Conversion of 2, 049 OP Units to 2, 049 shares of
common stock with a related party — 32, 761 — — (32, 762) — Distributions declared ($ 1. 025 per share and OP Unit)
——— (161, 229) — (11, 188) (172, 417) Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements — — — — 36, 664 2, 689
39, 353 Realized loss on interest rate swap agreements — — — — Adjustment to non- controlling interests — — (32,
687) — 32, 195 — Balance, December 31, 2021 — 2, 924, 168 $(318, 476) $(28, 441) $-163, 846 $2, 741, 138 Net income
— ——122, 115 —17, 360 129, 475 Issuance of 23, 682 shares of common stock
i — (7, 575) Stock- based compensation, net of +6-ten shares of restricted

stock forfeited — — 5,316 — — — 5, 316 Retirement of 59 shares of common stock under equity incentive plan — — (1,

301) ——— (1, 301) Conversion of 118 OP Units to 118 shares of common stock — — 1, 926 — — (1, 926) — Distributions
declared ($ 1. 080 per share and OP Unit) — — — (189, 688) — (11, 382) (201, 070) Change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreement@ ————285, 363 5, 197 90, 560 Realized loss on interest rate swap agreements — —

—2 371 2 514




Balance Decembel 31, %9%9—20222—6%4—997—(%59—67—39—666—2559—149—946—2—47-9—98%

3,419,
395 (386, 049) 59, 525 169, 587 3, 262, S05S Net income — — — +02-155 , 426478 — 7, 162169-834 163 , 312 5286——
Issuance of 312 43;-94+6-shares of common stock under equity incentive plan —293;728% 293732 Issuanee
of+-859-0pbnits——-— - — — — — Offering costs, discounts, and commissions — — ( 237 +2290-) — — —(
237 +2;296-) ——Stock- based compensation, net of sewven-23 shares of restricted stock forfeited — — 4-6 , 668359 — —
—4-6 , 359 Retirement of 668 66 shares of common stock under equity incentive plan — — (1, 175) — — —— Retirement
(1, 175) Conversion of 64-1, 277 OP Units to 1, 277 shares of common stock — — 21, 235 — — ( 21, 235) — Distributions

declared ($ | ;245-. 120 per share and OP Unit ) — — — (+210 , 245-160 ) — ———Cenverstonof37-066-ClassA
common-stoekto37,-000-shares-of commensteek{( 10 H———————Conversionof $86-OP Units to-886-shares-of
eommon-stoek——4- 853 206——(14,206-) —————Conversionof2,-049-OP Unitste 2,-049-shares-of common
stoelwith-arelated party—32,76+——( 32221 , 762-013 ) ——————Distributionsdeelared($1-025pershare-and OP

Yaty———615229—HH88)-3724H——Change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements — — — — 36
(16 , 664268939439 ) (854) (17 , 293) 353————Recalized loss on interest rate swap agreements — — — — ———1,
793 1, 883 Adjustment to non- controlling interests — — (324 , 687938 ) — 324 , 407 +95————— Balance, December

31,20242023 5 § — $2-3 ., 924440 , +68-639 § (318440 , 476-731 ) § (49, 28-286 4415 163-145 . 846-100 $ 2-3 , 74194 .
341 138-$—$—3$—Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows @theusands)-For the Year Ended December 31, Operating
activities Net income $ 163,312 $ 129, 475 $ 109, 528 $56;276-Adjustments to reconcile net income including non-
controlling #terest-interests to net cash provided by operating activities: Depreciation and amortization including intangibles
associated with investment in rental property 152, 781 149, 998 128, 888 4+34;568-Provision for impairment of investment in
rental properties 31, 274 5, 535 28, 208 +9;-077Amortization of debt issuance costs and original issuance discounts charged to
interest expense 3, 860 3, 588 3, 721 3;-363-Stock- based compensation expense 6, 359 5, 316 4, 669 +;-989-Straight- line rent,
direct financing and sales- type lease adjustments ( 22, 278) (20, 494) (18, 362) 49-8+H-Costofdebtextingnishment-Gain on
sale of real estate ( 54, 310) ( 15, 953) (13, 523 334;:985-) Change in fair value of earnout liability — — 5, 539 (45-866)-Cash
paid for earnout hablhty — — (6, 440) —Settlement of interest rate swaps — — (5, 580) —Other non- cash items ( 757 2,166
) (1, 454-858) 1, 822 Changes in assets and liabilities yretefaequisttion: Tenant and other receivables €6703-Prepaid expenses
and other assets ( 352 3;-868-) Accounts payable and other liabilities ( 8,226) (1, 149) 2, 891 6;-652-Accrued interest payable (1,
369) 2, 450 Net cash provided by operating activities 271, 074 255, 9 14 244, 937 +79;-028-Investing activities Acquisition of

rental property (27, 738) ﬁeeeﬂﬁ-ted—fer—usmg—t-l‘rﬁapef&t-mg—met-hed— (884, 770) (665, 030) Investment in {94;-868)Aequisition-of
rentabproperty aceounted-for-using-the-sales—type-method-under development including capitalized interest of $ 1, 469 in

2023 and $ 0 in 2022 and 2021 (96, 756) — —— (574 -Cashpatdforinternalization———36;-86-Capital expenditures and
improvements ( 46, 252) (31, 374) (1, 598 ¥+8;:-866-) Proceeds from disposition of rental property, net 194, 959 56, 438 83,

812 #-543-Change in deposits on investments in rental property €#86)>-Net cash provided by (used in ) investing activities 24,
338 (859, 643) (582, 304 3H60;236-) Financing activities Proceeds from issuance of common stock and-ClassA—eemmon-stoek,
net of $ 180, $ 7,492 ;-and $ 12, 270 and-$40,-674-of oﬁermg costs, dlscounts and commissions in 2023 2022 —and 2021 and
2020-, respectively (180) 495, 566 280, 356 e e d
H26)-Borrowings on mortgages, senior unsecured notes and unsewred term 10ans — 5()0 ()()0 381 810 69—999—Pr11101pal
payments on mortgages and unsecured term loans ( 7, 503) ( 260, 303) (332, 874 3394;:-666-) erow ings on unsecured
revolving credit facility 215, 500 900, 283 356, 600 +92;-660-Repayments on unsecured revolving credit facility ( 324, 000) (
800, 000) (254, 600 33895366-) Cash distributions paid to stockholders ( 207, 522) ( 181, 224) (154, 459 yHH5532-) Cash
distributions paid to non- controlling interests (11, 115) (11, 312) (11, 302 3F+-679) Cash paid for earnout liability — — (6,
608) —Debt issuance and extinguishment costs pald —(7,010) (4, 515 H6;1429-) Net cash (used in) provided by {used-)y
financing activities (334, 820) 636, 000 254, 408 (%8—3—75)—Net (decrease) increase {deereasey-in cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash (39, 408) 32, 271 (82, 959) 96;4+7-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 60, 040
27,769 110, 728 28;3H-Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 20, 632 $ 60, 040 $ 27, 769 $H0,728
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $ 21, 789 $ 21,
669 $ 100, 486 $12,455Restricted cash at beginning of period 38, 251 6, 100 10, 242 #,-856-Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash at beginning of period $ 60, 040 $ 27, 769 $ 110, 728 $26,31Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 19,
494 $ 21,789 $ 21, 669 $106,486-Restricted cash at end of period 1, 138 38, 251 6, 100 +8;242-Cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash at end of period $ 20, 632 $ 60, 040 $ 27, 769 $3H6;728-1. Business Description Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the




“ Corporation ) is a Maryland corporation formed on October 18, 2007, that elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust
(“REIT ) commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2008. Broadstone Net Lease, LLC (the Corporation’ s
operating company, or the “ OP ), is the entity through which the Corporation conducts its business and owns (either
directly or through subsidiaries) all of the Corporation’ s properties. The Corporation Fhe-Cerperationris the sole managing
member of the OP.The rematning-membership units #-not owned by the Corporatlon GP—EGP—U-&HH—W-h-teh—are referred to
as OP Unlts or non- controlhng 1nterests v ;

sts-Hrproperties-ae by-the-OR-. As the Corporatlon conducts substantrally all
of'its operatrons through the OP it is structured as what is referred to as an umbrella partnership real estate investment trust (“
UPREIT ). The Corporation > s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “ BNL.” The
Corporation ,the OP,and its consolidated subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “ Company .” The Company is an
industrial- focused,diversified net lease REIT that focuses on investing in income- producing, single- tenant net leased
commercial properties, primarily in the United States. The €erperatterrCompany leases industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail,
and office commercial properties under long- term lease agreements. At December 31, 2622-2023 , the €erperationr-Company
owned a diversified portfolio of 894-796 individual commercial properties with 797789 properties located in 44 U. S. states and
seven properties located in four Canadian provinces . Broadstone Net Lease, LLC (...... “ BNL. ” See Note 14 . The following
table summarizes the outstanding equity and economic ownership interest of the Company Cerperationrand-the-OP-: December
31,2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 DPeeember3+;20626-(in thousands) Shares of Common Stock OP Units Total
Diluted Shares Shares ofCommon Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares Shares ofCommon Stock OP Units Total Diluted Shares
Ownership interest 187, 614 8, 928 196, 542 186, 114 10,205 196, 319 162, 383 10, 323 172, 706 +45;-6691+5399157,-668
Percent Ownership of OP 95.5 % 4.5 % 100. 0 % 94. 8 % 5.2 % 100. 0 % 94. 0 % 6. 0 %+66-6-%92—F%F3-% 100. 0 %
Refer to Note 16 for further discussion regarding the calculation of weighted average shares outstanding. 2. Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies Principles of Consolidation The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts and
operations of the Company. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. To the extent the
Corporation has a variable interest in entities that are not evaluated under the variable interest entity (“ VIE ) model, the
Corporation evaluates its interests using the voting interest entity model. The Corporation has complete responsibility for the
day- to- day management of, authority to make decisions for, and control of the OP. Based on consolidation guidance, the
Corporation has concluded that the OP is a VIE as the members in the OP do not possess kick- out rights or substantive
participating rights. Accordingly, the Corporation consolidates its interest in the OP. However, because the Corporation holds
the majority voting interest in the OP and certain other conditions are met, it qualifies for the exemption from providing certain
disclosure requirements associated with investments in VIEs. The portion of the OP not owned by the Corporation is presented
as non- controlling interests as of and during the periods presented. Basis of Accounting The Consolidated Financial Statements
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“ GAAP ). Use of
Estimates The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities
at the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. Significant estimates include, but are not limited to, the allocation of purchase price between tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the fair value of long- lived assets and goodwill utilized in ;-the-previsten-for
impairment assessments , the depreciable lives of rental property, the amortizable lives of intangible assets and liabilities, the
probability of collecting outstandlng and future lease payments, the fair value of the earnout liability, and the-fair-vatae-of
assumed-debt-the fair value of the Company’ s interest rate swap agreements rand-the-determinationrof any uneertait-tax
pesitiens-. Accordingly, actual results may differ from those estimates. 65 Investment in Rental Property Rental property
accounted for under operating leases is recorded at cost. Rental property accounted for under direct financing leases and sales-
type leases are recorded at its net investment, which generally represents the cost of the property at the inception of the lease.
The Company accounts for its acquisitions of real estate as asset acquisitions in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ ASC ) 805, Business Combinations, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired are concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The Company allocates the purchase price of investments in
rental property accounted for as asset acquisitions based on the relative fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
These generally include tangible assets, consisting of land and land improvements, buildings and other improvements, and
equipment, and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, including the value of in- place leases and acquired above- market
and below- market leases. Acquisition costs incurred in connection with investments in real estate accounted for as asset
acquisitions are capitalized and included with the allocated purchase price. The results of operations of acquired properties are
included in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income from the respective date of acquisition.
Estimated fair value determinations are based on management’ s judgment, which considers various factors including real estate
market conditions, industry conditions that the tenant operates in, and characteristics of the real estate and / or real estate
appraisals. The estimated fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property is determined by valuing the property as if it
were vacant. The as- if- vacant value is then allocated to land and land improvements, buildings, and equipment based on
comparable sales and other relevant information with respect to the property as estimated by management. Specifically, the  if
vacant ” value of buildings and equipment is calculated using an income approach. Assumptions used in the income approach to
value the buildings include: capitalization and discount rates, lease- up time, market rents, make ready costs, land value, and
land improvement value. The estimated fair value of acquired in- place leases are the costs that the Company would have had to
incur to lease the properties to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such costs include the fair value
of leasing commissions and other operating costs that would have been incurred to lease the properties, had they been vacant, to
their acquired occupancy level. Acquired in- place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining non-



cancellable lease terms of the respective leases to amortization expense. #5-Acquired above- market and below- market lease
values are recorded based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of
the differences between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in- place leases and management’ s estimate of fair
market value lease rates at the time of acqulsltlonfer—t-he—eeﬁespeﬂd-mg—m—pﬁee—leases— The capitalized above- market and
below- market lease values are amortized as adjustments to lease revenue over the remaining term of the respective leases.
Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in- place lease value is charged to amortization expense and
the unamortized portion of above- market or below- market lease value is charged to lease revenue. Management estimates the
fair value of assumed mortgages payable based upon indications of then- current market pricing for similar types of debt with
similar maturities. Assumed mortgages are initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption date, and the
difference between such estimated fair value and the notes’ outstanding principal balance is amortized to interest expense over
the remaining term of the debt. Expenditures for significant betterments and improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Land acquired for development and construction and improvement costs
incurred in connection with the development of new properties are capitalized and recorded as Property under
development in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets until construction has been completed. Such capitalized
costs include all direct and indirect costs related to planning, development, and construction, including interest, real
estate taxes, and other miscellaneous costs incurred during the construction period. Once completed, the property under
development is placed in service and depreciation commences. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
funded $ 96. 8 million of costs related to two properties under development, inclusive of $ 1. 5 million of capitalized
interest. 66 Long- lived Asset ImpairmentThe Company reviews long- lived assets to be held and used for possible impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If, and when, such events
or changes in circumstances are present, an impairment exists to the extent the carrying value of the long- lived asset or asset
group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the long- lived asset or asset group and
its eventual disposition. Such cash flows include expected future operating income, as adjusted for trends and prospects, as well
as the effects of demand, competition, and other factors. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the long- lived asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. Significant judgment is made to determine if and when
impairment should be taken. The Company’ s assessment of impairment as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;arnd-2626-,
was based on the most current information available to the Company. Certain of the Company’ s properties may have fair values
less than their carrying amounts. However, based on the Company’ s plans with respect to each of those properties, the
Company believes that their carrying amounts are recoverable and therefore, no impairment charges were recognized other than
those described below. If the operating conditions mentioned above deteriorate or if the Company’ s expected holding period
for assets changes, subsequent tests for impairments could result in additional impairment charges in the future. Inputs used in
establishing fair value for impaired real estate assets generally fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, which are
characterized as requiring significant judgment as little or no current market activity may be available for validation. The main
indicator used to establish the classification of the inputs is current market conditions, as derived through the use of published
commercial real estate market information and information obtained from brokers and other third party sources . The
Company determines the valuation of impaired assets using generally accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash
flow analysis, income capitalization, analysis of recent comparable sales transactions, actual sales negotiations, and bona fide
purchase offers received from third parties. Management may consider a single valuation technique or multiple valuation
techniques, as appropriate, when estimating the fair value of its real estate. The following table summarizes the Company’ s
impairment charges, resulting primarily from changes in the Company' s long- term hold strategy with respect to the individual
properties: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except number of properties) Number of properties Impairment
charge $ 31,274 $ 5, 535 $ 28, 208 During the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized an impairment charge of $
45-26. 4 million on a healthcare property with a remaining carrying value of $ 24. 4 million , 677which declined due to
changes in our tenant’ s ability to perform under the lease agreement, leading to a change in management’ s long- term
hold strategy and desire to sell in the near term. The fair value measurement was determined using a range of significant
unobservable inputs, including a third- party appraisal, broker market information, and recent comparable vacant sales
transactions. Decreases in the sale price assumptions based on continued marketing of the property could result in
additional impairment in the future. The remaining impairments recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023
were immaterial. Impairments recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022 were immaterial. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, the Company executed an early lease termination with an office tenant on two properties in exchange
for a fee of $ 35. 0 million, and simultaneously sold the underlying properties to an unrelated third party for aggregate gross
proceeds of $ 16. 0 million. As the sale of the underlying properties was to an unrelated third party, the Company accounted for
the lease termination income and sale of properties as separate transactions in accordance with GAAP. As a result, the $ 35. 0
million cash receipt was not able to be factored into the properties’ future undiscounted cash flows, resulting ina $ 25. 7 million
impairment charge in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The Company recognized
termination fee income of $ 33. 5 million as other income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues, net, in
the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The net impact of the lease termination and the sale of the
underlying properties was a $ 4. 0 million increase to net income after considering certain other adjustments. Remaining
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rental property as held for sale when all of the following criteria are met: (i) management commits to a plan to sell the property,
(ii) the property is available for immediate sale in its present condition, subject only to terms that are usual and customary for
sales of investment properties, (iii) an active program to locate a buyer and conduct other actions required to complete the sale
has been initiated, (iv) the sale of the property is probable in occurrence and is expected to qualify as a completed sale, (v) the
property is actively marketed for sale at a sale price that is reasonable in relation to its fair value, and (vi) actions required to
complete the sale indicate that it is unlikely that any significant changes will be made or that the plan to sell will be withdrawn.
67 For properties classified as held for sale, the Company suspends depreciation and amortization of the related assets, including
the acquired in- place lease and above- or below- market lease intangibles, as well as straight- line revenue recognition of the
associated lease, and records the investment in rental property at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The assets and
liabilities associated with the properties classified as held for sale are presented separately es-in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets for the most recent reporting period. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-262+, the Company did not have any
properties that met the held for sale criteria. Sales of Real Estate Under ASC 610- 20, Other Income — Gains and Losses from
the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets, the Company’ s sales of real estate are generally considered to be sales to non-
customers, requiring the Company to identify each distinct non- financial asset promised to the buyer. The Company determines
whether the buyer obtains control of the non- financial assets, achieved through the transfer of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the non- financial assets. If control is transferred to the buyer, the Company derecognizes the asset. If the
Company determines that it did not transfer control of the non- financial assets to the buyer, the Company analyzes the contract
for separate performance obligations and allocates a portion of the sales price to each performance obligation. As performance
obligations are satisfied, the Company recognizes the respective income in the Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. The Company presents discontinued operations if disposals of properties represent a strategic shift in
operations. Those strategic shifts would need to have a major effect on the Company’ s operations and financial results in order
to meet the definition. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;and-2626-, the Company did not have property
dispositions that qualified as discontinued operations. Depreciation Depreciation is computed using the straight- line method
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are as follows: Land improvements 15 yearsBuildings and
improvements 15 to 39 yearsEquipment 7 years Leasing Fees Leasing fees represent costs incurred to lease properties to tenants
and are capitalized as they are incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained.
Leasing fees are amortized using the straight- line method over the term of the lease to which they relate, which range from 4-3
to 25 years. Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original maturity at date of
acquisition of three months or less, including money market funds. The Company estimates that the fair value of cash
equivalents approximates the carrying value due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments. 7#Restricted Cash
Restricted cash generally includes escrow funds the Company maintains pursuant to the terms of certain mortgages, lease
agreements, and undistributed proceeds from the sale of properties under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “ Code ), and is reported within Prepaid expenses and other assets es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Restricted cash consisted of the following: December 31, (in thousands) Escrow funds and other $ 1,138 $ 4, 812 1031
exchange proceeds — 33, 439 $ 6-1 , 138 106 Undistributed +031proeceds33;439—F 38, 251 $6,480-Revenuc Reeognittent
RecognitionThe Fhe-Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases (“ ASC 842 ). The Company
commences revenue recognition on its leases based on a number of factors, including the initial determination that the contract
is or contains a lease. Generally, all of the Company’ s property related contracts are or contain leases, and therefore revenue is
recognized when the lessee takes possession of or controls the physical use of the leased assets. In most instances this occurs on
the lease commencement date. At the time of lease assumption or at the inception of a new lease, including new leases that arise
from amendments, the Company assesses the terms and conditions of the lease to determine the proper lease classification. 68
Certain of the Company’ s leases require tenants to pay rent based upon a percentage of the property’ s net sales (“ percentage
rent ”’) or contain rent escalators indexed to future changes in the Consumer Price Index (“ CPI ). Lease income associated with
such provisions, absent the existence of a floor, are considered variable lease income and are not included in the initial
measurement of the lease receivable, or in the calculation of straight- line rent revenue. Such amounts are recognized as income
when the amounts are determinable. A lease is classified as an operating lease if none of the following criteria are met: (i)
ownership transfers to the lessee at the end of the lease term, (ii) the lessee has a purchase option that is reasonably expected to
be exercised, (iii) the lease term is for a major part of the economic life of the leased property, (iv) the present value of the
future lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments equals
or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the leased property, and (v) the leased property is of such a specialized nature
that it is expected to have no future alternative use to the Company at the end of the lease term. If one or more of these criteria
are met, the lease will generally be classified as a sales- type lease, unless the lease contains a residual value guarantee from a
third party other than the lessee, in which case it would be classified as a direct financing lease under certain circumstances.
Prior to the adoption of ASC 842, a lease that was not an operating lease would be accounted for as a direct financing lease. The
Company accounts for the right to use land as a separate lease component, unless the accounting effect of doing so would be
insignificant. Determination of significance requires management judgment. In determining whether the accounting effect of
separately reporting the land component from other components for its real estate leases is significant, the Company assesses: (i)
whether separating the land component impacts the classification of any lease component, (ii) the value of the land component
in the context of the overall contract, and (iii) whether the right to use the land is coterminous with the rights to use the other
assets. Revenue recognition methods for operating leases, direct financing leases, and sales- type leases are described below:
Rental property accounted for under operating leases — Revenue is recognized as rents are earned on a straight- line basis over
the non- cancelable terms of the related leases. For leases that have fixed and measurable rent escalations and collectability of
the lease payments is probable, the difference between such rental income earned and the cash rent due under the provisions of



the lease is recorded as Accrued rental income en-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. If the Company determines that
collectability of the lease payments is not probable, the Company records an adjustment to Lease revenues, net to reduce
cumulative income recognized since lease commencement to the amount of cash collected from the lessee (i. e., write off of
accrued rental income) . Future revenue recognition is limited to amounts paid by the lessee. Rental property accounted for
under direct financing leases — The Company utilizes the direct finance method of accounting to record direct financing lease
income. The net investment in the direct financing lease represents receivables for the sum of future lease payments to be
received and the estimated residual value of the leased property, less unamortized unearned income (which represents the
difference between undiscounted cash flows and discounted cash flows). Unearned income is deferred and amortized into
income over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the Company’ s net investment in the leases.
Rental property accounted for under sales- type leases — For leases accounted for as sales- type leases, the Company records
selling profit arising from the lease at inception, along with the net investment in the lease. The Company leases assets through
the #8-assumption of existing leases or through sale- leaseback transactions, and records such assets at their fair value at the time
of acquisition, which in most cases coincides with lease inception. As a result, the Company does not generally recognize selling
profit on sales- type leases. The net investment in the sales- type lease represents receivables for the sum of future lease
payments and the estimated unguaranteed residual value of the leased property, each measured at net present value. Interest
income is recorded over the lease terms so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the Company’ s net investment in
the leases. Certain of the Company’ s lease contracts contain nonlease components (e. g., charges for management fees,
common area maintenance, and reimbursement of third- party maintenance expenses) in addition to lease components (¢ .g .,
monthly rental charges). Services related to nonlease components are provided over the same period of time as, and billed in the
same manner as, monthly rental charges. The Company elected to apply the practical expedient available under ASC 842, for all
classes of assets, not to separate the lease components from the nonlease components when accounting for operating leases.
Since the lease component is the predominant component under each of these leases, combined revenues from both the lease
and nonlease components are reported as Lease revenues, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. In accordance with ASC 842, provisions for uncollectible rent are recorded as an offset to Lease
revenues, net ea-in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. 69
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i —Lease Termination Fee IncomeThe Company recognizes lease termination fee income as other
income from real estate transactions, a component of Lease revenues, net, when all conditions of the termination agreement
have been met, and collection of the lease termination fee is probable. If the tenant immediately vacates the property upon
satisfying the conditions of the termination agreement, the Company recognizes the lease termination fee income net of the
write off of accrued rental income associated with the lease immediately. If the tenant continues to occupy the property, the
Company treats the termination as a lease modification, and recognizes the lease termination fee income on a straight- line basis
over the new lease term. Lease termination fee income is recorded as other income from real estate transactions, a component of
Lease revenues, net, in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. GoodwillGoodwill represents the
excess of the amount paid over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
a business combination and #tis assigned to one or more reporting units. The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment when
an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable, or at least annually. The
Company’ s annual testing date is November 30. The goodwill impairment evaluation is completed using either a qualitative or
quantitative approach. Under a qualitative approach, the impairment review for goodwill consists of an assessment of whether it
is more- likely- than- not that the reporting unit’ s fair value is less than its carrying value, including goodwill. If a qualitative
approach indicates it is more likely- than- not that the estimated carrying value of a reporting unit (including goodwill) exceeds
its fair value, or if we choose to bypass the qualitative approach, we perform the quantitative approach described below. When
the Company performs a quantitative test of goodwill for impairment, it compares the carrying value of its reporting unit with its
fair value. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the Company does not consider goodwill to be
impaired and no further analysis would be required. If the fair value is determined to be less than its carrying value, the amount
of goodwill impairment equals the amount by which the reporting unit’ s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the
carrying amount of goodwill. The Company determined that it has one reporting unit, consistent with its segment reporting
analysis, which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties (i. e., the consolidated entity). When
necessary to perform the quantitative test for goodwill impairment, the Company’ s estimate of fair value is determined using a
market approach, leveraging assumptions such as the fair value of our equity ;-ard-inclusive of our consideration of a control
premium, if necessary, which includes an analysis of similar market transactions and other quantitative and qualitative
factors . While the Company believes the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of its reporting unit are reasonable,
changes in these assumptions may have a material impact on the Company’ s financial results. Based on the results of its annual
goodwill impairment test on November 30, 2023 and 2022 and-202+-, the Company concluded that goodwill was not impaired ,
and that the fair value of its reporting unit was substantially in excess of carrying value . 79-Rent Received in
AdvanceRent received in advance represents tenant rent payments received prior to the contractual due date, and is included in



Accounts payable and other liabilities es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rent received in advance consisted of the
following: December 31, (in thousands) Rent received in advance $ 14, 776 $ 18, 783 $1+5-1462-Debt Issuance Costs In
accordance with ASC 835, Interest, debt issuance costs related to mortgages, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes
are reported as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related liability, consistent with debt discounts, in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Debt issuance costs associated with the unsecured revolving credit facility are reported as an asset
ofrin the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with the Company’ s unsecured revolving
credit facility, mortgages, unsecured term loans and senior unsecured notes have been deferred and are being amortized over the
term of the respective loan commitment using the straight- line method, which approximates the effective interest method.
Offering CostsIn connection with equity offerings, the Company incurs and capitalizes certain direct, incremental legal,
professional, accounting and other third- party costs. Such costs are offset against the gross proceeds of each equity offering,
and recorded as a component of Additional paid- in capital es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets upon the consummation of the
offering. See Note 14 for further discussion of net proceeds associated with equity offerings. 70 Forward Sale AgreementsThe
Company occasionally sells shares of common stock through forward sale agreements to enable the Company to set the price of
such shares upon pricing the offering (subject to certain adjustments) while delaying the issuance of such shares and the receipt
of the net proceeds by the Company. To account for the forward sale agreements, the Company considers the accounting
guidance governing financial instruments and derivatives. To date, the Company has concluded that its forward sale agreements
are not liabilities as they do not embody obligations to repurchase its shares nor do they embody obligations to issue a variable
number of shares for which the monetary value is predominantly fixed, varying with something other than the fair value of the
shares, or varying inversely in relation to its shares. The Company then evaluates whether the agreements meet the derivatives
and hedging guidance scope exception to be accounted for as equity instruments. The Company has concluded that the
agreements are classifiable as equity contracts based on the following assessments: (i) none of the agreements’ exercise
contingencies are based on observable markets or indices besides those related to the market for the Company’ s own stock
price and operations; and (ii) none of the settlement provisions preclude the agreements from being indexed to its own stock.
The Company also considers the potential dilution resulting from the forward sale agreements on the earnings per share
calculations. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilution resulting from the forward sale agreements
during the period of time prior to settlement. Earnout Liability The Company’ s earnout liability was payable in four tranches, in
a combination of cash, common shares, and OP Units, in the same proportion as the initial consideration paid in the Company’
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change% recorded as Change in fair Value of earnout 11ab1hty in the Consohdated Statement% of Income and Comprehensive

a-ppheab{e—The Company achleved all four m11€§t0116§ apphcable to the earnout thereby trlggermg the payout of all earnout
tranches during the year ended December 31,2021, and therefore no remammg earnout habrhty e*tst—mg—exrsted on, or after
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the member%hrp interests held n the OP 0f4 5 %, 5.2 %, and 6.0 %—&nd—7—3—% at December 31,2023, 2022, and 2021 —&nd
2026-, respectively, by third parties which are accounted for as a separate component of equity. The Company adjusts the
carrying value of non- controlling interests to reflect their share of the book value of the OP. Such adjustments are recorded to
Additional paid- in capital as a reallocation of Non- controlling interests in the Consolidated Statements of Steekholders™Equity
and-Mezzanine-Equity. Derivative Instruments The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage risks related to



interest rate movements. The interest rate swap agreements, designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges, are reported at fair
value. ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ ASC 815 ), requires a company to present the earnings effect of the hedging
instrument in the same income statement line item in which the earnings effect of the hedged item is reported. In accordance
with ASC 815, the gain or loss on the qualifying hedges is initially included as a component of other comprehensive income or
loss and is subsequently reclassified into earnings when interest payments (the forecasted transactions) on the related debt are
incurred and as the swap net settlements occur. When an existing cash flow hedge is terminated, the Company determines the
accounting treatment for the accumulated gain or loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income ess)-based on
the probability of the hedged forecasted transaction occurring within the period the cash flow hedge was anticipated to affect
earnings. If the Company determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is probable of occurring during the original period,
the accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings over the remaining life of the cash flow hedge using a straight- line
method. If the Company determines that the hedged forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring during the original
period, the entire amount of accumulated gain or loss is reclassified into earnings at such time. The Company documents its risk
management strategy and hedge effectiveness at the inception of, and during the term of, each hedge. The Company’ s interest
rate risk management strategy is intended to stabilize cash flow requirements by maintaining interest rate swap agreements to
convert certain variable- rate debt to a fixed rate. 71 Property Loss and Insurance Recoveries Property losses, whether full or
partial, are accounted for using a combination of impairment, insurance, and revenue recognition guidance prescribed by
GAAP. Upon incurring a loss event, the Company evaluates for asset impairment under ASC 350, Intangibles — Goodwill and
Other, and ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. Under the terms of the Company’ s lease agreements with tenants, a
majority of which are net leases (whereby the tenants are responsible for insurance, taxes, and maintenance, among other
property costs), the tenants are responsible for repairs and maintenance to the properties. The terms of the leases generally also
require the tenants to continue making their monthly rental payments despite the property loss. To the extent that the assets are
recoverable, determined $4-utilizing undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset or asset group and its
eventual disposition, the Company accounts for a full or partial property loss as an acceleration of depreciation and evaluates
whether all or a portion of the property loss can be offset by the recognition of insurance recoveries. Under the terms of the
lease agreements with tenants, in the case of full or partial loss to a property, the tenant has an obligation to restore / rebuild the
premises as nearly as possible to its value, condition and character immediately prior to such event. To mitigate the risk of loss,
the Company requires tenants to maintain general liability insurance policies on the replacement value of the properties. Based
on these considerations, the Company follows the guidance in ASC 610- 30, Other Income — Gains and Losses on Involuntary
Conversions (*“ ASC 610- 30 ), for the conversion of nonmonetary assets (i. e., the properties) to monetary assets (i. e.,
insurance recoveries or tenant recoveries). Under ASC 610- 30, once probable of receipt, the Company recognizes an insurance /
tenant recovery receivable in Tenant and other receivables, net, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with a corresponding offset
to the accelerated depreciation recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. If the
insurance / tenant recovery is less than the amount of accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company will recognize a net
loss in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. If the insurance / tenant recovery is greater than the
amount of accelerated depreciation recognized, the Company will only recognize a recovery up to the amount of the accelerated
depreciation, and will account for the excess as a gain contingency in accordance with ASC 450- 30, Gain Contingencies. Gain
contingencies are recognized when earned and realized, which typically will occur at the time of final settlement or when non-
refundable cash advances are received. Segment Reporting The Company currently operates in a single reportable segment,
which includes the acquisition, leasing, and ownership of net leased properties. The Company’ s chief operating decision maker
assesses, measures, and reviews the operating and financial results at the consolidated level for the entire portfolio, and
therefore, each property or property type is not considered an individual operating segment. The Company does not evaluate the
results of operations based on geography, size, or property type. Fair Value Measurements ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement
(“ ASC 820 ), defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three- tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair
value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: Level 1 — Quoted prices that are
available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The types of financial instruments included in Level 1 are
marketable, available- for- sale equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. Level 2 — Pricing inputs other than
quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active;
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets
or liabilities. Instruments included in this category are derivative contracts whose value is determined using a pricing model
with inputs (such as yield curves and credit spreads) that are observable in the market or can be derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that
are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 includes assets and liabilities whose values are determined
using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the
determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation. The Company has estimated that the
carrying amount reported es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for Cash and cash equivalents, Prepaid expenses and other
assets, Tenant and other receivables, net, Accrued interest payable, Accounts payable and other liabilities, and Dividends
payable approximates their fair values due to their short- term nature. §2-Recurring Fair Value MeasurementsInterest Rate Swap
Assets and Liabilities — The Company measures and records its interest rate swap instruments (see Note 11) and earnout liability
at fair value, and discloses the fair value of its long- term debt, on a recurring basis. 72 Interest rate swaps are derivative
instruments that have no quoted readily available Level 1 inputs, and therefore are measured at fair value using inputs that are
directly observable in active markets and are classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierarchy, using an income approach.



Specifically, the fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined using a discounted cash flow analysis on the expected future
cash flows of each instrument. This analysis utilizes observable market data including yield curves and implied volatilities to
determine the market’ s expectation of the future cash flows of the variable component. The fixed and variable components of
the interest rate swaps are then discounted using calculated discount factors developed based on the overnight indexed swap (*
OIS ”) curve and are aggregated to arrive at a single valuation for the period. The Company also incorporates credit valuation
adjustments to appropriately reflect both its own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’ s nonperformance risk in
the fair value measurements. Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate
swaps fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its interest rate swaps
utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by itself and its
counterparties. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 ard-20824, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the
credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation
adjustments are not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, the Company has determined that its interest rate swap
valuations in their entirety are appropriately classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Earnout Liability — In
connection with the Company’ s Internalization-internalization , the Company recognized an earnout liability that was due and
payable to the former owners of BRE-the Company’ s former asset manager if certain milestones were achieved during
specified periods of time following the closing eftheInternalizatton{the *“ Earnout Periods ). Under the terms of the
agreement, the milestones related to either (a) the 40- day dollar volume- weighted average price of a share of the Company’ s
common stock (“ VWARP per REIT Share ), following the completion of an IPO of the Company’ s common stock, or (b) the
Company’ s AFFO per share, prior to the completion of an IPO. The Company utilized third- party valuation experts to assist in
estimating the fair value of the earnout liability, and developed estimates by considering weighted- average probabilities of
hkely outcomes, and uqlng a Monte Carlo %nnulatlon and dlscounted ca%h ﬂow analyqls :Phese- The change esﬂma’ees—fequﬁed
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Endlng balance $ — -$—7%99—The balances of financial 1n§trument§ measured at falr value on a recurring basis are as follows
(see Note 11): December 31, 2022-2023 (in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Interest rate swap, assets $ 63-46 , 356-096
$— $6346,396-096 $ — December 31, 26242022 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Interest rate swap, Habilities-assets $ 63 27
The fair value of the Company’ s debt was estimated using Level 1,
Level 2, and Level 3 1nput§ based on recent %econdary market trades of the Company’ s 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes
(see Note 9), recent comparable financing transactions, recent market estimates-of the-fair-valte-of the-property-thatserves-as
eoHateral-for-steh-debthistortealrisk premiums for loans of comparable quality, ewrrent-applicable London Interbank Offered
Rate (“ LIBOR ), Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“ SOFR ), Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (“ CDOR ”), U. S. Treasury
obligation interest rates, and discounted estimated future cash payments to be made on such debt. The discount rates estimated
reflect the Company’ s judgment as to the approximate current lending rates for loans or groups of loans with similar maturities
and assumes that the debt is outstanding through maturity. Market information, as available, or present value techniques were
utilized to estimate the amounts required to be disclosed. Since such amounts are estimates that are based on limited available
market information for similar transactions and do not acknowledge transfer or other repayment restrictions that may exist on
specific loans, it is unlikely that the estimated fair value of any such debt could be realized by immediate settlement of the
obligation. The following table summarizes the carrying amount reported es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and the
Company’ s estimate of the fair value of the unsecured revolving credit facility, mortgages, unsecured term loans, and senior
unsecured notes which reflects the fair value of interest rate swaps: December 31, (in thousands) Carrying amount $ 1, 919, 607
$ 2,034, 076 $4-699;+60-Fair value 1, 761,177 1, 841, 381 73 1,-785-F0+Non- recurring Fair Value MeasurementsThe
Company’ s non- recurring fair value measurements at December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, consisted of the fair value of
impaired real estate assets that were determined using Level 3 inputs. Income Taxes The Company has made an election to be




taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code, commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2008. The
Company believes it is organized and operates in such a manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT, and intends to operate in
the foreseeable future in such a manner so that it will remain qualified as a REIT for U. S. federal income tax purposes.
Accordingly, the Company is not subject to U. S. federal corporate income tax to the extent its dividends paid deduction exceeds
its taxable income, as defined in the Code. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U. S. federal income taxes in the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has a wholly- owned subsidiary that elected to be treated as a
taxable REIT subsidiary (“ TRS ) and is subject to U. S. federal, state and local income taxes at regular corporate tax rates
when due. The Company is subject to state and local income or franchise taxes and foreign taxes in certain jurisdictions in which
some of its properties are located and records these within Income taxes in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income when due. 84-The Company is required to file income tax returns with federal, state, and
Canadian taxing authorities. At December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company’ s U. S. federal and state income tax returns remain
subject to examination by the respective taxing authorities for the 2649-2020 through 26242022 tax years. The Company
recognizes and measures uncertain tax positions using a two- step approach. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more- likely- than- not that the position will be
sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. In making this assessment, the
Company must assume that the taxing authority will examine the income tax position and have full knowledge of all relevant
information. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50 % likely of being realized
upon ultimate settlement. The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating tax positions and tax benefits,
which may require periodic adjustments and which may or may not accurately forecast actual outcomes. The Company has
determlned that 1t has no uncertaln tax posmons at-as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 aﬂd—ZGQ—l—effe%t-he—yeafs—eﬂde&

h h . Interest and penalties related to income
taxes are charged to tax expense durlng the year in Wthh they are 1ncurred Taxes Collected From Tenants and Remitted to
Governmental Authorities A majority of the Company’ s properties are leased on a net basis, which provides that the tenants are
responsible for the payment of property operating expenses, including, but not limited to, property taxes, maintenance,
insurance, repairs, and capital costs, during the lease term. The Company records such expenses on a net basis. In other
situations, the Company may collect property taxes from its tenants and remit those taxes to governmental authorities. Taxes
collected from tenants and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on a gross basis, where amounts billed to tenants
are included in Lease revenues, net and the corresponding expense is included in Property and operating expense in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. Right- of- Use Assets and Lease Liabilities The
Company is a lessee under non- cancelable operating leases associated with its corporate headquarters and other office spaces as
well as with leases of land (*“ ground leases ). The Company records right- of- use assets and lease liabilities associated with
these leases. The lease liability is equal to the net present value of the future payments to be made under the lease, discounted
using estimates based on observable market factors. The right- of- use asset is generally equal to the lease liability plus initial
direct costs associated with the leases. The Company includes in the recognition of the right- of- use asset and lease liability
those renewal periods that are reasonably certain to be exercised, based on the facts and circumstances that exist at lease
inception. Amounts associated with percentage rent provisions are considered variable lease costs and are not included in the
initial measurement of the right- of- use asset or lease liability. The Company has made an accounting policy election,
applicable to all asset types, not to separate lease from nonlease components when allocating contract consideration related to
operating leases. Right- of- use assets and lease liabilities associated with operating leases were included in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows: December 31, (in thousands) Financial Statement Presentation Right- of- use assets
Prepaid expenses and other assets $ 3-8 , 200-476 $ 3, 899-200 Lease liabilities Accounts payable and other liabilities 8, 256 2,
772 2-74 The Company’ s right- of- use assets and lease liabilities primarily consist of a ten year lease for the Company’ s
corporate office space that was executed in October 2022 and commenced on October 1 , 576-2023. The lease contains
two five- year extension options, exercisable at the Company’ s discretion, that are not reasonably certain to be exercised,
and are therefore excluded from our calculation of the lease liability. Rental ExpenseRental expense associated with
operating leases is recorded on a straight- line basis over the term of each lease, for leases that have fixed and measurable rent
escalations. The difference between rental expense incurred on a straight- line basis and the cash rental payments due under the
provisions of the lease is recorded as part of the right- of- use asset in the accompanying December 31, 2023 and 2022 and
262+-Consolidated Balance Sheets. Amounts associated with percentage rent provisions based on the achievement of sales
targets are recognized as variable rental expense when achievement of the sales targets are considered probable. Rental expense
, which primarily consists of office space, is included in both General and administrative and Property and operating
expense er-line items in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income —as follows: For
the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Rental expense $ 1, 189 $ § Stock- Based CompensationThe Company has
issued restricted stock awards (“ RSAs ) and performance- based restricted stock units (“ PRSUs ) under its 2020 Omnibus
Equity and Incentive Plan (the “ Equity Incentive Plan ). The Company accounts for stock- based incentives in accordance with
ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, which requires that such compensation be recognized in the financial
statements based on the award’ s estimated grant date fair value. The value of such awards is recognized as compensation
expense in General and §5-administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income over
the appropriate vesting period on a straight- line basis or at the cumulative amount vested at each balance sheet date, if greater.
The Company records forfeitures during the period in which they occur by reversing all previously recorded stock
compensation expense associated with the forfeited shares. Dividends declared on RSAs issued under the Equity Incentive Plan
are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings es-in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accumulated
dividends related to forfeited RSAs are reversed through compensation expense in the period the forfeiture occurs. Dividends




accrued on the PRSUs are recorded as Cumulative distributions in excess of retained earnings ef-in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. Accumulated dividends accrued related to forfeited PRSUs are reversed in the period the forfeiture occurs. Earnings per
Share Earnings per common share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, which requires
the classification of the Company’ s unvested shares of restricted common stock, which contain rights to receive non- forfeitable
dividends, as participating securities requiring the two- class method of computing earnings per share. The two- class method is
an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of common stock and participating securities
according to dividends declared (or accumulated) and participation rights in undistributed earnings. In accordance with the two-
class method, the Company’ s calculation of earnings per share excludes the income attributable to the unvested shares of
restricted common stock from the numerator of the calculation and the weighted average number of such unvested shares from
the denominator. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average shares of common
stock and potentially dilutive securities in accordance with the treasury stock method and / or if converted method. See Note 16.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards In AugustOctober 2620-2023 |, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“ FASB 7)
issued Accounting Standards Update (“ ASU ) 2626-2023 - 06, Bebt—Bebt—wrt-h—Genvefsten—&nd—Dlsclosure Improvements.
Codification Amendments in Response to Other—- the SEC Opti A :
Contraets-inrEntity-’ s OwnEquity-(Subtopte-81+5-Disclosure Update and Slmphﬁcatlon Inltlatlve. ASU 2023 49)—

Aceountingfor-Convertible-Instruments-and-Contraets-in-06 codifies disclosure requirements related to various ASUs
related to the Securities an-and Entity-Exchange Commission * s OwnEgaity-(“ SEC ”) Disclosure Update and

Simpliﬁcation Initiative, which was implemented by the Company in 2018 when it became effective . The-There guidanee
irare no new or addmonal requlrements appllcable to the Company as part of ASU %9%9—2023 - 06 sﬂrm-phﬁes—t-he

t-he—Other ameﬁd-n&eﬁts—reﬂse-Recently Issued Accountmg Standardsln November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023 07,
Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The ASU requires additional
dlsclosures regardlng segment expenses and t-he—other gtndanee—ltems on an interim and annual basis ealewlating-earnings
. The amendments in ASU 2626-2023 - 66
Were—07 are eﬁeem e for the Company begmnms_ Jdnudly %92—2—2024 Whlle The-adeptionrof-this gutdanee-onJanuary+
update will result in enhanced disclosures , 2622-did-the Company does not expect it will have a material impact on the
Company’ s financial statements. 75 ReclassificationsThe Company reclassified Debt issuance costs In-Deeember2622-the
FASB-issued-ASH2622- 66-unsecured revolving credit facility , Beferral-net of $ 6. 0 million and Leasing fees, net of $ 8. 5
million to Prepaid expenses and the-other assets in Sunset—Bate-efJPepte-S%dﬂeh—was—lssued—te-defeﬁhe Consolldated
Balance Sheets at pte-848)+a ; S
December 31, 2624-—ASH5-2022 to conform w1th the current perlod presentatlon. Addltlonally, the Company reclassified $
0.3 and $ 0. 4 million of Cost of debt extinguishment to Other (expenses) income in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income and to Other non - cash items in 06-is-effective-immediately-and-doesnothave-an

+mpaet—eﬂ—t 1c Consolidated Gemp&ny—s—ﬁﬂanetal—s’fa-temeﬁts-Statements of Cash Flows for the year-years ended December
. 2022 , and 2021, respectively . 3. Related- Party Transactions Prior to the Company’ s Internatizattorrinternalization on

February 7, 2020, BRE-the former asset manager , a related party in which certain directors of the Corporation had either a
dnect or mdlreet ow nelshlp interest, and -t-he—Asset—Maﬁager—lts wholly- owned sub51d1ary were considered to be related parties




paymeﬂt—eyel-e—feweﬂders— Earnout (onsldemtlon ln connection \\1th the Company s-}nterﬁa-hza-tteﬁ—lnternallzatlon the
Company incurred a contingent obligation that would be payable to certain members of the Company’ s Board of Directors and
employees who had previously been owners and / or employees of BRE-the former asset manager , upon the occurrence of
certain events (see Note 4). During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP milestones
applicable to the earnout. As a result, the Company issued 1, 088, 977 shares of common stock, 1, 859, 257 OP Units and made
cash payments of $ 13. 0 million to these related parties (see Note 4). Conversion of OP Units to Common StockDuring the
ye&rs— year ended Decembel ?1 2021 —&ﬂd—Z@%@— 1n non- cash transactions (see Note 8) the Compdny converted 2, 049, 439

Umts held by an athlmted third party to 2, 049 439 shares of common stock respectlvely, ata total conversion value of $
32. 8 million. There were no conversions of OP Units held by a related party during the year-years ended December 31,
2023, and 2022. See further dlscussmn in Nete—Notes 12 dnd 14. 4. Internalization In accordance w1th9ﬁ—Februaw—7%9%9—

Company was 1equlred to pay additional edmout COllSldel’dthl] ofupto$ 75 0 mllhon payable in fotn tranches of $ 1() O
million, § 15. 0 million, $ 25. 0 million, and § 25. 0 million if certain milestones related to the 40- day VWAP per REIT Share
were achieved. The consideration consisted of a combination of cash, shares of the Company’ s common stock, and OP Units,
based on the same proportions paid in the base consideration. As of December 31, 2021, the Company achieved all four VWAP
milestones, thereby triggering the payout of all earnout tranches. Below is a summary of the shares of common stock and OP
Units issued, and cash paid for each earnout tranche: (in thousands, except per share amounts) Shares of 40- Day Common
Stock OP Units VWAP of a Tranche Issued Issued Cash Paid REIT Share Achievement Date $ 1, 926 (a) $ 22. 50 June 16, 2021
2, 888 (a) 23. 75 July 14, 2021 4, 117 24. 375 September 21, 2021 4, 117 25. 00 September 21, 2021 (a) Cash payments include
amounts earned for dividends. 5. Acquisitions of Rental Property The Company closed ineurred-$-3—Fmilioninnen— on -
reeutring-eosts-assoetated-with-the Internatizationrfollowing acqu1s1tlons during the yeal ended December 31 2—9%9—2023 (
whreh—\mhe}assuﬁed-as—}rﬁernahz&&erreaqaeﬂses—m thousands h

except number of propertles) Number of Real Estate Date Property Type Propertles Acqulsltlon Pr1ce March 14 %9%9
2023 —Ne-inerementalreventes-werereeorded-as-Retail § 5, 221 May 16, 2023 Industrial 10, 432 May 22, 2023 Industrial
17, 300 ( a ) May 25 result-ofthe-Internalization—Subsequent-to-the-Internalization-, duringthe-year-ended-Deecember31+2626
2023 Industrial 9 , the-Company-ineurred-952 July 11, 2023 Restaurant (b) November 14, 2023 Restaurant 1, 963 (c) $26-
S—mrl-l-teﬁ—rn—e*peﬁses—as-45 328 (d) ( a resu-}t—) Acqu1s1tlon of bettg i - ;

-rssued—m connection with a $ 204 thes i
helders-shares-or-OP-Units-. 8 million bulld
to- su1t transaction expected to
fund in multlple draws through October 2024 (see Note 2) (b) Acqu1s1tlon of land developed in connection with the
H g 7 as-2 § 1. 7 million build eempenentof-Commen

Sfeelﬁ*d'dﬁ'teﬂ&l-p&td—h to -x-n—eaprta-l—&nd—Neﬂ— sult transactlon completed in October 2023 eontroHing-interests-on-the
of U-naud-rted—see Note 2 (c) Acqulsltlon pr1ce

mcludes consnderatlon payable

..A- att

ary-$ 0. 3 mllllon. (d) Acqu1s1tlon



on the followmg acquisitions during the year ended December 31,2022: (1n thousands, except number of propertles) Numbe1 of
Real Estate Date Property Type Properties Acquisition Price January 7, 2022 Retail $ 2, 573 February 10, 2022 Industrial 21,
733 February 15, 2022 Retail 1, 341 February 28, 2022 Industrial 5, 678 March 4, 2022 Retail 79, 061 March 31, 2022
Restaurant 99, 587 April 12, 2022 Retail 1, 680 April 12, 2022 Industrial 7, 522 April 13, 2022 Industrial 16, 250 April 19, 2022
Retail 1, 780 May 16, 2022 Retail 2, 264 June 7, 2022 Retail 11, 510 June 13, 2022 Retail 1, 638 June 15, 2022 Retail 1, 884
June 21, 2022 Industrial 78, 500 June 29, 2022 Healthcare 12, 467 June 30, 2022 Industrial 29, 500 July 1, 2022 Retail 3, 052
July 7, 2022 Retail 2, 171 July 8, 2022 Industrial 75, 000 August 25, 2022 Healthcare 9, 219 August 26, 2022 Industrial 44, 000
September 6, 2022 Retail 1, 411 September 28, 2022 Industrial 56, 250 September 29, 2022 Restaurant 12, 823 October 12,
2022 Industrial / Office 235, 000 October 12, 2022 Retail 1, 743 October 17, 2022 Retail 6, 000 October 19, 2022 Retail 1, 743
November 2, 2022 Industrial 38, 650 November 4 2()22 Retall 5, 645 November 10, 2022 Industrnl 10, 758 $ 878, 433 (ae)(
ae ) Acqumtlon pr1ce excludes capltal

of these propertles to the fair value of the assets acquired and 11ab111t1e§ assumed. The following table summarizes the purchase
price allocation for completed real estate acquisitions: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Land $ 2,975 $ 126,
865 $ 114, 296 $1+7403-Land improvements 2, 817 47, 513 29, 298 5;-356-Buildings and improvements 19, 913 649, 195 469,
113 64-Property under development 20 , H6-315 — — Acquired in- place leases (gf) 2, 561 69, 609 51, 956 8346
Acquired above- market leases (g ) — — +5FHFAcquired below- market leases (+h) (166 ) (279) — €428)3-Right- of- use
asset — — Lease liability — — (481) —Sales—type-investments———Non- real estate liabilities assumed — (8, 051) — —8
48,415 $ 884, 852 $ 665, 056 $97,-084-( gf ) The weighted average amortization period for acquired in- place leases is 16
years, 20 years, and 16 years;and=+5-years for acquisitions completed during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, and-2020;respectively. (kg ) The weighted average amortization period for acquired above- market leases is 10 years
and-year-for acquisitions completed during the yeats— year ended December 31, 2021 ;and-2620;tespeetively-. There were no
above- market leases acquired during the yearyears ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. (+h ) The weighted average
amortization period for acquired below- market leases is 20 years and 14 years-and+0-years for acquisitions completed during
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and2626-, respectively. There were no below- market leases acquired during the
year ended December 31, 2021. The above acquisitions were funded using a combination of available cash on hand and
unsecured revolving credit facility borrowings. All real estate acquisitions closed during the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022, and 2021 ;and20626-, qualified as asset acquisitions and, as such, acquisition costs have been capitalized. 6. Sale of Real
Estate The Company closed on the following sales of real estate, none of which qualified as discontinued operations: For the
Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except number of properties) Number of properties disposed Aggregate sale price $
200, 072 $ 58, 024 $ 87, 730 $84-039-Aggregate carrying value ( 140, 649) (40, 485) (70, 289 H625-528-) Additional sales
expenses ( 5,113) (1, 586) (3, 918 H3:526-) Gain on sale of real estate $ 54,310 $ 15, 953 $ 13, 523 $344:-985-7. Investment in
Rental Property and Lease Arrangements The Company generally leases its investment rental property to established tenants in
the industrial, healthcare, restaurant, retail, and office property types. At December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company had $64-796
real estate properties, 794784 of which were leased under leases that have been classified as operating leases, nine that have



been classified as direct financing leases, one that has been classified as a sales- type lease, and three-two that were vacant. Of
the nine leases classified as direct financing leases, three include land portions which are accounted for as operating leases. The
sales- type lease includes a land portion which is accounted for as an operating lease (see Revenue Recognition within Note 2).
Most Substantially-att-leases have initial terms of 10 to 20 years. The Company’ s leases generally provide for limited increases
in rent as a result of fixed increases, increases in the CPI, or increases in the tenant’ s sales volume. Generally, tenants are also
required to pay all property taxes and assessments, substantially maintain the interior and exterior of the building, and maintain
property and liability insurance coverage. The leases also typically provide for one or more multiple year renewal options, at the
election of the tenant, and are subject to generally the same terms and conditions as the initial lease. Investment in Rental
Property — Accounted for Using the Operating Method Depreciation expense on investment in rental property was as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Depreciation $ 123,859 $ 114, 583 § 99, 143 $93,679-Estimated lease
payments to be received under non- cancelable operating leases with tenants at December 31, 2622-2023 are as follows: (in
thousands) $ 388-394 , 9714-389-031 406 , +67383-874 402 , 996-376-291 385 , 937359-379 369 . 533-418 Thercafter 2, 987982
,770-604 $ 4, 886940 , 308-597 Since lease renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the tenant, the above amounts only
include future lease payments due during the initial lease terms. Such amounts exclude any potential variable rent increases that
are based on changes in the CPI or future variable rents which may be received under the leases based on a percentage of the
tenant’ s gross sales. Additionally, certain of our leases provide tenants with the option to terminate their leases in exchange for
termination penalties, or that are contingent upon the occurrence of a future event. Future lease payments within the table above
have not been adjusted for these termination rights. Investment in Rental Property — Direct Financing Leases The Company’ s
net investment in direct financing leases was comprised of the following: December 31, (in thousands) Undiscounted estimated
lease payments to be received $ 35, 155 $ 38, 268 $42,602-Estimated unguaranteed residual values 14, 547 +5-14 , 203-547
Unearned revenue ( 22, 944) (125, 645 H28;:-893-) Reserve for credit losses ( 115) (125 3H436-) Net investment in direct
financing leases $ 26, 643 $ 27, 045 $28;782-Undiscounted estimated lease payments to be received under non- cancelable
direct financing leases with tenants at December 31, 2022-2023 are as follows: (in thousands) $ 3, H4-3,-171 3, 285 3, 357 3,
426 3,496 Thereafter 24-18 , 945420 $ 38-35 , 155 268-92-The above rental receipts do not include future lease payments for
renewal periods, potential variable CPI rent increases, or variable percentage rent payments that may become due in future
periods. 79 The following table summarizes amounts reported as Lease revenues, net es-in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Contractual rental amounts billed for
operating leases $ 388, 073 $ 359, 317 $ 308, 624 $284;-998-Adjustment to recognize contractual operating lease billings on a
straight- line basis 27, 154 22, 353 19, 847 Net 25;200-Wxite-write - off-offs of accrued rental income (4, 266) (1, 326) (442 )
4;235-) Variable rental amounts earned 2, 277 1, 507 Earned income from direct financing leases 2, 752 2, 856 2, 909 3355
Interest income from sales- type leases Operating expenses billed to tenants 20, 363 19, 779 17, 462 45;-845-Other income from
real estate transactions (a) 7, 414 3, 069 33, 549 Adjustment to revenue recognized for uncollectible rental amounts billed, net (
937) (100 H2;,073-) Total lease revenues, net $ 442, 888 $ 407, 513 § 382, 876 $324:637(a) Other income from real estate
transactions includes $ 2-7 . 5 million , $ 2. 5 million, and $ 33. 5 mllhon of lease termlnatlon fee income for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 , and 2021 respectlvely —Tthere-wasnolease-termination-fee he-yea
2626-. 8. Intanglble Assets and Llablhtles and Leasing Fees The followmg 1S a summary of mtanglble assets and hablhtles .
and leasing fees, and related accumulated amortization: December 31, (in thousands) Lease intangibles: Acquired above-
market leases § 44, 711 § 45, 740 $4F,34F 1 ess accumulated amortization (20, 312) (18, 436 ¥+6;-80F) Acquired above-
market leases, net 24, 399 27, 304 38;346-Acquired in- place leases 416, 206 436, 401 380,766~ css accumulated amortization
(152,379) (134, 120 HF0F464-) Acquired in- place leases, net 263, 827 302, 281 273;3682-Total intangible lease assets, net $
288,226 $ 329, 585 $303-642-Acquired below- market leases $ +65-98 , 859-535 $ 105, 340-059 Less accumulated
amortization ( 45, 004) (42, 204 H34F4-) Intangible lease liabilities, net $ 53,531 § 62, 855 $70;596-1 casing fees $ 4418,
430-117 $ 14, 786430 Less accumulated amortization (6, 426) (5, 924 H5445-) Leasing fees, net $ 11,691 $ 8, 506 $9;-64+
Amortization of intangible lease assets and liabilities , and leasing fees was as follows: (in thousands) For the Year Ended
December 31, Intangible Financial Statement Presentation Acquired in- place leases and leasing fees Depreciation and
amortization $ 34, 487 $ 40, 090 $ 32, 857 $38;-934-Above- market and below- market leases Lease revenues, net 5, 859 4, 822
3, 264 H+2993-For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 ;and 2021 and2626-, amortization of all intangible assets and
liabilities includes $ 0. 9 million, $ 8. 5 million, and $ 3. 8 mitenand-$H4—-S5-million, respectively, of accelerated amortization
resulting from early lease terminations. Estimated future amortization of al-intangible assets and liabilities , and leasing fees at
December 31, 2022-2023 is as follows: (in thousands) $ 2726 , 502 92827426-25, 852-458 24, 700-296 22, 957574 20, 695
Thereafter +46-126 , 679-861 $ 275-246 , 236-386 9. Unsecured Credit Agreements Unsecured Revolving Credit
AgreementsUnsecured Revolving Credit FacilityOn September 4, 2020, the Company entered into an-agreement-(the—
Revelving-CreditAgreementfor-a § 900. 0 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “ Revolving Credit Facility 7),
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., as Administrative-administrative Agent-agent . The Company closed the Revolving Credit
AgreementFacility on September 21, 2020. The Revolving Credit Agreement-Facility includes an accordion feature to increase
the aggregate facility size from $ 900. 0 million to $ 2. 0 billion, subject to the willingness of existing or new lenders to fund
such increase and other customary conditions. The Company has the option to extend the term of the Revolving Credit
Agreement-Facility twice for six months per extension, subject to certain conditions, including payment of an extension fee
equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving commitments. On January 28, 2022, the Company amended and restated the Revolving
Credit Facility to increase the available borrowings to $ 1. 0 billion and extend the maturity date to March 31, 2026. In addition
to United States Dollars (“ USD ”), borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement-Facility can be made in Pound Sterling,
Euros or Canadian Dollars (““ CAD ) up to an aggregate amount of $ 500. 0 million. Prior to the amendment, borrowings under
the Revolving Credit Agreement-Facility were subject to interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a margin based on the




Company’ s current credit rating ranging between 0. 825 % to 1. 550 % per annum. Borrowings under the amended Revolving
Credit Agreement-Facility are subject to interest only payments at variable rates equal to the applicable reference rate plus a
margin based on the Company’ s credit rating, ranging between 0. 725 % and 1. 400 %. All other terms and conditions of the
Revolving Credit Agreement-Facility remained materially the same as those in effect prior to this amendment. The amended
Revolving Credit Agreement-Facility is subject to a facility fee on the amount of the revolving commitments, based on the
Company’ s credit rating, ranging between 0. 125 % and 0. 300 %. The applicable facility fee is 0. 200 % per annum. Unsecured
Term Loan Agreements2022 Unsecured Term LoanOn February 7, 2020, the Company entered into a $ 60. 0 million term loan
agreement(the “ 2022 Unsecured Term Loan ) with JP Morgan Chase, N. A. as administrative agent. The 2022 Unsecured
Term Loan was fully funded at closing and used to repay a portion of the debt assumed by the Company as part of the
Company’ s Internalization-internalization . Borrowings under the 2022 Unsecured Term Loan were subject to interest only
payments at variable rates equal to LIBOR plus a margin based upon the Company’ s credit rating, ranging between 0. 85 % and
1. 65 % per annum. The 2022 Unsecured Term Loan was paid in full in February 2022 with borrowings from the Revolving
Credit Facility. 2024 Unsecured Term LoanBorrowings under the 2024 Unseeured-unsecured Ferar-term Loan-loan of $ 190. 0
million bore interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a margin based on the Company’ s credit rating ranging between 0.
85 % and 1. 65 % per annum. The 2624-Unseeured-TFermEeoan-loan was paid in full in August 2022 with borrowings from the
2027 Unsecured Term Loan and 2029 Unsecured Term Loan (defined below) . 2026 Unsecured Term LoanOn February 27,
2019, the Company entered into a $ 450. 0 million seven- year unsecured term loan agreement (the *“ 2026 Unsecured Term
Loan ) with Capital One, National Association as administrative agent. The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan provides an accordion
feature for up to a total of § 550. 0 million borrowing capacity. The 2026 Unsecured Term Loan has an initial maturity date of
February 27, 2026. Borrowings under the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan were subject to interest only payments at variable rates
equal to LIBOR plus a margin between 1. 45 % and 2. 40 % per annum based on the Company’ s credit rating through March
12,2021. On March 12, 2021, the Company amended the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan and made a $ 50. 0 million paydown on
the loan. The amendment reduced the margin on variable interest rate borrowings to a range between 0. 85 % and 1. 65 % per
annum based on the Company’ s credit rating. All other terms and conditions of the 2026 Unsecured Term Loan remained
materially the same as those in effect prior to this amendment. Effective July 1, 2023, the Company amended the 2026
Unsecured Term Loan to transition to SOFR upon the cessation of LIBOR. Interest on borrowings bear interest at one-
month SOFR plus a margin between 0. 85 % and 1. 65 % per annum based on the Company’ s credit rating. The 2026
Unsecured Term Loan is subject to a fee of 0. 25 % per annum on the amount of the commitment, reduced by the amount of
term loans outstanding. 94-2027 and 2029 Unsecured Term LoansOn August 1, 2022, the Company entered into two unsecured
term loans, including a $ 200. 0 million, five- year unsecured term loan (the “ 2027 Unsecured Term Loan ), and a $ 300. 0
million, seven- year unsecured term loan (the *“ 2029 Unsecured Term Loan ') both with Regions Bank as administrative
agent . Borrowings on the new-term loans bear interest at variable rates based on adjusted SOFR, plus a margin based on the
Company’ s credit rating, ranging between 0. 80 % and 1. 60 % per annum for the 2027 Unsecured Term Loan, and 1. 15 % and
2. 20 % per annum for the 2029 Unsecured Term Loan. 81 Senior Unsecured Notes 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series AOn
April 18,2017, the Company issued $ 150. 0 million of unsecured, fixed- rate, interest- only guaranteed senior promissory notes
(the “ 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A ). The 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Scrics A Netes-were issued at par, and
bear interest at a rate of 4. 84 %. 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B and 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series COn July 2,
2018, the Company entered into a Note and Guaranty Agreement (the “ NGA Agreement ") with each of the purchasers of
unsecured, fixed- rate, interest- only, guaranteed senior promissory notes. Under the NGA Agreement, the OP issued and sold
senior promissory notes in two series, Sertes-series B Guaranteed-guaranteed Sentor-senior Netes-notes (the “ 2028 Senior
Unsecured Notes- Series B ) and Sertes-series C Guaranteed-guaranteed Senior-senior Netes-notes (the “ 2030 Unsecured
Notes- Series C ), for an aggregate principal amount of $ 325. 0 million. The 2028 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series B provide
for an aggregate principal amount of $ 225. 0 million with a fixed- rate of 5. 09 %. The 2030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C
provide for an aggregate principal amount of § 100. 0 million with a fixed- rate of 5. 19 %. 2031 Senior Unsecured Public
NotesOn September 15, 2021, the Company completed a public offering of $ 375. 0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2.
60 % senior unsecured notes due in 2031 ( the “ 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes ™), issued at 99. 816 % of the principal
amount. The 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes require semi- annual interest payments through the maturity date of
September 15, 2031, unless earlier redeemed. The 2031 Senror Unsecured Publlc Notes were issued by the OP and are fully and
uncondrtronally guaranteed by the Company v d 0 e

y a1 pe-aeqtisttions: Covenants on Unsecured Credrt AgreementsThe
Company is subject to various financial and operatronal covenants and financial reporting requirements pursuant to its unsecured

credit agreements These covenants requlre the Company to marntarn certain ﬁnan01al ratios —tne{ud-l-ng—levefage,—ﬂ*ed—eh&fge

perrods presented the Company beheves it was in compliance Wrth all of its loan covenants Failure to comply with the
covenants would result in a default which, if the Company were unable to cure or obtain a waiver from the lenders, could
accelerate the repayment of the obligations. Further, in the event of default, the Company may be restricted from paying
dividends to its stockholders in excess of dividends required to maintain its REIT qualification. Accordingly, an event of default
could have a material effect and-adverse-tmpaet-on the Company. 95-The following table summarizes the Company’ s
unsecured credit agreements: December 31, Interest Maturity (in thousands, except interest rates) Outstanding Balance Rate
DateRevolving DateUnseeuredrevolvingeredit-Credit faetity-Facility $ 90, 434 $ 197, 322 $482,-6009-Applicable reference
rate 0. 85 % (a) fb)—fe—)—Mar 2026 (d) %GeéHnwewed»-—— Unsecured term loans: %GQ—Z—Hnseeufed—’Peﬂﬁ—I:ea-n—ée—Ge&ene-




2026 Unsecured Term Loan 400, 000 400, 000 one- month HHBOGR-adjusted SOFR 1. 00 % (b) (c) Feb. 20262027 Unsecured
Term Loan 200, 000 —200, 000 one- month adjusted SOFR 0. 95 % (é-¢ ) Aug. 20272029 Unsecured Term Loan 300, 000 —
300, 000 one- month adjusted SOFR 1. 25 % (d-¢ ) Aug. 2029Total unsecured term loans 900, 000 656-900 , 000 Unamortized
debt issuance costs, net ( 4, 053) (5, 308 H35-329-) Total unsecured term loans, net 895, 947 894, 692 646;-67Senior
unsecured notes: 2027 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series A 150, 000 150, 000 4. 84 % Apr. 20272028 Senior Unsecured Notes-
Series B 225, 000 225, 000 5. 09 % Jul. 20282030 Senior Unsecured Notes- Series C 100, 000 100, 000 5. 19 % Jul. 20302031
Senior Unsecured Public Notes 375, 000 375, 000 2. 60 % Sep. 2031Total senior unsecured notes 850, 000 850, 000
Unamortized debt issuance costs and original issuance discount, net ( 4, 691) ( 5, 445 36;499-) Total senior unsecured notes,
net 845, 309 844, 555 843;-80+-Total unsecured debt, net $ 1, 936-831 , 569-690 $ 1, 592936 , 472-569 (a) At December 31,
2023 and 2022, a balance of $ 15. 0 million and $ 123. 5 million was subject to the one- month SOFR of 5. 35 % and 4. 36 %,
respectively . The remaining balanee-balances ietudes-of $ 100 —8-million CAD borrowings were remeasured to $ 75. 4
million USD and $ 73. & million USD at December 31 , swhieh-was-2023 and 2022, respectively, and were subject to the one-
month CDOR of 5. 46 % and 4. 74 % , respectively . (b) At December 31, 26242023 , one- month SOFR was 5. 35 %. At
December 31, 2022 the apphcable 1nterest rate was one- month LIBOR 0f4 39 % plu% 1. 00 %. (c) At December 31, %92%
2023 and 0 56 -

35 % and 4. 36 %, respectlvely (e—d ) The Company s v
beﬁew-rﬂgs—freﬂa—t-he—Revolvmg (1ed1t Facnhty contains two six- month extensmn optlons sub]ect to certam condltmns,
including Agree ; gs-from-the payment
of %Q%Hnseeufed—"l:efm—l:ean—&nd- an t-he—Z(-)%9—H-nseetu=ed—’Fefm—I:eaﬁ—extens1on fee equal to 0. 0625 % of the revolving
commitments. 82 At December 31, 2622-2023 , the weighted average interest rate on all outstanding borrowings was4—82-%-,
exclusive of interest rate swap agreements was 5. 33 %. At December 31, 2023, the weighted average interest rate on all
outstanding borrowings, inclusive of interest rate swap agreements was 3. 73 % . For the years ended December 31, 2022,
and 2021, the Company incurred debt issuance costs of $ 7. 0 million, and $ S. 0 million, respectively, associated with
ﬁnancmg act1v1t1es The Company d1d not incur any debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31, %922—2023 —t-he

of—I-neeme—&ﬂd—Gempfehen&we—Iﬂeeme— Debt 1ssuance costs and orrolnal 1ssuance dlscounts are amortrzed asa component of

Interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. The following table
summarizes debt issuance cost and original issuance discount amortization: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands)
Debt issuance costs and original issuance discount amortization $ 3, 938 $ 3, 692 § 3, 854 $3;445-10. MortgagesThe Company’
s mortgages consist of the following: Origination Maturity (in thousands, except interest rates) Date Date Interest December 31,
Lender (Month / Year) (Month / Year) Rate Wilmington Trust National Association Apr- 19 Feb- 28 4. 92 % §$ 44, 207 $ 45, 516
$46,760(a) (b) (c) (d) Wilmington Trust National Association Jun- 18 Aug- 25 4. 36 % 18, 725 19, 150 49;-557a) (b) (¢) (e

d ) PNC Bank Oct- 16 Nov- 26 3. 62 % 16, 241 16, 675 +#-094-(b) (c) Aegon Apr- 12 Oct- 23 6. 38 % — 5, 413 6;249+(b) (d
o2 Purham - HEECFul-21Jul-24-Greaterof Prime+-25-%0r-5-00-%—F506-b)3f) Total mortgages 79, 173 86, 754 9%
+60-Debt issuance costs, net ( 105) (152 3H344-) Mortgages, net $ 79, 068 $ 86, 602 $96;:846-(a) Non- recourse debt includes
the indemnification / guaranty of the Company €erperattenrand+or-OR-pertaining to fraud, environmental claims, insolvency,
and other matters. (b) Debt secured by related rental property and lease rents. (c) Debt secured by guaranty of the OP. (d)
Mortgage was assumed Apﬂ-l—%@-l—9—a§ part of the acqumtlon ot the related property The debt was recorded at fair value at the
time of t-he—asgumptlon - y Was

t-'rme—of—&sstrmpt—ieﬂ—&t—BeeembeH—l,—%@Q—Z— investment in rental property of $ -1-43—120 -3—5 mllhon was pledged as collater"ll

against the Company’ s mortgages. Estimated future principal payments to be made under the above mertgage-mortgages and
the Company’ s unsecured credit agreements (see Note 9) at December 31, 28222023 , are as follows: (in thousands) $ #5822,
260 20, 195 634507 , 465277 351, 596 263, 277 Thereafter 775,002 $ 1, 938919 , 607 278-$2,-034,-676-Certain of the
Company’ s mortgages provide for prepayment fees and can be terminated under certain events of default as defined under the
related agreements. These prepayment fees are not reflected as part of the table above. 11. Interest Rate Swaps Interest rate
swaps were entered into with certain financial institutions in order to mitigate the impact of interest rate variability over the term
of the related debt agreements The mterest r"lte swap% are consrdered cash flow hedges }n—efdeﬁe—reduee—eetmtefpafw

In turn, the Company pays the counterpartles each month an amount equal to a fixed rate multrphed by the related outstanding
notional amounts. The intended net impact of these transactions is that the Company pays a fixed interest rate on its variable-
rate borrowings. In order to reduce counterparty concentration risk, the Company diversifies the institutions that serve as
swap counterparties. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non- performance by the counterparties of



the swaps. The Company minimizes the risk exposure by limiting counterparties to only major banks who meet
established credit and capital guidelines. In connection with the issuance of the 2031 Senior Unsecured Public Notes in
September 2021 and repayment of outstanding borrowings of variable rate debt indexed to the one- month LIBOR rate (see Note
9), the Company terminated interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate termination value of $ 5. 6 million. The Company
determined that it was not probable the hedge forecasted transactions would not occur during the original periods, and therefore,
the $ 5. 6 million of accumulated losses held in Other comprehensive income is being reclassified to interest expense on a
straight- line basis over the original lives of the terminated swaps. There were no swap terminations for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-26268-. 3FThe following is a summary of the Company’ s outstanding interest rate swap
agreements: (in thousands, except interest rates) December 31, 2622-2023 December 31, 2024-2022 Counterparty Maturity Date
FixedRate Variable Rate Index (a) NotionalAmount Fair Value Notional Amount Fair Value Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. October
2024 2. 72 % daily compounded SOFR ene-—month-EHFBOR-S 15, 000 $ $ 15, 000 $ (762)-Capital One, National Association
December 2024 1. 58 % daily compounded SOFR enre-—month- EHBOR-15, 000 15, 000 €4H-Bank of Montreal January 2025
1. 91 % ene—month EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 239 25;-680649)-Truist Financial Corporation April
2025 2. 20 % ene—menth- EHIBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 169 25-806+965)-Bank of Montreal July 2025
2. 32 % ene—menth- EIBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 162 257-006-35-0649)-Truist Financial Corporation
July 2025 1. 99 % ene—menth EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 358 25;-6600«76-Truist Financial
Corporation December 2025 2. 30 % enre—month- EIBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 279 25660125
Bank of Montreal January 2026 1. 92 % daily compounded SOFR ere—moenth EHBOR-25, 000 1, 071 25, 000 1, 547 25666
F60)>-Bank of Montreal January 2026 2. 05 % ene—menth EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 40, 000 1, 615 40, 000 2, 332 48;
B00-(5-45)-Capital One, National Association January 2026 2. 08 % ene—menth-E-HBOR-daily compounded SOFR 35, 000 1,
389 35, 000 2, 007 35;-800-274)-Truist Financial Corporation January 2026 1. 93 % daily compounded SOFR ene—month
HBOR-25, 000 1, 067 25, 000 1, 542 25;-0667F68)-Capital One, National Association April 2026 2. 68 % daily compounded
SOFR ene—month EHBOR-15, 000 15, 000 94H-Capital One, National Association July 2026 1. 32 % ene—menth HHBOR
daily compounded SOFR 35, 000 2, 186 35, 000 3, 042 35;--800+205)-Bank of Montreal December 2026 2. 33 % daily
compounded SOFR ene—month FFBOR-10, 000 10, 000 £538)-Bank of Montreal December 2026 1. 99 % daily compounded
SOFR ene-—month EHBOR-25, 000 1, 299 25, 000 1, 773 25;-800936)-Toronto- Dominion Bank March 2027 2. 46 % one-
month CDOR 15, 087 (b) 14, 764 (&b ) Wells Fargo Bank, N. A. April 2027 2. 72 % ene—menth EHBOR-daily
compounded SOFR 25, 000 25, 000 1, 129 25:-666-5-88F-Bank of Montreal December 2027 2. 37 % daily compounded
SOFR ere—moenth EHBOR-25, 000 1, 215 25, 000 1, 628 25;-860-4;576)-Capital One, National Association December 2027 2.
37 % daily compounded SOFR ene—menth-EFHBOR-25, 000 1, 197 25, 000 1, 605 25:-060-(5-575)-Wells Fargo Bank, N. A.
January 2028 2. 37 % ene—menth- EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 75, 000 3, 632 75, 000 4, 854 #5:-606-4-74H-Bank of
Montreal May 2029 2. 09 % ene—menth-EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 835 25, 000 2, 295 25:-606-(1531+6)
Regions Bank May 2029 2. 11 % enre—menth EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 801 25, 000 2, 244 25;--606-15356)
Regions Bank June 2029 2. 03 % enre—month EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 900 25, 000 2, 357 25;-606-15222)
U. S. Bank National Association June 2029 2. 03 % ene—menth EHBOR-daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 1, 908 25, 000 2,
377 25:-066-(220)-Regions Bank August 2029 2. 58 % one- month SOFR 100, 000 4,392 100, 000 5, 782 Toronto-
Dominion Bank August 2029 2. 58 % one- month SOFR 45, 000 2, 021 45, 000 2, 674 U. S. Bank National Association
August 2029 2. 65 % one- month SOFR 15, 000 15,000 U. S. Bank National Association August 2029 2. 58 % one-
month SOFR 100, 000 4,427 100, 000 5, 861 ———U. S. Bank National Association August 2029 1. 35 % ene—menth HHBOR
daily compounded SOFR 25, 000 2, 828 25, 000 3, 419 25;:-806-9)>-Regions Bank March 2032 2. 69 % one- month CDOR 185,
087 (b) 14,764 (&b ) 1,092 U. S. Bank National Association March 2032 2. 70 % one- month CDOR 15, 087 (b) 14,
764 (&b ) 1, 107 Bank of Montreal March 2034 2. 81 % one- month CDOR 30, 174 (¢) 1, 410 29, 530 (&c) 2, 424
$ 975,435 $ 46,096 S 973, 822 § 63, 390 $-646,-800-$-2F171H(a ) Prior to the cessation of LIBOR on July 1, 2023, the
variable rate index for daily compounded SOFR based swaps was one- month LIBOR. (b ) The contractual notional
amount is $ 20. 0 million e=CAD. (c) The contractual notional amount is $ 40. 0 million CAD. At December 31, 26222023 ,
the weighted average fixed rate on all outstanding interest rate swaps was 2. 23-28 %. 98-At December 31, 2023, the weighted
average interest rate on all outstanding borrowings, inclusive of unsecured credit agreements was 3. 73 %. 84 The total
amounts recognized, and the location in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income,
from converting from variable rates to fixed rates under these agreements were as follows: Total Interest Expense Amount of
(Loss) Gain Presented in the f=ess)-Recognized in Reclassification from Accumulated Consolidated Statements Accumulated
Other Other Comprehensive Income €essy-of Income and (in thousands) Comprehensive Amount of Comprehensive For the
year ended December 31, Income Location Gain (Loss) Feeatterfoss-Income § (17, 293) Interest expense $ 25, 679 $ 80,
053 90, 560 Interest expense $( 4, 453 $) 78, 652 39, 353 Interest expense (16, 136) 64, 146 {58,544 Interestexpense12;
656-76:138-Amounts related to the interest rate swaps expected to be reclassified out of Accumulated other comprehensive
income fossy-to Interest expense during the next twelve months are estimated to be a gain of $ 22-23 . 8-6 million —Fhe

Controlling Interests Under the Company’ s UPREIT structure, entities and individuals can contribute their properties in
exchange for OP Units. There were no UPREIT transactions during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;and
2626-. The cumulative amount of UPREIT properties contributed, less assumed debt, amounted to $ 128. 7 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2024. In exchange for the properties contributed and as part of the Company”’ s
Internalization-internalization , 5, 868, 654 and 3, 059, 082 non- controlling OP Units were issued and outstanding,
respectively, as of December 31, 2023, representing a 4. 5 % interest in the OP at December 31, 2023. In exchange for the



properties contributed and as part of the Company’ s internalization . 5, 939, 680 and 4, 265, 126 non- controlling OP Units
were issued and outstanding, respectively, as of December 31, 2022, representing a 5. 2 % interest in the OP at December 31,

2022. In exchange for the properties contributed and as part of the Company’ s Internatizatterrinternalization , 6, 058, 080 and
4,265, 126 non- controlling OP Units were 1ssued and outstandlng, respectrvely, as of December 31,2021, representlng a6.0%
interest in the OP at December 31 2021. inexechang e e A

a—7—3%—tﬂtefest—tﬁ—t-h&9P—at—Beeeﬁ&ber—3—l—29%9—The OP Units are economrcally equlvalent to the Corporatron s common
stock and, subject to certain restrictions, are convertible into the Company’ s common stock at the option of the respective unit
holders on a one- to- one basis. The OP Units are redeemable for cash at the option of the holder, however, the Company may
issue shares in lieu of cash. Therefore , the OP Units are considered to be permanent equity. Exchanges of OP Units held by non-
controlling interest holders are recorded by reducing non- controlling interest on a historical cost basis with a corresponding
increase in common stock and additional paid- in capital. The following table summarizes OP Units exchanged for shares of
common stock: For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) OP Units exchanged for shares of common stock 1,277 2, 935
Value of units exchanged $ 21,235 $ 1, 926 $ 46, 968 $+5:63+-During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company
achieved all four VWAP milestones applicable to the earnout and issued 1, 859, 257 OP Units (see Note 4). Holders of the OP
Units do not have voting rights at the Corporation level. 13. Credit Risk Concentrations The Company maintained bank balances
that, at times, exceeded the federally insured limit during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;-and-2626-. The
Company has not experienced losses relating to these deposits and management does not believe that the Company is exposed to
any srgnrﬁcant credrt rlsk Wrth respect to these amounts based —Prior-to-the-Internalization-on February72026:-the financial

v y nd capltallzatlon the-Asset-Manager-as-deseribedinNote 3~
cof tef&l—epefa%mg—e*peﬁses—feﬁhe banks holdlng such

December 31, 2023 2022 and 2021 —Fer—t-he—ye&fs—eﬂded—Beeember%H@%%l—aﬂd%@%G— the Company had no

individual tenants or common franchises that accounted for more than 10 % of tetal-Lease revenues , net , excluding lease
termination fees. 14. Equity GeneralOn September 21, 2020, the Corporation completed its IPO and 1ssued 37, 000, 000 shares
of Class A Common Stock inclusive of the underwriters’ partial exercise of their over- allotment option on October 20, 2020.
Aside from the conversion discussed below, the terms of the Class A Common Stock were identical to the terms of the
€ommen-common Stoek-stock . Each share of Class A Common Stock automatically converted into one share of Commen
common Steekstock on March 20, 2021, and effective March 22, 2021, all shares of Cemmen-common Steek-stock were
listed and freely tradeable on the NYSE under the ticker “ BNL. ”” The €emmen-common Steekstock and Class A Common
Stock are collectively referred to as the Corporation’ s “ common stock. ” 85 On June 28, 2021, the Corporation completed its
first public follow- on equity offering and issued 11, 500, 000 shares of Commen-common Steekstock , inclusive of the
underwriters’ full exercise of their over- allotment option, at $ 23. 00 per share. The net proceeds, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions of $ 10. 6 million and $ 0. 4 million of other expenses, were $ 253. 5 million. The Company used the
net proceeds to repay the Company’ s unseeured-revolving-Revolving eredit Credit faeility-Facility in full, and used the
remaining net proceeds for general business purposes, including acquisitions. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the
Company achieved all four VWAP milestones applicable to the earnout. As a result, the Company issued 1, 088, 977 shares of
common stock (see Note 4). Fhe-At- the- Market ProgramThe Company established-has an at- the- market common equity
offering program (“ ATM Program ), through which it may, from time to time, publicly offer and sell shares of common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $ 400. 0 million through June 2024 . The ATM Program provides for forward
sale agreements, enabling the Company to set the price of shares upon pricing the offering, while delaying the issuance of
shares and the receipt of the net proceeds. As of December 31, 2022-2023 , the Company has $ 145. 4 million of available
capacity under the ATM Program. The following table presents information about the Company’ s ATM Program activity: For
the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of common shares issued — 10, 471 45072
Weighted average sale price per share $ — $ 21. 66 $26-—26-Net proceeds $ — $ 222, 893 $27293-Gross proceeds — 226,
483 28;137In August 2022, the Company completed a public offering to sell an aggregate of 13, 000, 000 shares of Commen
common Steekstock at a price of $ 21. 35 per share, subject to certain adjustments, in connection with a forward sale
agreement. On December 28, 2022, the Company settled the forward sale agreement and issued 13, 000, 000 shares of Commen
common Steelestock . The net proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $ 3. 4 million and $ 0. 6
million of other expenses, were § 272. 6 million. The Company used the net proceeds to pay down the unseenred-revolving
Revolving eredit-Credit faettity-Facility . Common Stock The shares of the Corporation” s common stock entitle the holders to
one vote per share on all matters upon which stockholders are entitled to vote, to receive dividends and other distributions as
authorized by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law, and to all rights of a
stockholder pursuant to the Maryland General Corporation Law. The common stock has no preferences or preemptive
conversion or exchange rights. Pursuant to the limited liability company agreement between the Corporation and the OP, each
outstanding OP Unit is convertible into one share of the Corporation’ s common stock, subject to the terms and conditions set
forth in the OP’ s operating agreement. Preferred StockThe Charter also provides the Board of Directors with the authority to
issue one or more classes or series of preferred stock, and prior to the issuance of such shares of preferred stock, the Board of
Directors shall have the power from time to time to classify or reclassify, in one or more series, any unissued shares and
designate the preferences, rights and privileges of such shares of preferred stock. At December 31, 2023 and 2022 and-2624-, no
shares of the Corporation’ s preferred stock were issued and outstanding . Share Repurchase ProgramOn March 14, 2023,
the Company’ s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program (the “ Repurchase Program ), which



authorized the Company to repurchase up to $ 150. 0 million of the Company’ s common stock. These purchases can be
made in the open market or through private transactions from time to time over the 12- month time period following
authorization, depending on prevailing market conditions and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The timing,
manner, price and amount of any repurchases of common stock under the Repurchase Program will be determined at
the Company’ s discretion, using available cash resources. During the year ended December 31, 2023, no shares of the
Company’ s common stock were repurchased under the program . 15. Stock- Based Compensation Restricted Stock
AwardsThe Company awarded 311, 583, 181, 244, and 199, 430 and-340;9%6-shares of RSAs, during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, and-2028;respectively, to eertatrrofficers, employees and non- employee directors under
the Equity Incentive Plan. The holder of RSAs is generally +86-entitled at all times on and after the date of issuance of the
restricted common shares to exercise the rights of a stockholder of the Company, including the right to vote the shares and the
right to receive dividends on the shares. The RSAs vest over a one, three, or four year period from the date of the grant and are
subject to the holder’ s continued service through the applicable vesting dates and in accordance with the terms of the individual
award agreements. The weighted average value of awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 , and 2021
were $17.50,$ 21. 43 ,and $ 18. 66 respectlvely which were based on the market prlce pel %hare of the Company s
common %toek on the grant dates. The wete e

followmg table presenti 1nf0rmat10n about the Company s RSA% F or the year ended December 31, (in thousandi)
Compensation cost $ 4, 437 $ 3, 469 $ 3, 926 $3;-989-Dividends declared on unvested RSAs Fair Value of shares vested during
the period 3, 384 3, 209 3, 296 —As of December 31, 2022-2023 , there was $ 4-5 . 8-0 million of unrecognized compensation
costs related to the unvested restricted shares, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2. 3-4 years.
The following table presents information about the Company’ s restricted stock activity: For the year ended December 31, (in
thousands, except per share amounts) Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Number of Shares
Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share
Unvested at beginning of period $ 20.36 $ 19. 62 $ 20. 50 —$—=GCranted 17.50 21. 43 18. 70 Vested (193) 20. 33 50-Vested
(147) 19. 80 (164) 20. 15 Forfeited (23) 18.79 ( 10) 20. 24 (7) 19. 40 Unvested at end of period 18. 63 20. 36 19.
62 20-50-Performance- based Restricted Stock UnitsDuring the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company
issued target grants of 186, 481, 124, 024 , and 132, 189 PRSUs under the Equity Incentive Plan to the officers of the Company,
respectively. The awards are non- vested restricted stock units where the vesting percentages and the ultimate number of units
vesting will be measured 50 % based on the relative total shareholder return (“ rTSR ) of the Company’ s common stock as
compared to the rTSR of peer companies, as identified in the grant agreements, over a three- year period, and 50 % based on the
TSR of the Company’ s common stock as compared to the rTSR of the MSCI US REIT Index over a three year measurement
period. Vesting percentages range from 0 % to 200 %, with a target of 100 %. rTSR means the percentage appreciation in the
fair market value of one share over the three year measurement period beginning on the date of grant, assuming the
reinvestment of dividends on the ex- dividend date. The target number of units is based on achieving a rTSR equal to the 55th
percentile of the peer companies and MSCI US REIT Index. Dividends accrue during the measurement period and will be paid
on the PRSUs ultimately earned at the end of the measurement period in either cash or common stock, at the direction of the
-Be&rd—ef—Btreefe%s—Compemann Committee of the Board of Directors . The grant date fair value of the PRSUs was
measured using a Monte Carlo simulation model based on assumptions including share price volatility. The following table
presents nfermation-about-compensation cost recognized on the Company’ s PRSYs-performance- based restricted stock
unit : For the Year Ended December 31, (in thousands) Compensation cost $ 1, 922 § 1, 847 $ 84-87 As of December 31, 2022
2023 , there was $ 3. 5-8 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to the unvested PRSUs, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of +2 . 9-0 years —Fhe-were-no-PRSUs-at Deeember-34;2026-. The following table
presents information about the Company’ s PRSUB-performance- based restricted stock unit activity: For the Year Ended
December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per
Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value per Share Number of Shares Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value per Share Unvested at beginning of period $ 26. 27 $ 24. 40 — $ — Granted 23. 78 27. 93 24. 40 Vested — — — —
— — Forfeited (68) 26. 48 (1) 27. 93 (22) 24. 40 Unvested at end of period 24. 90 26. 27 24. 40 16. Earnings per Share The
following table summarizes the components used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“ EPS ): For the
Year Ended December 31, (in thousands, except per share amounts) Basic earnings: Net earnings attributable to Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc. common shareholders $ 155, 478 $ 122, 115 $ 102, 426 $5+48+Less: earnings allocated to unvested restricted
shares ( 560) (419) (394 3d34) Net earnings used to compute basic earnings per common share $ 154,918 $ 121, 696 $ 102,
032 $54-056-Diluted carnings: Net earnings used to compute basic earnings per common sharc $ 154,918 $ 121, 696 $ 102,
032 Add: net $-55850Netcarnings attributable to non- controlling interests 7, 834 7, 360 7, 102 5-895-Net earnings used to
compute diluted earnings per common share $ 162, 752 $ 129, 056 $ 109, 134 $-56;,345-Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 187, 101 170, 225 153, 425 H+289-Less: weighted average unvested restricted shares (a) ( 484) (385) (368
F39-) Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in basic earnings per common share 186, 617 169, 840
153, 057 Add: HH156-Effeets-effects of restricted stock units (b) —Add: Effeets-effects of convertible membership units (c)
9,407 10, 265 10, 741 H5-649-Weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in diluted earnings per common




share 196, 315 180, 201 163, 970 428;799-Basic and earningspershare-$-0-72-$0-67$0-44-Diluted carnings per share $ 0.
8350.72$0. 67 $0644-(a) Represents the weighted average effects of 492, 046, 396, 383, and 372, 150 and340,963
unvested restricted shares of common stock as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 —&nd—%@%@— respectively, which will be
excluded from the computation of earnings per share until they vest. (b) Represents the weighted average effects of shares of
common stock to be issued as though the end of the period were the end of the performance period (see Note 15). (c) Represents
the Welghted average effects of' 8, 927, 736, 10, 204 806 and 10, 323 206 —&nd—l—l—3r9-8—43-8—OP UIlltS outstanding at

G e-8 bae 3 h S e . 17. Income ques For federal income tax purposes, dlstrlbutlons to
stockholders are charactenzed as ordinary dividends, capltal gain distributions, or return of capital distributions. Return of
capital distributions will reduce stockholders’ basis in their shares, but not below zero. The +62-portion of the distribution that
exceeds the adjusted basis of the stock will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of property. The following table shows
the character of the distributions the Company paid on a percentage basis: For the Year Ended December 31, Character of
Distributions Ordinary dividends % % % Capital gain distributions % % % Return of capital distributions % % % % % % 18.
Supplemental Cash Flow Disclosures Cash paid for interest was $ 77. 1 million, $ 72. 0 million, and $ 57. 3 millien;-and-$72-6
million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;and2626-, respectively. Cash paid for income taxes was $ 0.
3 million, $ 0. 4 million, and $ 0. 6 mithen;and-$+—-5-million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 202 | ;and
2020, respectively. The following are non- cash transactions and have been excluded from the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows: « During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company converted 1, 277, 070 OP Units valued
at $ 21. 2 million to 1, 277, 070 shares of common stock. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company
converted 118, 400 OP units-Units valued at $ 1. 9 million to 118, 400 shares of common stock. During the year ended
December 31 2021, the Company converted 2 934, 489 OP Units valued at $ 47. 0 m11110n to 2, 934, 489 shares of common
stock. Puting rearended-Deeember312020the-Compan eonverted d-4 otto

445—sha-fes-e-f—eefﬂfﬂen-steeHSee Note 12) At Decembel 31 2023 2022, and 2021 —&nd—%@%@— leldend amounts decldxed
and accrued but not yet paid amounted to $ 56. 9 million, $ 54. 5 million, and $ 45. 9 miHhenand-$39-3-million, respectively.
* At December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 ;and2026-, the Company adjusted the carrying value of Non- controlling interests to
reflect their share of the book value of the OP by $ 0. 5 million, $ 6. 3 million, and $ 32. 2 milltenand-$-4+—2)million,
respecnvely, w1th the reallocatlon recmded as an offset to Additional pdld in capltdl (see Note 2) —‘—Bﬁﬂng—ﬂ&e—ye&ﬁeﬂded

assets~. 19. Commitments and C ontmoenCles thlgatlon From time to time, the Company is a party to various litigation matters
incidental to the conduct of the Company’ s business. While the resolution of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty,
based on currently available information, the Company does not believe that the final outcome of any of these matters will have
a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. Property and Acquisition RelatedIn
connection with ownership and operation of real estate, the Company may potentially be liable for cost and damages related to
environmental matters. The Company is not aware of any non- compliance, liability, claim, or other environmental condition
that would have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations, or liquidity. As of December 31,
26222023 , the Company has a $222-mihenremaining-commitment to fund a building-—-- build expansien;— to- suit
transaction with a remaining obligation of $ 111. 0 million expected to fund in exehange-for-inereases-inrmultiple draws
through October 2024 using a combination of available cash on hand and Revolvmg Credit Faclhty borrowings. rent

construction completnon obligs
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party to three-two separate tax protection agreements with the contributing members of two distinct UPREIT transactions and te
a third tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the Company’ s nternatization-internalization . The tax
protection agreements require the Company to indemnify the beneficiaries in the event of a sale, exchange, transfer, or other
disposal of the contributed property, and in the case of the tax protection agreement entered into in connection with the
Company’ s Internalization-internalization , the entire Company, in a taxable transaction that would cause such beneficiaries to
recognize a gain that is protected under the agreements, subject to certain exceptions. The Company is required to allocate an
amount of nonrecourse liabilities to each beneficiary that is at least equal to the minimum liability amount, as contained in the
agreements. The minimum liability amount and the associated allocation of nonrecourse liabilities are calculated in accordance
with applicable tax regulations, are completed at the OP level, and do not represent GAAP accounting. Therefore, there is no
impact to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Based on values as of December 31, 2022-2023 , taxable sales of the
applicable properties would trigger liability under the agreements of approximately $ 20. 4 million. Based on information
available, the Company does not believe that the events resulting in damages as detailed above have occurred or are likely to
occur in the foreseeable future. 89 In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various types of commitments to
purchase real estate properties. These commitments are generally subject to the Company &~ s customary due diligence process
and, accordrngly, a number of qpecrﬁc conditions must be met before the Company is obhgated to purcha%e the propertre%

Company pard drqtrrbunon% totahng $ 54—56 O mrlhon On February -1—7—16 %92—3—2024 the Board of Drrectors declared a
quarterly distribution of § 0. 27#5-285 per share on the Company’ s common stock and OP Units for the first quarter of 2623
2024 , which will be payable on or before April +4-15 , 2023-2024 to stockholders and unit holders of record as of March 34+29 ,
2023-2024 . Subsequent to December 31, 2622-2023 , the Company paid down $ 6318 . 8-5 million, and borrowed $ 29-32 . -5
million on the Revolving Credit F acrhty, the proceedq of Wthh were u%ed for general corporate purpo%e% Subsequent-to

ametm’eed—te—!ﬁ%—miﬂ-teﬂ—&oad%tone Net Leaie lnc and Sub%ldrarre@ Schedule llI - Real E@tate A@%et% and Accumulated
Depreciation As of December 31, 2822-2023 (in thousands) Costs Capitalized Life on Initial Costs to Subsequent Gross Amount
at Which Carried at Which Company ( A-a ) to Acquisition Close of Period Depreciation Buildings and Buildings and
Accumulated Date of Date is ComputedProperty Type Encumbrance Land Improvements Land Improvements Land
Improvements Total (B-b ) Depreciation Construction Acquired (Years) Industrial Manufacturing $ — $ 131, 149-548 $ 649
647 , 557751 5 — $9-14 ,343-020 S 131, +49-548 § 658-661 , 906-771 S 796-793 ., 649-319 $ 75-92 , +69-248 1932- 2021
2011-2622-2023 15- 39Distribution & Warehouse — 89, 157 573, 064 4, 511 19, 859 93, 668 92-592 , 347923 686, 591 76 ,
225 5634 5H1-87596:828-593;378-650,2066-66;531+1929- 2021 2012- 2022 15- 39Food Processing 541352356541
526-—36-49 , 822-322 52-529 , 356-572-669 — 51 , 345-624-842 49 , 70437322 581 , 924-511 630, 833 51, 899 1907- 2026
2022 2012-2022 15- 39Flex and R & D 4544 | 51657206 53 , H81+55-961 138 , +56-299 — 5753 , H81+55961 138 , 303
198-242,316-22-7411982- 192, 264 24, 183 1973 - 2018 2013-2019 15- 39Cold Storage +9-18 , 725 +56-- 10, 610 H-118 ,
474 — 10, 610 118, 516 129, 126 20 , 638 +54;542—H5638154;616-166;24821-769-1933- 2017 201 7- 26482023 7-
39Services — 58, H4-65731 74 , 644-062 — 3, 680 58, H4-69-731 77 , 324127742 136 , 4386473 9 , 522-504 1960- 2022
2013-2622-2023 15- 39Untenanted — 1, 048 7, 545 — 1, 048 7, 546 8, 594 1, 248-492 15- 39Healthcare Clinical — 32, 857
279, 802 10, 566 33, 424283414 290 , 368 53910;26633-323 , 98+293-782 62 , 853 §0532F-786-55:-568-1970- 2022 2010-
2022 45-7 - 39Healthcare Services — 24-17 , 393446-995 119 , 126-986 (145) 2+-17 , 2481+46-850 120 , 818 79516804313
138 . 8681982-668 14, 927 1965 - 2020 2009- 2022 15- 39Animal Health Services — 15,943 111, 107 — (144) 15,943 110,
963 126, 906 +4-17 , 54+5-634 1954- 2017 2015- 2021 15- 39Surgical — 9,942 117, 006 10,232 117, 141 127,373 4922 , 6+
823 1984- 2011 2014-2021 15- 39Life Science — 10, 306 78, 056 — 1, 327 10, 306 79, 383 89, 689 +4-17 , 893-246 1965-
2016 49-50 , 187236
424 238 , 569—984 3 167 650-- 50 49-, -3-84%49—621 242 2—1—9%8-9—151 292 6634877255 , 59—1—126 1965 2020 2009- 2626
2023 15- 39Casual Dining — 75, 846-272-431 269 ,—7’44—079 — 75, 840272431 269 , 786348091 344 , 626-522 46,395-392 ;
+25-1972- 2014 2011- 2022 15- 39Retail General Merchandise 16, 675241 80, 669 294, 923 — 80, 669 294-295 , 946-079 375,
66919-748 28 , H52603-352 1996 - 2022 2016- 2022 15- 39Automotive — 33-31 , 659424-813 117 , 979-973 — 33-31 , 659
1+25-813 118 , 652158046 149 , H1+26-859 23 , 389047 1909- 2021 2014- 2022 7- 39Home Furnishings — 3, 625 90, 644 —
3,62591, 625 95,250 4416 , +78-820 1974- 2014 2017- 2018 15- 39Child Care — 4-1 , 74+263 8,804 — — 4-1 , 74+5-263 8
, 804 10, 067 2022- 223-2023 15- 390ffice Corporate Headquarters — 43-7 , 4+5-98-554 70 , 644395 — 2, 222 7,554 72, 617
80 171 13, 356 415166, 263H3-67813-7491965-1975 - 2008 2012- 2022 15- 39Strategic Operations — 7, 723-96-864 92 ,
$9 ,9566-092 7, 723-99-864 101 , 636-166-374 109 , 75317238 21 , §H-162 1984- 2012 2016- 26472018 7- 39Call
Center — 32, 586-35-870 30 , 942-855 — 10, 228 3-2 , 586-46-870 41 , +76-495-083 43 , 756-953 10, +54-166 1979- 1998 2014-
2019 15- 39Untenanted — 3, 147 — — 3, 147 3, 335 15- 39Acquisitions in Process (€&¢) — — — — — — Property Under
Development — 17, 300 77, 664 — — 17, 300 77, 664 94, 964 — Total (B-d ) 86-$ 79 . 754-763-172 $ 760 , 257421 $ 4, 455
089 ,389-734 8 5, 410 84-$ 128 , +74-768-095 $ 765 , 667831 $ 4, 239-217 , 563-5-829 $ 4 . 668-983 , 236-533-660 $ 626 , 597
965 Netes~ A-a ) The initial cost to the Company represents the original purchase price of the property (see Note 5). (B-b )




The aggregate cost of real estate owned as of December 31, 2622-2023 for U. S. federal income tax purposes was approximately
$ 5. 2-1 billion. (€-¢) Acquisition costs in progress represents costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023
related to asset acquisitions expected to close during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . (B-d ) This schedule excludes
properties subject to leases that are classified as direct financing leases, sales- type leases, as well as the value of right- of- use
assets recorded on certain of the properties where the Company is lessee under a ground lease. +66-91 For the Year Ended
December 31, Change in Total Real Estate Assets Balance, beginning of period $ 5, 008, 230 $ 4, 205, 191 $ 3, 704, 488
Acquisitions, developments, and improvements 167, 089 929, 972 613, 646 Dispositions (154, 907) (118, 028) (109, 761)
Impairment (36, 752) (8, 905) (3, 182) Balance, end of period $ 4, 983, 660 $ 5, 008, 230 $ 4, 205, 191 For the Year Ended
December 31, Change in Accumulated Depreclatlon Balance, begmmng of perlod $ 4—533 965 %95—1-9—1—$—3—794—48—8—$—3—

etation it pertod $ 430 141 $ 349 977 $—2—7—1—944—Acqu151t10ns and
bulldlng 1rnprovements 122 778 115 892 100, 878 93—74-1—Dlsp051t10ns (24,547) (8, 165) (19, 543) 42369 Impairment ( 5,
599) (3,903) (1, 171) €439-Balance, end of period $ 626,597 $ 533, 965 $ 430, 141 $349,97FItem 9. Changes in and
Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. None. Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. Evaluation
of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d-
15 (e) of the Exchange Act), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC” s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. For As-efand-for-the year ended December 31,
2622-2023 , we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a reasonable assurance level. Management’ s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act. Internal
control over financial reporting is a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial
statements would be prevented or detected. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2622-2023 . The effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2822-2023 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Changes in Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2622-2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting. Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting We have audited the internal control over financial
reporting of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “ Company ) as of December 31, 2822-2023 , based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 20622-2023 , based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by COSO. We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 ,
of the Company and our report dated February 23-22 , 2623-2024 , expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements. The Company’ s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management' s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required
to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion. Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting A company’ s internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’ s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in




accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’ s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Rochester, New YorkFebruary 23-22 , 2623-2024 Item 9B. Other Information . During the three
months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “ Rule 10bS- 1 trading
arrangement ” or “ non- Rule 10b5- 1 trading arrangement, > as each term is defined in Item 408 (a) of Regulation S- K .
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections. Part III. Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers,
and Corporate Governance. The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’ s 2622-2023 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Item 11. Executive Compensation. The information required by this Item will be included in the definitive proxy statement
and is incorporated herein by reference. The Company will file such definitive proxy statement with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’ s 2622-2023 fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on
Form 10- K. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management. Item 13. Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions and Director Independence. Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. PART IV. Item 15. Exhibits
and Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 8. ““ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data * of this Annual Report on
Form 10- K. See Item 8. *“ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data * of this Annual Report on Form 10- K. All other
schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the financial statements
or the notes thereto. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary. Index to Exhibits. Exhibit No. Description 3. 1 Articles of Incorporation of
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company”’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017 and
incorporated by reference) 3. 2 Articles of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as
Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 3. 3
Articles Supplementary to Articles of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 2 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 3. 4 Articles of Amendment to Articles
of Incorporation of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
September 18, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 3. 5 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Corporation’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed May 8, 2023 and incorporated by
reference) 3. 6 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3. 1 to the Company’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed on March 25, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 4. 1 Description of the Company’ s
Securities (filed as Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 23, 2022, and incorporated by
reference) 4. 2 Indenture, dated as of September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC and U. S. Bank National Association, as trustee, including the form of the Guarantee (filed as Exhibit 4. 1 to the Company’
s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 15, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 4. 3 First Supplemental Indenture,
dated as of September 15, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC and U. S. Bank
National Association, as trustee, including the form of the Notes (filed as Exhibit 4. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed September 15, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 1 Second Amended and Restated Operating Agreement
of Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, dated September 21, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed September 21, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 2 *-Director Compensation and Stock Ownership Policy,
effective as of May 5, 2022 (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 of the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed February 23,
2023, and incorporated by reference) 10. 3 Form of Indemnification Agreement, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and each
of'its officers and directors (filed as Exhibit 10. 25 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017
and incorporated by reference) 10. 4 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated March 16, 2017, for 4. 84 % Guaranteed Senior
Notes due April 18, 2027, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 23 to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed April 24, 2017 and incorporated by
reference) 10. 5 Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of June 23, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net Lease,
LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed June 29, 2017, and incorporated by
reference) 10. 6 Consent and Agreement Regarding Commitment Increases and Additional Term Loans, dated as of November
20, 2017, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company,
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K
filed November 27, 2017, and incorporated by reference) 10. 7 First Amendment Regarding Commitment Increases, dated
February 28, 2019, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Company and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5,
2019, and incorporated by reference) 10. 8 Second Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July
1, 2019, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company,
and other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed July 3, 2019, and
incorporated by reference) 10. 9 Third Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of September 21,
2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, and
other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21, 2020, and
incorporated by reference) 10. 10 Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated as of March 31,



2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, and
other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May 54 , 2022 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 11 Note and Guaranty Agreement, dated July 2, 2018, for 5. 09 % Series B Guaranteed Senior
Notes due July 2, 2028 and 5. 19 % Series C Guaranteed Senior Notes due July 2, 2030, by and among Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the purchasers party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed July 6, 2018, and incorporated by reference) 10. 12 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 27, 2019, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto
(““ Capital One Term Loan Agreement ) (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5,
2019, and incorporated by reference) 10. 13 Guaranty, dated February 27, 2019, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., in favor of
Capital One, National Association (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed March 5, 2019,
and incorporated by reference) 10. 14 First Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated July 1, 2019, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed
as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed November 12, 2019, and incorporated by reference)
10. 15 Second Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21, 2020, and incorporated by reference) 10. 16 Third Amendment to
Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated March 12, 2021, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease,
Capital One, National Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on
Form 8- K filed March 18, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 17 Fourth Amendment to Capital One Term Loan
Agreement, dated March 31, 2022, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, Capital One, National
Association, and the other parties thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed May %
4, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 18 Fifth Amendment to Capital One Term Loan Agreement, dated June 8,
2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Capital One, National Association and the
lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed August 3, 2023 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 19 Term Loan Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, LLC,
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., and the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 9-20 Guaranty, dated
February 7, 2020, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated by reference) 10. 26-21 Amendment No. 1 to
Term Loan Agreement, dated September 21, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, JP
Morgan Chase Bank, N. A, as admrnrstratrve agent, and the other lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company”’ s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed September 21 2020 and 1ncorp0rated by reference) 10 Q—PReve}vrng—Gfedrt—[*gfeemeﬂt—

%Amended and Restated Revolvrng Credrt Agreement dated as of
January 28, 2022, by and among, Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., as

administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
February 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 24-23 Guaranty, dated January 28, 2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in
favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 3,
2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 25-24 Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2022, by and among
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Regions Bank, as administrative agent, and the lender parties thereto
(filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10.
26-25 Guaranty, dated August 1, 2022, by Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. in favor of Regions Bank (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the
Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 3, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 10. 2726 Tax Protection
Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, and the persons
named therein (filed as Exhibit 10. 3 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and incorporated
by reference) 10. 28-27 Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 7, 2020, between Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and the
persons named therein (filed as Exhibit 10. 4 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 25-28 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, effective February 7, 2020, by and
among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and €hristopker3-John D .
Ezarneel-Moragne (filed as Exhibit 10. 710 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 26-29 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January
10, 2023 and effective February 28, 2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC,
Broadstone Employee Sub, LL.C, and John D. Moragne (filed as Exhibit 10. 30 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on
Form 10- Q filed May 4, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 30 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement,
effective February 7, 2020, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub,
LLC, and Ryan M. Albano (filed as Exhibit 10. 8 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed February 7, 2020 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 27-31 First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 10,
2023 and effective February 428 , 26268-2023 , by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC,
Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and SeanFRyan M . €utt-Albano (filed as Exhibit 10. 9-32 to the Company’ s €urrent
Quarterly Report on Form 810 - K-Q filed Febraary7May 4 , 2626-2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 28-32 Severance



Protection Amended-andRestated-Employment-Agreement, dated January 10, 2023 and cffective February 728 , 2626-2023 |
by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub, LLC, and JehnB-Kevin M
. Meragne-Fennell (filed as Exhibit 10. +48-33 to the Company’ s €uarrent-Quarterly Report on Form 810 - k-Q filed February
7FMay 4 , 2626-2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 29-33 Chief Executive Officer Transition Agreement, dated
January 10, 2023, by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc., Broadstone Net Lease, LLC, Broadstone Employee Sub,
LLC, and Christopher J. Czarnecki (filed as Exhibit 10. 34 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed on
May 4, 2023 and incorporated by reference) 10. 34 Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan,
dated August 4, 2020 (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 4, 2020 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 36-35 Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted
Stock Hmit-Award Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10. 2 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed August 4, 2020 and
incorporated by reference) 10. 35-36 Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2021 Form) (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly Report on
Form 10- Q filed on May 5, 2021 and incorporated by reference) 10. 37 * Form of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. 2020
Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2022 Form) 10. 38 * Form of Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (2024 Form) 10. 39
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Change in Control Severance Protection Policy (filed as Exhibit 10. 1 to the Company’ s Quarterly
Report on Form 10- Q filed August 4, 2022 and incorporated by reference) 21. 1 * List of Subsidiaries of Broadstone Net Lease,
Inc. 23. 1 * Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 31. 1 * Certification of Chief
Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 31. 2 * Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Rule 13a- 14 (a) or Rule 15d- 14 (a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 32. 1 * { Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 32. 2 * 7 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 97. 1 * Broadstone Net
Lease, Inc. Compensation Clawback Policy 101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the instance document does not
appear in Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL Document 101. SCH101. CAL101.
DEF101. LAB101. PRE104 Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema DocumentInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase DocumentInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Documentinline XBRL Taxonomy
Extension Label Linkbase DocumentInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase DocumentCover Page
Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document) * Filed herewith. Management contract or compensatory
plan or arrangement. § In accordance with Item 601 (b) (32) of Regulation S- K, this Exhibit is not deemed “ filed ” for purposes
of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section. Such certifications will not be deemed
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference. SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized. BROADSTONE NET LEASE, INC. Date: February 23-22 , 2623-2024 / s / ChristepherJ-John D . Czarneekt
Christopher3-Moragne John D . €z&meek1—Moragne Chief Executive OfficerPursuant Offieer-and-PrestdentPursuwant-to the
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. Date: February 23-22 , 2623-2024 / s / Lmrie A. Hawkes Laurie A.
Hawkes Chairman of the Board of Directors Date: February 23-22 , 2623-2024 / s / €hristepherJ-John D . Czarneekt
ChristopherJ-Moragne John D . €zarneeki-Moragne Director, Chief Executive Officer and-President-(Prineipal-Exeentive
Offteery-Date: February 23-22 , 2023-2024 / s / Michael A. Coke Michael A. Coke Director Date: February 22,2024 /s /
Jessica Duran Jessica Duran Director Date: February 22, 2024 /s / Laura Felice Laura Felice Director Date: February
22,2024 /s / David M. Jacobstein David M. Jacobstein Director Date: February 22, 2024 /s / Shekar Narasimhan Shekar
Narasimhan Director Date: February 22 2024 / S / Demse Brooks- Wllllams Denise Brooks- Williams Dlrector Date:

Watters Jdmes H Watters Dlrector Ddte F ebrudry 2—3—22 %92—3—2024 /s / ky&n—Kevm M A}baﬂe—Ry&n—F ennell Kevin M.
Adbane-Fennell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) Date: February 23-22 , 2023
2024 / s / Timothy D. Dieffenbacher Timothy D. Dieffenbacher Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer) EXHBH-Exhibit 10. 2NON-37 Broadstone Net lease, inc. 2020 omnibus Equity and
Incentive Plan RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT - Notice EMPEOYEE-DIRECTOR-COMPENSATONPOHICY-The Board-of
Grant Bireetors(the—Beard-3-ef Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ”) , a Maryland corporation and internally
managed real estate investment trust, hereby grants to the Grantee set forth below (the “ Grantee ) Restricted Stock
Units (the “ Restricted Stock Units ), pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Notice of Grant (the “ Notice ), the
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “ Award Agreement ), and the Broadstone
Net Lease, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity and Incentive Plan (the “ Plan ). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein
shall have the meaning attributed to such terms in the Award Agreement or, if not defined therein, in the Plan, unless the
context requires otherwise. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to receive one (1) Share at the time and in the
manner set forth in the Award Agreement. Date of Grant: Name of Grantee: Target Number of Restricted Stock Units:
Maximum Number of Restricted Stock Units: Vesting: The Restricted Stock Units shall vest pursuant to the terms and



conditions set forth in Section 3 of the Award Agreement. Performance Period: ; cumulative performance
measured at the end of such 3- year period. The Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the execution and return of this
Notice by the Grantee to the Company within 30 days of the date hereof (including by utilizing an electronic signature
and / or web- based approval and notice process or any other process as may be authorized by the Company). By
executing this Notice, the Grantee acknowledges that his or her agreement to the covenants set forth in Section 6 of the
Award Agreement is a material inducement to the Company in granting this Award to the Grantee. This Notice may be
executed by facsimile or electronic means (including, without limitation, PDF) and in one or more counterparts, each of
which shall be considered an original instrument, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement,
and shall become binding when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to
the other party hereto. [ Signature Page Follows | IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this
Notice of Grant as of the Date of Grant set forth above. By: Name: John D. Moragne Title: Chief Executive Officer
GRANTEE [ Signature Page to Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant for Broadstone Net Lease 2020 Omnibus Equity
And Incentive Plan ] 2020 OMNIBUS EQUITY AND INCENTIVE PLAN THIS RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT
AWARD AGREEMENT (the “ Award Agreement ”) is entered into by and among Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the «
Company ) and the individual set forth on the signature page to that certain Notice of Grant (the “ Notice ) to which
this Award Agreement is attached. The terms and conditions of the Restricted Stock Units granted hereby, to the extent
not controlled by the terms and conditions contained in the Plan, shall be as set forth in the Notice and this Award
Agreement. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning attributed to such terms in the Notice
or, if not defined therein, in the Plan, unless the context requires otherwise. 1. No Right to Continued Employee Status
or Consultant Service Nothing contained in this Award Agreement shall confer upon the Grantee the right to the
continuation of his or her Employee status, or, in the case of a Consultant or Director, to the continuation of his or her
service arrangement, or in either case to interfere with the right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or other
Affiliates to Terminate the Grantee. 2. Term of Restricted Stock Units This Award Agreement shall remain in effect until
the Restricted Stock Units have fully vested and been settled or been forfeited by the Grantee as provided in this Award
Agreement. 3. Vesting of Restricted Stock Units. (a) Subject to Section S, the Restricted Stock Units (up to the Maximum
Number of Restricted Stock Units as set forth on the Notice) shall vest on such day following the expiration of the
Performance Period that the Committee determines the level of performance achieved (the “ Measurement Date ),
subject to the Grantee’ s not having Terminated prior to Measurement Date and only to the extent the performance
goals set forth on Schedule 1 (the “ Performance Goals ) are achieved. Except as set forth in Section 5 or in an
employment agreement or severance agreement between the Company or one of its Subsidiaries and the Grantee, if the
Grantee Terminates for any reason, the portion of the Restricted Stock Units that has adepted-not vested as of such date
shall terminate upon such Termination and be deemed to have been forfeited by the Grantee without consideration. (b)
(i) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 3 (a), if a Change in Control is consummated prior to the
Grantee’ s Termination, and the Restricted Stock Units are assumed in connection with such Change in Control,
achievement of the Performance Goals shall be determined by the Board in its good faith discretion as of the date on
which such Change in Control is consummated and the portion of the Restricted Stock Units that would have vested
pursuant to the Schedule 1 based on such level of achievement (such amount, the “ CIC Restricted Stock Units ) shall
remain issued, outstanding, and eligible to vest, and shall fully vest (100 %) upon the expiration of the original
Performance Period, subject to, except as set forth in Section 5 (c), the Grantee’ s not having Terminated prior to the
expiration of the original Performance Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any portion of the Restricted Stock Units the
other than the CIC Restricted Stock Units (if any) shall be deemed to have been forfeited by the Grantee without
consideration effective as of the date on which the Change in Control is consummated. (ii) In the event the Restricted
Stock Units are not assumed, or substituted for an equivalent award. by the Company’ s successor, the CIC Restricted
Stock Units, as determined in the manner described in Section 3 (b) (i) shall immediately become fully (100 %) vested
immediately prior to the consummation of the Change in Control, and any portion of the Restricted Stock Units other
than the CIC Restricted Stock Units (if any) shall be deemed to have been forfeited by the Grantee without consideration
effective as of the date on which the Change in Control is consummated. 4. Settlement Within thirty (30) days

the date Nomn— on which any portion of the Restricted Stock Units vest pursuant to Section 3 of this Award Agreement
and Schedule 1, the Company shall deliver to the Grantee one (1) Share in settlement of each Restricted Stock Unit that
becomes vested on such vesting date. S. Termination of Service (a) Except as otherwise set forth in an employment or
severance agreement between the Company or one of the Subsidiaries and the Grantee, and subject to the remainder of
this Section 5, if the Grantee incurs a Termination for any reason, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, then the portion
of the Restricted Stock Units that have not previously vested (after taking into account any vesting in connection with
such Termination pursuant to this Section 5) shall terminate and be forfeited as of the date of the Grantee’ s
Termination. (b) Subject to the remainder of this Section 5, if the Grantee incurs a Termination due to the Grantee’ s
death or Disability, Grantee or the Grantee’ s estate, as applicable will be entitled to receive a pro rata portion of the
number Restricted Stock Units (calculated in respect of the number of days the Grantee was employed during the
Performance Period prior to the date of Termination) determined to be vested and earned based on actual achievement
of the Performance Goals through the expiration of the Performance Period, as determined by the Committee on the
Measurement Date. The pro rata portion of the RSUs deemed to be vested and earned, if any, will be settled at the same
time as the similarly situated RSUs are settled for other active employee grantees, together with any accrued dividend
amounts in the Grantee’ s Account pursuant to Section 7 in respect of such pro rata RSUs. (c¢) If a Change in Control is
consummated prior to the Grantee’ s Termination and the Restricted Stock Units were assumed in connection with such



Change in Control in accordance with Section 3 (b), in the event the Grantee’ s employment is Terminated by the
Company (or its successor) without Cause or by the Grantee for Good Reason, in either case, on or within the 12 month
period following the consummation of such Change in Control, the CIC Restricted Stock Units to the extent then
outstanding at the time of the Grantee’ s Termination shall become fully (100 %) vested upon the Grantee’ s
Termination. For purposes of this Agreement “ Good Reason ” shall mean (x) if the Grantee is party to an employment
or a severance agreement with the Company or one of the Subsidiaries in which “ Good Reason ” is defined, the
occurrence of any circumstances defined as “ Good Reason ” in such employment or severance agreement, or (y) if the
Grantee is not party to an employment or severance agreement with the Company or one of the Subsidiaries in which “
Good Reason ” is defined, (i) a material diminution in the Grantee’ s annual base salary or target annual bonus
opportunity, (ii) a relocation (without the written consent of the Grantee) of Grantee’ s principal place of employment by
more than thirty - Empleyee Direetor-Compensation-five (35) miles from the principal location or (iii) a material
diminution in the Grantee’ s title, position, authority, duties, or responsibilities. A termination of employment by the
Grantee for Good Reason shall be effectuated by giving the Company written notice of the termination, setting forth the
conduct of the Company that constitutes Good Reason, within 30 days of the first date on which the Grantee has
knowledge of such conduct. The Grantee shall further provide the Company at least 30 days following the date on which
such notice is provided to cure such conduct. Failing such cure, a termination of employment by the Grantee for Good
Reason shall be effective on the day following the expiration of such cure period. (d) If the Grantee incurs, at any time, a
Termination by the Company for Cause or by the Grantee without Good Reason, then all outstanding unvested
Restricted Stock Units shall be forfeited and terminate immediately without consideration upon the effective date of such
Termination for Cause or without Good Reason. 6. Prohibited Activities (a) No Sale or Transfer. Unless otherwise
required by law, the Restricted Stock Units shall not be (i) sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of, (ii) pledged or
otherwise hypothecated or (iii) subject to attachment, execution or levy of any kind, other than by will or by the laws of
descent or distribution; provided, however, that any transferred Restricted Stock Units will be subject to all of the same
terms and conditions as provided in the Plan and this Award Agreement and the Grantee’ s estate or beneficiary
appointed in accordance with the Plan will remain liable for any withholding tax that may be imposed by any federal,
state or local tax authority. (b) Right to Terminate Restricted Stock Units and Recovery. The Grantee understands and
agrees that the Company has granted the Restricted Stock Units to the Grantee to reward the Grantee for the Grantee’ s
future efforts and loyalty to the Company and its Affiliates by giving the Grantee the opportunity to participate in the
potential future appreciation of the Company. Accordingly, if (i) the Grantee materially violates the Grantee’ s
obligations relating to the non- disclosure or non- use of confidential or proprietary information under any Restrictive
Agreement to which the Grantee is a party, (ii) the Grantee materially breaches or violates the Grantee’ s obligations
relating to non- disparagement under any Restrictive Agreement to which the Grantee is a party, (iii) the Grantee
materially breaches or violates any non- solicitation obligations under any Restrictive Agreement to which the Grantee is
a party, (iv) the Grantee breaches or violates any non- competition obligations under any Restrictive Agreement to
which the Grantee is a party, or (v) the Grantee is convicted of a felony against the Company or any of its Affiliates,
then, in addition to any other rights and remedies available to the Company, the Company shall be entitled, at its option,
exercisable by written notice, to terminate the Restricted Stock Units (including the shares issued in respect of the vested
portion of the Restricted Stock Units) without consideration, and such Restricted Stock Units (or Shares) will be of no
further force and effect. “ Restrictive Agreement ” shall mean any agreement between the Company or any Subsidiary
and the Grantee that contains non- competition, non- solicitation, non- hire, non- disparagement, or confidentiality
restrictions applicable to the Grantee. (c) Other Remedies. The Grantee specifically acknowledges and agrees that its
remedies under this Section 6 shall not prevent the Company or any Subsidiary from seeking injunctive or other
equitable relief in connection with the Grantee’ s breach of any Restrictive Agreement. In the event that the provisions of
this Section 6 should ever be deemed to exceed the limitation provided by applicable law, then the Grantee and the
Company agree that such provisions shall be reformed to set forth the maximum limitations permitted. 7. No Rights as
Stockholder; Dividend Equivalent Rights. The Grantee shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to the Shares
covered by the Restricted Stock Units until the effective date of issuance of the Shares and the entry of the Grantee’ s
name as a shareholder of record on the books of the Company following delivery of the Shares in settlement of the
Restricted Stock Units. The Grantee shall not be entitled to receive any dividends with respect to the RSUs unless and
until such RSUs become vested. During the Performance Period, during any period between the expiration of the
Performance Period and the Measurement Date, and during any period during which the RSUs are vested but not yet
settled, if and when any dividends are declared on Shares, on the date such dividend is paid, the Company will credit to a
bookkeeping account (the “ Account ”) maintained by the Company (or a third party on behalf of the Company) for the
Grantee’ s benefit an amount equal to the amount of such dividend that would have been paid on the same number of
RSUs that are unvested and outstanding pursuant to this Award Agreement as of the record date of such dividend. Such
credited amount shall be subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions applicable to the RSUs to which such credited
amount relates, as set forth this Award Agreement. Any credited amount that becomes vested as set forth herein, will be
payable at the same time as Shares are otherwise delivered upon the settlement of the vested RSUs, if any, to which the
credited amounts relate as set forth in this Award Agreement and will be payable in cash or stock, in the sole discretion
of the Committee as determined at the time of payment. 8. Taxation Upon Settlement of the Restricted Stock Units; Tax
Withholding; Parachute Tax Provisions The Grantee understands that the Grantee will recognize income, for Federal,
state and local income tax purposes, as applicable, in respect of the vesting and / or settlement of the Restricted Stock
Units. The acceptance of the Shares by the Grantee shall constitute an agreement by the Grantee to report such income



in accordance with then applicable law and to cooperate with Company and its subsidiaries in establishing the amount of
such income and corresponding deduction to the Company and / or its subsidiaries for its income tax purposes. The
Grantee is responsible for all tax obligations that arise as a result of the vesting and settlement of the Restricted Stock
Units. The Company may withhold from any amount payable to the Grantee an amount sufficient to cover any Federal,
state or local withholding taxes which may become required with respect to such vesting and settlement or take any
other action it deems necessary to satisfy any income or other tax withholding requirements as a result of the vesting and
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units. The Company shall have the right to require the payment of any such taxes and
require that the Grantee, or the Grantee’ s beneficiary, to furnish information deemed necessary by the Company to
meet any tax reporting obligation as a condition to delivery of any Shares pursuant to settlement of the Restricted Stock
Units. The Grantee may pay his or her withholding tax obligation in connection with the vesting and settlement of the
Restricted Stock Units, by making a cash payment to the Company. In addition, the Committee, in its sole discretion,
may allow the Grantee, to pay his or her withholding tax obligation in connection with the vesting and settlement of the
Restricted Stock Units, by (x) having withheld a portion of the Shares then issuable to him or her upon settlement of the
Restricted Stock Units or (z) surrendering Shares that have been held by the Grantee for at least six (6) months (or such
lesser period as may be permitted by the Committee) prior to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, in each case
having an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the withholding taxes. In connection with the grant of the Restricted
Stock Units, the parties wish to memorialize their agreement regarding the treatment of any potential golden parachute
payments as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 9. Securities Laws (a) Upon the acquisition of any Shares pursuant to
the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the Grantee will make such written representations, warranties, and
agreements as the Committee may reasonably request in order to comply with securities laws or with this Award
Agreement. Grantee hereby agrees not to offer, sell or otherwise attempt to dispose of any Shares issued to the Grantee
upon settlement of the Restricted Stock Units in any way which would: (x) require the Company to file any registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (or any similar filing under state law or the laws of any other
county) or to amend or supplement any such filing or (y) violate or cause the Company to violate the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder,
or any other Federal, state or local law, or the laws of any other country. The Company reserves the right to place
restrictions on any Shares the Grantee may receive as a result of the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units. (b)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the event that (i) the Grantee is subject to the Company’ s insider
trading Petiey-policy , including any policy permitting officers and directors to sell Shares only during certain “ window
” periods, in effect from time to time ( collectively, or the Grantee is otherwise prohibited from selling
Shares in the public market and any Shares underlying the Grantee’ s Restricted Stock Units are scheduled to be
delivered on a settlement date (the “ Original Settlement Date ) that (A) does not occur during an open “ window period
” applicable to the Grantee or on a day on which the Grantee is permitted to sell Shares underlying any portion of the
Restricted Stock Units that has vested pursuant to a written plan that meets the requirements of Rule 10bS- 1 under the
Exchange Act , effeetive-as ef May-5-determined by the Company in accordance with the Policy , 2622-as applicable, or
(B) does not occur on a date when the Grantee is otherwise permitted to sell Shares on the open market, and (ii) the
Company elects not to satisfy the Grantee’ s tax withholding obligations by withholding Shares from the Grantee’ s
distribution, then such Shares shall not be delivered on such Original Distribution Date and shall instead be delivered, as
applicable, on (x) the first business day of the next occurring open “ window period ” applicable to the Grantee pursuant
to the Policy, or (y) the next business day on which the Grantee is not otherwise prohibited from selling Shares in the
open market, but in no event later than March 15th of year following the year in which the Restricted Stock Units vest
10. Modification, Amendment, and Termination of Restricted Stock Units Poltey-Award Agreement may not be
modified, amended, terminated and no provision hereof may be waived in whole or in part except by a written
agreement signed by the Company and the Grantee and no modification apply-, without the consent of the Grantee,
alter to the Grantee’ s material detriment or materially impair any rights of the Grantee under this Award Agreement
except to the extent permitted under the Plan. 11. Notices Unless otherwise provided herein, any notices or other
communication given or made pursuant to the Notice, this Award Agreement or the Plan shall be in writing and shall be
deemed to have been duly given (i) as of the date delivered, if personally delivered (including receipted courier service) or
overnight delivery service, with confirmation of receipt; (ii) on the date the delivering party receives confirmation, if
delivered by facsimile to the number indicated or by email to the address indicated or through an electronic
administrative system designated by the Company; (iii) one (1) business day after being sent by reputable commercial
overnight delivery service courier, with confirmation of receipt; or (iv) three (3) business days after being mailed by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed to the intended recipient as set
forth below: (a) If to the Company at the address below: 800 Clinton Square Rochester, NY 14604 Attn: General
Counsel Phone: (585) 287- 6500 (b) If to the Grantee, at the most recent address, facsimile number or email contained in
the Company’ s records. 12. Award Agreement Subject to Plan and Applicable Law This Award Agreement is made
pursuant to the Plan and shall be interpreted to comply therewith. A copy of the Plan is attached hereto. Any provision
of this Award Agreement inconsistent with the Plan shall be considered void and replaced with the applicable provision
of the Plan. The Plan shall control in the event there shall be any conflict between the Plan, the Notice, and this Award
Agreement, and it shall control as to any matters not contained in this Award Agreement. The Committee shall have
authority to make constructions of this Award Agreement, and to correct any defect or supply any omission or reconcile
any inconsistency in this Award Agreement, and to prescribe rules and regulations relating to the administration of this
Award and other Awards granted under the Plan. This Award Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of



Maryland, without regard to the conflicts of law principles thereof, and subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts
therein. The Grantee hereby consents to personal jurisdiction in any action brought in any court, federal or state, within
the State of New York having subject matter jurisdiction in the matter. 13. Section 409A The Restricted Stock Units are
intended to be exempt from Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”) and,
accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Award Agreement shall be interpreted to be exempt from Section
409A of the Code or, if not exempt, in compliance therewith. Nothing contained herein shall constitute any
representation or warranty by the Company regarding compliance with Section 409A of the Code. The Company shall
have no obligation to take any action to prevent the assessment of any additional income tax, interest or penalties under
Section 409A of the Code on any Person and the Company, its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, and each of their respective
employees and representatives, shall have no liability to the Grantee with respect thereto. 14. Headings and Capitalized
Terms Unless otherwise provided herein, capitalized terms used herein that are defined in the Plan and not defined
herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan. Headings are for convenience and te-direetors-of the-Company
who- offteers-deemed to be part of this Award Agreement. Unless otherwise indicated, any reference to a Section
herein is a reference to a Section of this Award Agreement. 15. Severability and Reformation If any provision of this
Award Agreement shall be determined by a court of law of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable orfor emptoyees
any reason, such unenforceability shall not affect the enforceability of any of the remaining provisions hereof; and this
Award Agreement, to the fullest extent lawful, shall be reformed and construed as if such unenforceable provision, or
part thereof, had never been contained herein, and such provision or part thereof shall be reformed or construed so that
it would be enforceable to the maximum extent legally possible. 16. Binding Effect This Award Agreement shall be
binding upon the parties hereto, together with their personal executors, administrator, successors, personal
representatives, heirs and permitted assigns. 17. Entire Agreement This Award Agreement, together with the Plan,
supersedes all prior written and oral agreements and understandings among the parties as to its subject matter and
constitutes the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. If there is any conflict between
the Notice, this Award Agreement and the Plan, then the applicable terms of the Plan shall govern. 18. Waiver Waiver
by any party of any breach of this Award Agreement or failure to exercise any right hereunder shall not be deemed to be
a waiver of any other breach or right whether or not of the same or a similar nature. The failure of any party to take
action by reason of such breach or to exercise any such right shall not deprive the party of the right to take action at any
time while or after such breach or condition giving rise to such rights continues. (a) Subject to the provisions of the
Award Agreement, the number of RSUs subject to this Award that will be vested and earned, if the service conditions
are met, will be determined, based on the Total Shareholder Return (“ TSR ”) relative to the TSR of the
Peer Group (as defined below), in accordance with payout schedule set forth below. (b) The number of RSUs to vest will
be determined based on Company performance against the applicable Peer Group as set forth below, with achievement
between the stated percentages (after reaching 50 % payout level) being interpolated on a straight- line basis: Company’
s Percentile Rank as compared to applicable comparator group Percentage of Target RSUs Vesting Less than 30th
percentile 0 % 30th percentile S0 % 55th percentile 100 % 80th percentile 200 % (c) Promptly following the completion
of the Performance Period (and no later than sixty (60) days following the end of the Performance Period), the
Committee will review and certify (i) what percentile rank of relative TSR has been achieved, and (ii) the number of
RSUs that will become vested or-for each Participant, if , subject to the terms of this Agreement. TSR shall be
measured for each of the and the Peer Group based on the percentage appreciation (positive or negative) in the
Fair Market Value of one share over the Performance Period, assuming the reinvestment of dividends on the ex-
dividend date. (d) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “ Peer Group ” shall mean (x) in respect of 50 % of the
target number of RSUs, the MSCI US REIT Index on a non- weighted basis; and (y) in respect to 50 % of the target
number of RSUs, the peer companies set forth on Schedule 2. The companies consisting of the applicable Peer Group will
be subject to the discretion of the Committee to make adjustments to recognize special or non- recurring situations or
circumstances with respect to the Company or any other company in the Peer Group for any year in the Performance
Period, including, but not limited to, merger and acquisition activity, a spin- off / divestiture, or bankruptcy. (e) The
vesting of the number of RSUs considered earned in accordance with this Schedule and Section 3 of the Award
Agreement shall occur on the Measurement Date (i. e., date the Committee makes its determinations of performance
achievement), subject to the Grantee’ s continued service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries through such date
and the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement. (f) All determinations by the Committee shall be final, conclusive
and binding on the Grantee, and on all other persons, to the maximum extent permitted by law. Performance Peer
Group As determined by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant. PARACHUTE TAX PROVISIONS This
Exhibit A sets forth the terms and provisions applicable to the Grantee pursuant to the provisions of Section 8 of the
Award Agreement. This Exhibit A shall be subject in all respects to the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement.
(a) To the extent that the Grantee, would otherwise be eligible to receive a payment or benefit pursuant to the terms of
this Award Agreement, any employment or other agreement with the Company or any subsidiary-Subsidiary or
otherwise in connection with, or arising out of, the Grantee’ s employment with the Company or any Subsidiary or a
change in ownership or effective control of the Company or of a substantial portion of its assets ( eaeh-any such payment
or benefit Parachute Payment ), that a nationally recognized United States public accounting firm selected by the
Company (the “ Accountants ) determines, but for this sentence would be subject to excise tax imposed by Section 4999
of the Code (the “ Excise Tax ), subject to clause (c) below, then the Company shall pay to the Grantee whichever of the
following two alternative forms of payment would result in the Grantee’ s receipt, Nom— on an after - Employee Direetor
tax basis, of the greater amount of the Parachute Payment notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Parachute



Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax: (1) payment in full of the entire amount of the Parachute Payment (a “ Full
Payment ), or (2) payment of only a part of the Parachute Payment so that the Grantee receives the largest payment
possible w1th0ut the imposition of the Excise Tax (a “ Reduced Payment ”). —T—h—rs—Pe-l-tey—has—beeﬂ—deve}eped—(b) Ifa
reduction in the Parachute Payment is necessary pursuant to 8 atrehig e ;
eompensate-direetors-clause (a), then the reduction shall occur in the follow1ng order (1) cancellatlon of acceleratlon of
vesting on any equity awards for which their—- the exercise price exceeds the time;-eommitment;-and-eontributions-to-the
then Beard-fair market value of the underlying equity; (2) reduction of cash payments (with such reduction being applied
to the payments in the reverse order in which they would otherwise be made, that is, later payments shall be reduced
before earlier payments); and (3) cancellation of acceleration of vesting of equity awards not covered under (1) above;
provided, however, that in the event that acceleration of vesting of equity awards is to be cancelled, acceleration of
vesting of full value awards shall be cancelled before acceleration of options and stock appreciation rights and within
each class such acceleration of vesting shall be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant of such equity awards,
that is, later equity awards shall be canceled before earlier equity awards; and provided, further, that to the extent
permitted by Code Section 409A and Sections 280G and 4999 of the Code, if a different reduction procedure would be
permitted without violating Code Section 409A or losing the benefit of the reduction under Sections 280G and 4999 of
the Code, the Grantee may designate a different order of reduction . (¢c) For purposes of determining whether any of the
Parachute Payments (collectively the “ Total Payments ) will be subject to the Excise Tax and the amount of such
Excise Tax, (i) the Total Payments shall be treated as “ parachute payments > within the meaning of Section 280G (b) (2)
of the Code, and all “ parachute payments > in excess of the “ base amount ” (as defined under Section 280G (b) (3) of
the Code) shall be treated as subject to the Excise Tax, unless and except to the extent that, in the opinion of the
Accountants, such Total Payments (in whole or in part): (1) do not constitute “ parachute payments, ” including giving
effect to the recalculation of stock options in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1. 280G- 1, Q & A 33, (2)
represent reasonable compensation for services actually rendered within the meaning of Section 280G (b) (4) of the Code
in excess of the “ base amount ” or (3) are otherwise not subject to the Excise Tax, and (ii) the value of any non- cash
benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance with the principles of
Section 280G of the Code. (d) All determinations hereunder shall be made by the Accountants, which determinations
shall be final and binding upon the Company and the Grantee. (¢) The eompensation-deseribedn-federal tax returns filed
by the Grantee (and any filing made by a consolidated tax group which includes the Company) shall be prepared and
filed on a basis consistent with the determination of the Accountants with respect to the Excise Tax payable by the
Grantee. The Grantee shall make proper payment of the amount of any Excise Tax, and at the request of the Company,
provide to the Company true and correct copies (with any amendments) of his or her federal income tax return as filed
with the Internal Revenue Service, and such other documents reasonably requested by the Company, evidencing such
payment (provided that the Grantee may delete information unrelated to the Parachute Payment or Excise Tax and
provided, further that the Company at all times shall treat such returns as confidential and use such return only for
purpose contemplated by this Peliey-paragraph). (f) In the event of any controversy with the Internal Revenue Service
(or other taxing authority) with regard to the Excise Tax, the Grantee shall permit the Company to control issues related
to the Excise Tax (at its expense), provided that such issues do not potentially materially adversely affect the Grantee but
the Grantee shall control any other issues. In the event that the issues are interrelated, the Grantee and the Company
shall in good faith cooperate so as not to jeopardize resolution of either issue. In the event of any conference with any
taxing authority as to the Excise Tax or associated income taxes, the Grantee shall permit the representative of the
Company to accompany the Grantee, and the Grantee and his representative shall cooperate with the Company and its
representative. (g) The Company shall be responsible for all charges of the Accountants. (h) The Company and the
Grantee shall promptly deliver to each other copies of any written communications, and summaries of any verbal
communications, with any taxing authority regarding the Excise Tax covered by this Exhibit A. (i) Nothing in this
Exhibit A is intended to violate the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 and to the extent that any advance or repayment
obligation hereunder would do so, such obligation shall be modified so as to make the advance a nonrefundable payment
to the Grantee and the repayment obligation null and void. (j) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any payment or
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stoekholders;sha e a1 srant G h § e v s calendar year followmg the Grantee s
calendar year in which the audit is completed or there is a final and nonappealable settlement or other resolution of the
litigation. (k) The provisions of this Exhibit A shall survive the termination of the Grantee’ s employment with the
Company or any Subsidiary for any reason and the termination of the Award Agreement. Restricted Stock Units Name:
John D. Moragne Title: Chief Executive Officer [ Signature Page to Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant for
Broadstone Net Lease 2020 Omnibus Equity and lnccnm ¢ Plan ] 207 ngh Pomt Drlve €t-heLEquﬁ=y—P-lani)— -rn—the—ferm—e-f
restrieted-stoel—with-Suite 300 Victor, NY 14564 ( a fair-m :
Equity-Grant-Valie>) —Fhe-Subject to the provisions of the Award Agreement the numbu of shares-RSUs subject to th1s
the-restrieted-stoek-award-Award that will be vested and earned, if the servrce condltlons are met, will be I ummcd by
dividing-, based on the Total Shareholder Return (“ TSR ) Ann § elostngpriee-of the
Company relative to the TSR of the Peer Group (as defined below) over the Performance Perlod and applymg a share
modifier if the absolute TSR of the Company is negative ~s-eemmen-stoek-over the Performance Period +5-trading-days
pﬁeedmg—&nm in accordance w1th payout schedule feuﬂeled-dewn—te—the—nearest—whele—shafe—"Phe

RSUs sh&res—subjeet—lo Vest the—restﬂeted-steelea-ward—\\l bc (lclummcd by—elmelmg—based on the apphcatlon of clauses (1)
and (ii) below: (i) Company performance against the applicable pro-Peer Group as set forth below, with achievement
between the stated percentages (after reaching 50 % payout level) being interpolated on a straight - rated-AnnuatEeuity

Grant-Vatue-by-line basis: (ii) In the average-elosingpriee-of-event that the Company has achieved a share—percentlle rank

based on relative TSR for the Performance Perlod of at least the 55th percentlle, but the absolute TSR of the Company is

-~ the Performance Period

the “ Percentage of Target RSUs Vesting ” as determined in accordance with clause (i) above will be reduced by 25 Ay,
provided, however, that in no event will the Beard-er-application of such reduction result in a “ Percentage of Target RSU
Vesting > of less than 100 % (target). (c) Promptly following the Cempensatiorrcompletion of the Performance Period
(and no later than sixty (60) days following the end of the Performance Period), the Committec will review and certify (i)
what percentile rank of relative TSR has been achieved for the Performance Period , (ii) the absolute TSR of the
Company for the Performance Period, and (111) the number of RSUs that will become vested for each Partlclpant if any,

feeemmeﬂd&tteﬁs—percentage appreclatlon (posntlve or negatlve) in the Fair Market Value of one share over the
Performance Period, assuming the reinvestment of dividends on the ex- dividend date . Performance Peer Group Exhibit
21. 1Subsidiary State of Incorporation or Formation99 Garnsey Road Associates II, LLC NYAGNL Avionics Abbotsford
Nominee ULC €anadaBrielk-CanadaBNL PW, LLC NYBNL TB, LLC NYBrick Holdings I, Inc. DEBrick Holdings 11, Inc.
DEBroadstone 2020EXTFexas; FEENYBroadstone-AAP East, LLC NYBroadstone AAP Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ABCS



Oklahoma, H=€-LL.C NYBroadstone AC Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone ACW Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone ADB Ohio,
LLC NYBroadstone ADTB Rochester, LLC DEBroadstone AFBD-Geergia; EECINYBroeadstone-AHE Portfolio s HE€
NYBroadstone-AdMiehigan-, LLC NYBroadstone ALH Texas, LLC NYBroadstone AM-EEEENYBroadstone-AMG Illinois,
LLC NYBroadstone APLB BrunsWIck LLC NYBroadstone APLB Jacksonville, LLC NYBroadstone APLB Minnesota, H=€
6 3 ; LLC NYBroadstone APLB Utah LLC NYBroadstone APLB
¥n=gtﬂra—I:I:GN¥Bfeads’e0ﬁe—AP-I:B—Wlsconsm LLC NYBroadstone APM Florida, LLC NYBroadstone AQG Indiana, LLC
NYBroadstone AS Portfolio 7 HEENYBreadstone ASPDEW-Texas-, LLC NYBroadstone ASH Arkansas, LLC NYBroadstone
ATI Massachusetts, LLC DEBroadstone August Family Upreit OH PA, LLC NYBroadstone AVF Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone
AVF Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone BB Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone BCI Iowa, LLC NYBroadstone BCI PA, LLC
NYBroadstone BEC Texas, LLC NYBroadstone BEF Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone BER East, LLC NYBroadstone BFC
Maryland LLC NY Broadstone BH BFW-Minneseta; EECNYBroadstone Bh-Alabama, LLC NYBroadstone BI South, LLC
NYBroadstone BIWC Massachusetts, LLC NYBroadstone BK Emporia, LLC NY Broadstone BK-Virginta; EECINYBroadstone
BNR Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone BP Kansas, LLC NYBroadstone BPC Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone BPC Pittsburgh, LLC
NYBroadstone BPS Montana, LLC NYBroadstone BT South, LLC NYBroadstone BW Appalachia, LLC NYBroadstone BW
Arkansas ;7 EECNYBroadstone BW-Fexas-, LLC NYBroadstone BW Wings South, LLC NYBroadstone CA Canada, LLC
DEBroadstone CA Holdings, LLC DEBroadstone Cable, LLC NYBroadstone Camping Texas, LLC NYBroadstone CC Austin,
LLC NYBroadstone CC New Orleans LLC NYBroadstone CC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone €€-Raletgh-Greensboro; EEC
oad d CP Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone CF Georgia ;7 €
N¥Bfeadst0ﬂe-GF-WCFe*as— LLC NYBroadstone CG Georgia, LLC NYBroadstone CG Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone CHR
Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CI West, LLC NYBroadstone CLE Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CM Florida, LLC NYBroadstone
CMH Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CMM Colorado, LLC NYBroadstone CPN North Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone CPS Ohio,
LLC NYBroadstone CQ Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone CSB Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone Cvp Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone
CW Nevada, LLC NYBroadstone CWP Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone DF Georgia, LLC NYBroadstone DG Northeast, LLC
NYBroadstone DG South, LLC NYBroadstone DG West, LLC NYBroadstone DHCP VA AL, LLC NYBroadstone DI
Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone DMC Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone DQ Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone EA Ohio, LLC
NYBroadstone Ea Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone EC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone EH Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone EHA
Florida, LLC NYBroadstone Employee Sub, LLC NYBroadstone EO Birmingham I, LLC NYBroadstone EO Birmingham II,
LLC NYBroadstone EO North Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone ETI Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Evh Vermont, LLC
NYBroadstone EWD Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone FC €elerade; EEENYBroeadstoneF&-Portage, LLC NY Broadstone FD
Portfolio I, LLC NYBroadstone FD Portfolio II, LLC NYBroadstone FD West Columbia, LLC NYBroadstone FDDT, LLC
NYBroadstone FDT Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone FHS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone Filter, LLC NYBroadstone FIT Florida,
LLC NYBroadstone FKC Louisiana, LLC NYBroadstone FKC Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone FMAS MlSSlSSlppl LLC
NY Broadstone FMFRPTFexas B2 ECNYBroadstone e - oadstone FBroadstone
FR Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone F SLY Maryland—]:]:GNJPBfeads\*ﬁﬂe-GGKeﬁmeky— LLC NYBroadstone GCSC F lorlda
LLC NYBroadstone GDMS Massachusetts, LLC NYBroadstone GHS South Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone GLG Missouri, LLC
NY Broadstone GH€-€eloradeo ICNYBreadstone-HBC Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone HC California, LLC NYBroadstone
HFO Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone HHH Texas, LLC NYBroadstone HHP Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone HI Illinois,
LLC NYBroadstone HLC Midwest, LLC NYBroadstone HLM Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone HMC Washington, LLC
NYBroadstone Home NE&Ne¢ , LLC NYBroadstone Home Texas, LLC NYBroadstone ICW Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone
-I-E-I:G’Pexas—]:I:GNﬁiBfeadﬁGﬂe—lKGTX LLC NYBroadstone IPI Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone IS Houston, LLC
NYBroadstone IT Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone ITI Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone IUH Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone
IVRO CA, LLC NYBroadstone JAX Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone JBL California, LLC NYBroadstone JFR Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone #&-J1 Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone JLC Missouri, LLC NYBroadstone JRA Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone
JTR Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone KBC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone KFC Chicago, LLC NYBroadstone Kinston, LLC
NYBroadstone KKD Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Kkmc Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone KNG Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone
Kp Alabama, LLC NY Broadstone EcHetida, EEENYBroadstone-LCA Tampa, LLC NYBroadstone LE Portfolio, LLC
NYBroadstone LGC Northeast, LLC NYBroadstone Liverpool Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone EFS-Califernia- LW PA , LLC
NYBroadstone Manatee Fl ES-Geergia; EEENYBroadstone EW-RA-, LLC NYBroadstone MB Louisiana, LLC
NYBroadstone MCW Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone MD Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone Med Florida , LLLC NYBroadstone
MFAC Ohio , LLC NYBroadstone MFEC Florida, LLC NYBroadstone MGK Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone MHH
Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone Mid America Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone MNB Nebraska, LLC NYBroadstone Mountain
Burlington Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Calgary Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone
Mountain GP Ltd. Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain North York Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Ottawa
Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Portfolio Ltd. Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Vancouver Limited
Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone Mountain Winnipeg Limited Partnership Canada- BCBroadstone MPC ND, LLC
NYBroadstone MPH Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone MS Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone MS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone
MSC Florida, LLC NYBroadstone MV Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone MW Texas ;7 EEENYBroadstone NDCFayetteville,
LLC NYBroadstone Ned Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Net Lease Acquisitions, LLC NYBroadstone Net Lease ¥RS-Trs , LLC
NYBroadstone Net Lease, Inc. MDBroadstone Net Lease, LLC N'YBroadstone NF Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone NI North
Carolina, LLC NYBroadstone NIC Pennsylvania, LLC NYBroadstone NRS Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone NSC Texas, LLC
NYBroadstone NVLX Portfolio, LLC A53-NYBreadstene NWECTFexas; -EC-N Y Broadstone Octa Indiana, LLC
NYBroadstone OLL New York, LLC NYBroadstone OP Ohio, LLC NYBroadstone PA Texas, LLC NYBroadstone PC
Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone PCI Wisconsin, LLC NY Broadstone PESEFexas; EHEENYBroadstone-Pearl Portfolio I1I, LLC




NYBroadstone Pearl, LLC NYBroadstone PFS New Jersey, LLC DEBroadstone PHS Washington, LLC NYBroadstone PIC
Ilinois, LLC NYBroadstone PIH CA, LLC NY Broadstone PFREYSHEEENYBroadstone-Plumbing TX, LLC NY Broadstone
PMI Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone PP Arkansas, LLC NYBroadstone PRGS Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone PSM Michigan,
LLC NYBroadstone P¥PV California, LLC NYBroadstone PVC MA Pyve-Ma; EECNYBroadstone PY-Cineinnati-, [L1.C
NYBroadstone QC Texas, LLC NYBroadstone RA California, LLC NYBroadstone RBC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone RC
MN, LLC NYBroadstone RCS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone Renal Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone Re~-REV New Jersey, LLC
NYBroadstone RHI Virginia, LLC NYBroadstone RL Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone RM Missouri, LLC NYBroadstone Roller,
LLC NYBroadstone RTC Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone Sb Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone SC Elgin, LLC NYBroadstone
SC Illinois, LLC NYBroadstone SCV SEB-Masen; EECNYBroadstene-Sev-Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone SEC North Carolina,
LLC NYBroadstone SF Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone SLH Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone $a-SN Colorado, LLC
NYBroadstone SNC OK TX, LLC NYBroadstone SNI East, LLC NYBroadstone SNI Greenwich, LLC NYBroadstone SOE
Raleigh, LLC NYBroadstone Sp-SP Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone Sports Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone SPS Utah, LLC
NYBroadstone SSH California, LLC NYBroadstone ST Texas, LLC NYBroadstone STI Minnesota, LLC NYBroadstone STS
California, LLC N'YBroadstone S#wSW Mississippi, LLC NYBroadstone TA Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone TB Augusta
Pensacola, LLC NYBroadstone TB Jacksonville, LLC NYBroadstone TB Northwest, LLC NYBroadstone TB Ozarks, LLC
NYBroadstone TB Southeast, LLC NYBroadstone TB TN, LLC DEBroadstone TF Oklahoma, LLC NYBroadstone TH North
Dakota, LLC NYBroadstone Fp=TPR Texas, LLC NYBroadstone TR Florida, LLC NYBroadstone TRH Texas, LLC
NYBroadstone TRP Indiana, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Arizona, LLC NYBroadstone TRS East, LLC NYBroadstone TRS
Kentucky, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Mississippi, LLC NYBroadstone TRS New Mexico, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Orangeburg,
LLC NYBroadstone TRS Portfolio 2, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone TRS Texas, LLC NYBroadstone
TSC Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone Tsc Texas ;7 HEHEENYBroadstoneFSGAKentuely-, LLC NYBroadstone USMM
Michigan, LLC NYBroadstone USPO Portfolio, LLC NYBroadstone UW Kentucky, LLC NYBroadstone Vah Illinois, LLC
NYBroadstone VW Tennessee, LLC NYBroadstone WFM Sterling, LLC DEBroadstone WG Southeast, LLC NYBroadstone
WGR Wisconsin, LLC NYBroadstone WH Texas, LLC NYBroadstone WI Alabama, LLC NYBroadstone WI Appalachia, LLC
NYBroadstone WI East, LLC NYBroadstone WI Great Plains, LLC NYBroadstone WI MT ND, LLC NYBroadstone WRK
California, LLC NYBroadstone WS Iowa, LLC NYBroadstone Xela Texas, LLC NYBroadstone ZCW Portfolio, LLC NYCf
Alpha & Golf Ks Propco LLC DECt Alpha & Golf Ma Propco LLC DEEire Rochester Florida IT L. L. C. FLGRC Durham, LLC
DEGRC LI TX, LLC DEHickory Drive Holdings, LLC DENWR Realty LLC WATB Tampa Real Estate, LLC NY Unity
Ridgeway, LLC NYEXHIBIT 23. 1 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We
consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333- 248946 on Form S- 8 and Registration Statement
Nos. 333- 254490 and 333- 257317 eaehon Form S- 3 of our repertreports dated February 23-22 | 2623-2024 , relating to the
financial statements of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. and the effectiveness of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.’ s internal control
over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 .
EXHIBIT 31. I CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (Rule 13a- 14 (a) / 15d- 14 (a) Certification) [, Christopherd-John D . Czarneek:
Moragne , certify that: 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10- K of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 ; 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial
statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant’ s other
certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal
control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s internal control
over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant’ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’ s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’
s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 23-22 | 2623-2024 / s / ChristopherJ-John D . €zarneeki-ChristopherJ-Moragne John D . €zarneeki-Moragne
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) EXHIBIT 31. 2 CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER I,
Ryan-Kevin M. Adbane-Fennell , certify that: (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such



internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles; (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’ s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’ s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’ s
internal control over financial reporting; andDate: February 23-22 , 2623-2024 / s / Ryan-Kevin M. AdbaneRyan-Fennell Kevin
M. Adbane-Fennell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) EXHIBIT 32. 1
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 (Section 1350 Certification) In connection with
the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ) for the year ended December 31, 2622-2023
(the “ Annual Report ), and pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley
Act 0f 2002, the undersigned, €hristopherd-John D . €zarneelktMoragne , Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certifies,
to the best of his knowledge, that: 1. The Annual Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ”); and 2. The information contained in the Annual Report
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. The foregoing
certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Annual Report pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, and is not being
filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing. EXHIBIT 32. 2 In
connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ) for the year ended
December 31, 2622-2023 (the “ Annual Report ), and pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned, Ryan-Kevin M Fennell —Adbane-, Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, that: Exhibit 97. 1 Effective, as amended, as of
October 2, 2023 1. Purpose and Scope Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. (the “ Company ) has adopted and amended this
compensation clawback policy (as amended, the “ Policy ) to comply with Section 954 of the Dodd- Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (“ Dodd- Frank ”), Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “ Exchange Act ), and the related listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange, which require the recovery of
certain forms of executive compensation in the case of accounting restatements resulting from a material error in an
issuer’ s financial statements. This Policy shall be administered by the Board of Directors of the Company (the “ Board
) or, if so designated by the Board, the Compensation Committee. 2. Effective Date This Policy shall be effective as of
the date it is adopted by the Board and shall apply to Incentive- Based Compensation that is approved, awarded, or
granted to Covered Executives on or after the later of (i) such effective date, or (ii) the date upon which an employee
becomes a Covered Executive (as defined below). 3. Covered Executives This Policy applies to all of the Company’ s
current and former executive officers, and such other employees who may from time to time be deemed subject to this
Policy by the Board (each, a “ Covered Executive ) (including, for the avoidance of doubt, individuals who serve as an
executive officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive- Based Compensation (as defined below)
that becomes subject to a clawback hereunder, if any). For purposes of this Policy, an “ executive officer ” means, as
applicable, the Company’ s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such
accounting officer, the controller), any Executive Vice President, any Senior Vice President, any Vice President of the
Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any
other officer who performs a policy- making function, or any other officer who performs similar policy- making
functions for the Company, and any other person considered to be an officer as defined in Section 401 (b) of Regulation
S- K (i. e., 17 CFR 229. 401 (b)). 4. Incentive- Based Compensation For purposes of this Policy, the term “ Incentive-
Based Compensation ” shall be deemed to include any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested, in whole or in
part, in connection with a Covered Executive’ s employment by the Company and based upon the attainment of any
financial reporting measure. Financial reporting measures include (i) measures that have been determined and
presented in accordance with the accounting principles used to prepare the Company’ s financial statements; (ii) 1
Compensation Clawback Policy v 2. 0 measures derived from such financial reporting measures, either in whole or in
part; and (iii) stock price and total shareholder return. For the avoidance of doubt, Incentive- Based Compensation does
not include annual salary, contributions made to any tax- qualified retirement plans, compensation awarded based on
completion of a specified period of service, or compensation awarded based on subjective standards, strategic measures,
or operational or other non- financial reporting measures. S. Recovery; Accounting Restatement In the event the
Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement of its financial statements due to material noncompliance
with any financial reporting requirement under the federal securities laws, including any required accounting
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued
financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or
left uncorrected in the current period (a “ Restatement ), the Company shall, as promptly as it reasonably can, recover
any Incentive- Based Compensation received by a Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years
immediately preceding the date on which the Company is required to prepare such Restatement (the “ Restatement Date
”) and any transition period (if applicable), so long as the Incentive- Based Compensation received by such Covered
Executive is in excess of what would have been awarded or vested after giving effect to the Restatement. The
Restatement Date shall be the earlier of (i) the date on which the Board (or an authorized committee thereof) concludes
or reasonably should have concluded that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement or (ii) the date on which a



court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement. The amount to be
recovered will be the excess of the Incentive- Based Compensation paid to the Covered Executive based on the erroneous
data in the original financial statements over the Incentive- Based Compensation that would have been paid to the
Covered Executive had it been based on the restated results, without respect to any taxes paid. For Incentive- Based
Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of excess compensation is not subject
to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the Restatement, the amount will be based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the
Incentive- Based Compensation was received, and the Company will document, and provide to the New York Stock
Exchange, if required, how the reasonable estimate was determined. Subsequent changes in a Covered Executive’ s
employment status, including retirement or termination of employment, do not affect the Company’ s rights to recover
Incentive- Based Compensation pursuant to this Policy. For purposes of this Policy, Incentive- Based Compensation shall
be deemed to have been received during the fiscal period in which the financial reporting measure specified in the award
is attained, even if such Incentive- Based Compensation is paid or granted after the end of such fiscal period. No
recovery shall be required in the case of a Board determination that (i) the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in
enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered, provided that the Company made a reasonable and
documented attempt to recover such amount and provided such documentation to the New York Stock Exchange or such
other stock exchange on which Company stock is traded; (ii) recovery would violate home country law where that law
was adopted prior to November 28, 2022; or (iii) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax- qualified plan, under
which benefits are broadly available to employees, to fail to meet the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue
Code. 2 Compensation Clawback Policy v 2. 0 The Board shall determine, in its sole discretion, the method of recovering
any Incentive- Based Compensation pursuant to this Policy. 6. No Indemnification The Company shall not indemnify
any current or former Covered Executive against the loss of erroneously awarded compensation, and shall not pay, or
reimburse any Covered Executives for premiums, for any insurance policy to fund such executive’ s potential recovery
obligations. 7. Notice Before the Board determines to seek recovery pursuant to this Policy, it shall provide the Covered
Executive with written notice and the opportunity to be heard at a meeting of the Board (either in person or via
telephone). 8. Amendment and Interpretation The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion, and
shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to reflect final regulations adopted by the SEC under Section 10D of the
Exchange Act and to comply with any rules or standards adopted by a national securities exchange on which the
Company’ s securities are then listed. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the
requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC and any
national securities exchange on which the Company’ s securities are then listed. The Policy shall continue to remain in
place during the period in which the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a
national securities association, and any additional period of time as may be determined by the Board. 3 Compensation
Clawback Policy v 2. 0



